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EDITORIAL NOTE

THE death of the Rev. John Anderson, Curator of the
Historical Department of H.M. Register House, which
took place as the final pages of this, the last volume of
the Scottish Peerage were passing through the Press,
cannot be passed over unnoticed in this work. A pro-
found Record scholar with a special knowledge of early
charters, he was from the inception of -the Peerage a
loyal and able colleague of the Editor. Many of the
best articles were from his pen, and whatever merits the
work may have are largely owing to his diligence and
learning. He lived to correct the proofs of the last
article he wrote, the second last article in this volume.
His death will be felt acutely by the many students
of family history who resorted to him for advice and
guidance, and to whom his varied stores of information
were always open.

It is intended to publish, as soon as possible, a supple-
mentary volume, containing a list of corrigenda et addenda,
together with a full index to the work, which is in an
advanced state of preparation.
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SOMERVILLE, LORD SOMERVILLE

HE name, which varies
much in spelling, indi-
cates a Norman origin,
not improbably derived
from a place called Sém-
erville, in the commune
of Graveron-Sémerville,
arrondissement * d’Ev-
reux. In 1165 Walter de
Somerville is certified to
hold two knight’s fees in
Staflordshire.” Wichnour
in Staffordshire, given by
the Conqueror to Robert
de Stafford, and the ad-
joining manor of Alrewas
were early possessions of

this family.* Their arms, azure, three eagles displayed be-

tween seven crosses crosslet fitchée or,* bear a remarkable
resemblance to the arms of Lord Somerville.® On the
failure of the male line of Wichnour in 1356, the Somer-
viles of Aston Somervile, Gloucestershire, who had been
settled there as early as 1251, became the chief of that
name in England.” By the marriage of Thomas Somerville
in the latter part of the fifteenth century to Joan, daughter
and heiress of John Aylesbury of Edstone, Warwickshire,
that estate was acquired by the Somerviles of Aston

1 Here one Guillelmus de Semervilla, armiger, owned land in 1306 ;
Mémoires et Notes de M. Auguste Le Provost pour servir a Uhistoire
du Département del Eure, Evreux, 1862-72, iii. 235. 2 Shaw’s Staffordshire,
1. 118. 3 Ibid., 118, 126. ¢ Seal of Philip de Somerville, No. 13583 of
Catalogue of Seals in Department of MSS. Brit. Mus., vol. iii., appended
to a charter of date 1305. & Infra, p. 45. © Rudder's Gloucesiershire,
241. 7 Dugdale’s Warwickshire, 830.

VOL. VIII A



2 SOMERVILLE, LORD SOMERVILLE

Somervile and became their principal seat,’ though they
continued to possess Aston also till 1742, when both these
estates passed into the hands of the Scottish branch of the
family.?

A legend, which probably had its origin irom a sculp-
tured stone forming the tympanum of the porch of Linton
church, narrates that a certain John or William Somerville
got the lands of Linton in Roxburghshire for killing ‘ane
hydeous monster in the forme of a worme’ by thrusting
down its throat on the point of his spear an iron wheel to
which were fastened burning peats.*® 3

‘WILLIAM DE SOMERVILLE appears on record in Scotland
for the first time in or about 1124, shortly after King
David 1. came to the throne, as a witness to the charter of
Annandale granted to Robert de Brus.* He next appears
in 1130 in a grant to the Abbey of Dunfermline, and there-
after at frequent intervals during King David’s reign.® It
was probably he who, between 1160 and 1163, gave three
acres in Linton, with teinds, to Glasgow Cathedral.® He
was probably the father of the

WILLIAM SOMERVILLE who appears as witness to the
Great Charter of Malcolm 1v. to Kelso in 1159, and other
charters by the same King. This William held the lands
of Carnwath, as it was with his advice that his son William
granted the church of Carnwath with a portion of land, to
Ingelram, Bishop of Glasgow, between 1164 and 1174.¢

WILLIAM DE SOMERVILLE, son of the above, confirmed
to Joceline, Bishop of Glasgow, between 1180 and 1189,
the grant he had made to Bishop Ingelram of the church
of Carnwath with half a carucate of land, a toft and
croft, common pasturage and other privileges of the town-
ship. In the reign of William the Lion one Grim, son of
Guy, a waggoner of Roxburgh, granted to the Abbey of

1 Dugdale’s Warwickshire,830. 2 Infra,p.36. % Memorie of the Somer-
villes, i. 8845, 64, * Early Scottish Charters, by Sir A. Lawrie. 5 Ibid.,
passim. ¢ Reg. Epis. Glasg., i. 17. 7 Liber de Calchou, iii. ® Reg.
Epis. Glasg., i.45. ° Ibid. The granter’s seal bore the device of a lion

erect with the legend S. Willelmi de Somervilla ; Ibid., Father Innes’s
note, p. cix; Cf. Riddell’s Peerage and Constit. Law, 850 note.
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Melrose a toft in Berwick for the salvation of his Lord,
William de Somerville, and for the souls of himself and his
ancestors, saving the service due to his said Lord.! He
may have been the William de Somerville who died in 1242,
and was buried at Melrose.’ '

The last mentioned William Somerville was succeeded by
one or more persons of the same name; for a William de
Somerville witnessed the resignation of the lands of
Boncle in Berwickshire by Adam Spoth, in favour of
Randolph of Boncle, 2 August 1247,° a conveyance by Roger
Lardenarius in favour of William, son of Patrick, Earl
of Dunbar,* and Christian Corbet his spouse ;° two charters
of the lands of Brunecnolleflat granted respectively by
William Landels and his son John in favour of the monks of
Melrose,® and discharge by Richard de Rule of 20s. a year
payable from the same lands.” In June 1270 a William de
Sumyrvil witnesses a charter by Henry de Halyburton of
the lands of Molle to the monks of Kelso,® and on 20 April
1281 a person of the same name is said to have witnessed a
bond of manrent between Sir Walter de Newbigging and
Sir David Barclay of Towie, another of the witnesses being
one John Somerville.! It was probably the same William
Somerville who, according to the family historian, married
Margaret, daughter of Walter of Newbigging.” His issue
were probably :—

1. THOMAS de Somerville.

2. Margaret, said to have been married to Sir Gillespic

or Archibald Campbell of Lochawe."

SIR THOMAS DE SOMERVILLE was one of the Barons at the
Convention of Brigham on the Friday after the feast of
St. Gregory, being that year 18 March, 1289-90, when the
marriage of Princess Margaret to Prince Edward was pro-
posed.” His name appears in Ragman Roll in 1296 as one
of those swearing fealty to Edward 1.,” being on 28 August
of that year described as ‘ of Lanarkshire.’ In October of
the same year Herbert Maxwell, one of his Lanarkshire

.1 Liberde Melros,i.20. 2 Chron.deMailros,155. 3 The Douglas Book,
iil. 353. 4 See vol. iii. of this work, p. 254. © Liber de Melros, i. 239.
8 Ibid., 244, 245. 7 Ibid., ii. 677. & Liber de Calchou, i. 143. ? Memorie,
i. 76. 10 Ibid., 64. 1! Vol. i. of this work, 319. ! Fadera, Record ed.,
vol. i. pt. ii. p. 730. 13 Cal. Doc. Scot., ii. Nos. 749, 823,
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vassals, is to have his lands restored to him." On 24 May
1297 he was ordered to obey the instructions of Cressingham
and Osbert of Spaldington.” He granted to the Abbey of
Melrose relaxation from 6s. 8d. payable for a toft in Ber-
wick, being described in the charter as Thomas de Somer-
uill, Miles, Dns. de Lynton.! He was declared a rebel by
the English King 1304, when Sir Robert Hastang made
suit for the lands of Lyntone and of Carnewythe which
belonged tohim.* In 1308 his lands of Bathgate and Ratho
were also forfeited.! He was probably the Thomas de
Somerville who, with Alexander Stewart, Adam Gordon,
William Soulis and other Scottish knights gave assistance
to King Edward 11. in the keeping of the Castle of Rox-
burgh, and received thanks for their fidelity,’ but he pro-
bably died not long after that date. In 1304 his son and
lLeir is referred to as the ‘neveux’ of Simon Fraser, but
which of the three persons of that name it is difficult to
say. Sir Thomas Somerville had issue, so far as known :—
1. WiLLiamM.
2. THOMAS.

WILLIAM’ DE SOMERVILLE was the next who is known to

1 Rotuli Scotice,i.27. 2 Cal. Doc. Scot., ii. No. 884. 3 Liber de Melros,
i. 312. ¢ Palgrave, Illust. Hist. Scot., i. 304. Contemporary with him
was another William de Somerville who owned certain lands in Hedgeley,
Northumberland (Cal. Doc. Scot., ii. No. 736). On 10 January 1278-79 he
was fined for being absent from an assize at Newcastle-upon-Tyne (tbid.,
No. 148). On 12 May 1283 he gives half a mark for an assize (ibid., No.
238). Onthe Wednesday after the feast of S. Valentine 1292-93 he witnesses
at Scone a charter of William de Moravia of the patronage of Waleston
(Reg. Epis. Glasg., i. 202). On 16 May 1296 he and a John de Somerville,
clerk, who had been made prisoners at the surrender of Dunbar Castle,
were committed, the former to Corfe, and the latter to Conway (Cal. Doc.
Scot., ii. No. 742). On 10 October 1301 William Somerville was ordered
to be exchanged (ibid., Nos. 1243, 1244). His son, Sir John de Somerville,
though residing in Scotland, where he possessed the lands of Clifton in
Roxburghshire (Palgrave uf ¢if. 308), held the lands of Hedgeley by gift
from his father, but forfeited them 27 April 1206 for adhering to Baliol
(ibid., No. 736). On his swearing fealty to Edward 1. they were ordered
to be restored to him, 14 March 1303-4 and 6 May 1304 (ibid., Nos. 1481,
1594). Heafterwards became a follower of Bruce (Barbour’s Bruce, ii. 45),
was taken prisoner at Methven (ibid., 215; Cal. Doc. Scot., ii. No. 1811),
and hanged 30 August 1306, his lands being given to his valet (ibid., No.
1823). & Cal. Doc. Scot., iii. No. 67. ® Rotuli Scotic, i. 114. 7 This may
(by a misreading) be the origin of ¢ Walter’ of the Memorie of the Somer-
villes, but their histories are different, and Walter seems to be wholly
mythical.
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have held the barony of Linton, which he did doubtless as
the son of Sir Thomas. He is probably the same William
Somerville who appears as an adherent of the English King
in 1316 and 1318.! He was evidently still in the English
service at his death shortly before Michaelmas 1336, and
his lands of Linton were given by King Edward 111. to his
brother and heir Thomas,” thus implying that they were
both adherents of England, as otherwise the lands would
have been forieited. William Somerville evidently had no
surviving male issue, but he had a daughter, name not
given, who in 1318 was a prisoner in Scotland.’

SIR THOMAS SOMERVILLE succeeded his brother after
Michaelmas 1336. He may be the Thomas Somerville
- who, in 1312, appears as an esquire in English service at
Dundee.! He was a knight before 3 February 1350-51, when
with other knights, he paid his share of £30 sterling to the
Constable of England, at Lochmaben Oastle.® He is said
to have fought at Neville’s Cross. He had letters of safe-
conduct from the King of England to visit the shrine of
St. Thomas of Canterbury on 4 November 1362, 26 April
1363, and 4 June 1364, and on 20 March 1366 he had a similar
safe-conduct to the King’s dominions both in England and
elsewhere.! On 10 March 1369 he had another safe-con-
duct to the tomb of St. Thomas.,” Thomas de Somyrvyle,
Knight, of Glasgow diocese, had an indult to choose a con-
fessor, 6 June 1372.° He married, first, Elizabeth, daughter
of Sir James Douglas of Laudonia ; ® and, secondly, Maria de
Waus, having obtained a papal dispensation June 1354."° He
left issue :—

1. SIR WILLIAM.

2. Thomas, who had from his father the lands of Gilmerton,
Drum, and Gutters.” He was on the inquest at the
service of his nephew in 1406." He married Katherine
Straton, second daughter of the Laird of Straton, but
died without issue in 1412, when his lands returned
to the main line.”

! Rotuli Scotice, 159, 188, 189. 2 Cal. Doc. Scot., iii. 374. 3 Rotuli Scotice,
i. 188. 4 Cal. Doc. Scot., iii. p. 428. © Ibid., iii. No. 1551. © Federa,
C. and H.,iii. pt. ii. 680, 697, 736, 788, 7 Ibid., 862. ® Reg. Avoniensis, 187,
60. 9 Vol. vi. of this work,344. 10 Andrew Stuart’s Genealogical Hist. of
the Stewarts, 436. 1! Memonrte, i, 134, 12 Ibid., 152, 13 Ibid., 134,
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3. John, who may be the Master John Sommervill who
witnessed a charter of Laurence de Hay, dominus de
Eskyndy, with consent of Findlay de Hay, his son
and heir, to John Olerk and Margaret, his wife,
daughter of the granter, of the lands of Lonyanys,
Inverness-shire, confirmed 30 November 1376.'

The Memorie assigns to Sir Thomas two daughters, one
married to Sir John Sandilands of Calder, the other to
Sir Lawrence Baird of Posso, but of neither marriage is
there any evidence.

SIR WILLIAM DE SOMERVILLE of Linton and Carnwath
was in his father’s lifetime one of the hostages for the
release of David 11. by treaty 13 July 1354.> He was again
a hostage on 16 August 1357, and in the treaty concluded
3 October of the same year.! On 27 June 1371 he had a
charter from Robert 11. of half the barony of Manuel, in
Stirlingshire, to himself and Katherine, his wife, on the
resignation of Christian Crousar. He appears to have
granted, on 3 July 1386, ¢a charter anent the foundation of
a chappellanry of Sanct Michalis chapell of Cambusnethen.’®
He died about 1400.” It was probably he who married,
first, Katherine Halliday, heiress of Moffat ; and, secondly,
Giles, daughter of Sir John Herring of Gilmerton, having
previously received from her father half the lands of Gil-
merton for his influence in obtaining his pardon from the
King for the burning of Gilmerton Grange and its inmates,
as detailed in the Memorie.! His widow married, secondly,
Sir William Fairlie of Braid.® Sir William Somerville had
issue :—

1. SIR THOMAS."

2. William, ancestor of the Somervilles of Cambo. In

1421 and 1424 he was a witness to the mortifications
aftermentioned granted by his brother to the priory

! Reg. Mag. Sig., fol. vol. 128, No. 8; Robertson’s Index, 118, No. 8.
2 Feedera, iii. pt. i. 281, 3 Ibid., 366. ¢ Ibid., 372. © Reg. Mag. Sig.,
fol. vol. 91, No. 320, and 123 No. 21; Robertson’s Index, 97, 320. 8 Acta
Dom. Cone., 392,393, 7 Carnwath Inventory, Bundle 7, No. 2. 8 Vol. i. 93,
118-126, where both wives are assigned to a Sir Walter of whose existence
there does not appear to be sufficient evidence; cf. Vere Irving’s Upper
Ward of Lanarkshire, ii. 493. ° Memorie, i. 135. 10 There is a John
with a wife Margaret Edmonston interpolated herein the Memorie, with
her son Sir Thomas, and so on.
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of Lesmahagow. He was probably the William Somer-
ville, scutifer, who witnessed the charter of confir-
mation of the regality of Eskdalemuir by Archibald,
Earl of Wigtoun and Longueville, to Melrose, dated
10 December 1422.!

THOMAS DE SOMERVILLE of Linton and Carnwath (com-
monly called flrst Lord Somerville, but see infra p. 9, where
the numeration adopted requires the reducing by one of
the number hitherto applied to each Lord), was born about
1370. In 1392 he had a charter from Robert 111. to himself
and Janet Stewart, his wife, of the barony of Cambus-
nethan, in Lanarkshire, together with the corn rent due
of old to the King, on the resignation of Sir Alexander
Stewart of Darnley and Johanna, his wife. The holding was
blench for a pair of gilt spurs.®? On 26 February 1400-1
his charter of the lands of Newbigging, in favour of his
cousin William Newbigging, was confirmed by Robert 111.*
He was served heir to his father on 1 March 1406. On 31
March 1421 he was bailie to Archibald, Earl of Douglas,
Lord of Galloway and Annandale, in the lordship of Douglas.®
On 7 August 1421 he granted to the priory of St. Machutus,
at Lesmahagow, a dependency of the Abbey of Kelso,
certain lands lying in his towns of Linton and Hoslaw, in
the barony of Linton in puram elemosinam.* On 13 Dec-
ember 1423 he had a safe-conduct to England to meet
James 1., and was one of the guarantors of the treaty for
his release, 28 March 1424." On 20 April of the same year
he granted a charter in favour of S. Michael’s chapel of
Cambusnethan.! In the same year he, with consent of
William, his son and heir, founded the Collegiate Church of
Oarnwath for a provost and six prebendaries.’ Of the
church then built by him, the north transept, called
St. Mary’s or Oollege aisle, alone remains, and is now used

! The Douglas Book, iii. 53. 2 Reg. Mag. Sig., fol. vol. 198, No. 11;
Robertson’s Index, 151, 11. The old corn rent was ten chalders of wheat
and ten of bear ; Reg. Mag. Sig.,fol. vol. 15, No. 79. 3 Carnwath Inventory,
Bundle7, No. 2. % Memorie, i. 152. 5 The Douglas Book, iii. 242. ¢ Reg.
Mag. Sig., 26 May 1427. 7 Federa, x. 309, 332. & Acta Dom. Conc., 393,
where he is called William Somervale, Lord of Carnwath. 9 Spottis-
woode’s Religious Houses, annexed to Keith’s Catalogue, 466; ef.
Memorte, 1. 166,
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as the mortuary chapel of the family of Lockhart of Lee
and Carnwath. In June 1424 he granted, also with consent
of William his son, an annualrent of ten merks from his
lands of Manuel to a chaplain to say perpetual masses for
the soul of Randolph Weir at the altar of St. Mary, in Les-
mahagow, the patronage to be exercised by himself and
Thomas Weir of Blackwood alternately.! On 13 January
1424-25 he granted to Robert Maxwell, son and heir of
Herbert Maxwell, Knight, Lord of Carlaverock, and his wife
Janet, daughter of John Forester of Corstorphine, a charter
of the lands of Liberton in Carnwath, on the resignation
of Herbert Maxwell, being therein described as cousin of
Robert Maxwell.> On the return of James I. from captivity
he was one of the few admitted to the King’s confidence.®
He was one of the consenters on the King’s behalf to the
partition of Hassington by Patrick of Dunbar, Lord of Beill,
between the Abbot of Melrose and Walter of Haliburton on
the Wednesday in Whitsun week 1428, being described as
Justice.* In an Instrument of Perambulation of the lands
of Gladsmuir on 25 September 1430 he is described as
““nobilis vir Thomas de Somervile Dominus de Carnwath ac
Justiciarius Domini nostri Regis ex parte australi de
Forth.’® As ‘Thomas Dominus Somervile’ he appears as
one of the conservators of a truce with the English 15
December 1430.° He is, however, styled Thomas Dominus
de Somervyle when he was one of the conservators of
another truce 20 March 1438,” and on 13 October 1434, when
he presided at the perambulation and definition of marches
of the lands belonging to the nuns of North Berwick, he is
described as Thomas Symmeruell, Lord of Carnebeith, Jus-
ticiary of the King south of the Forth.® He is also called
Thomas de Somervile, dominus de Carnewithe, in a charter
of 22 December 1439.° He attended the Parliament held at
Perth on 10 January 1434-35 when he was elected and sworn
one of the Lords Auditors.® He died in December 1444,

! Reg. Mag. Sig., 3 June 1424. 2 Ibid., 4 February 1424-25; Book of
Caerlaverock, i. 140; ii. 425. 3 Tytler’s Hist. of Scot., 2nd ed. iii. 187.
8 Liber de Melros, ii. 520. 5 Charters and Writs concerning the Royal
Burgh of Haddington, 1318-1543, by J. G. Wallace James, M.B., 1895.
¢ Rymer's Fadera, x. 487. 7 Ibid., 695. & Notarial Copy of Notarial In-
strument, Laing Charters, No. 113. 9 Reg. Mag. Sig., 20 September
1440, 10 Acta Parl. Scot., ii. 22.
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and was buried at Carnwath. Before July 1391, during his
father’s lifetime, he married Janet Stewart, above-men-
tioned. He married again, in terms of a dispensation dated
2 November 1411, Elizabeth Keith, widow, successively, of
Sir Adam Gordon of Huntly and Sir Nicholas Erskine of
Kinnoull. She died about 1436. He is also said to have
married Mary, daughter of Henry Sinclair, first Earl of
Orkney.! He left issue :—

1. WiLLiAM, first Lord Somerville.

2. Thomas, who received from his father the lands of
Racklay in the barony of Carnwath, and his son,
James, marrying the daughter and heiress of the
Laird of Gladstanes, these lands came to the name
of Somerville.’

3. Mary, said to have been married to Sir William Hay
of Yester, who got with her the lands of Auchter-
mure 1427.°

4, Giles, married to Sir Robert Logan of Restalrig,
receiving from her father the lands of Finnington,
Becryhill, and Heathryhill in Cambusnethan.*

5. Margaret, married, first, in 1435, to Sir Roger Kirk-
patrick of Closeburn, with issue.®

6. —— a daughter, said to have been married to Sir
David Scott of Branxholm, with issue, but no
evidence is forthcoming.

I. WiLLIAM DE SOMERVILLE, described as son and heir of
his father on 3 November 1421, was served heir to his
father in the baronies of Carnwath, Linton, and Cambus-
nethan, and in the lands of Gilmerton 10 June 1445." He
was created a Lord of Parliament between 28 June 1445,
when he is styled William, Lord of Summerville, squire,’
and 3 July 1445, when he is described as DOMINUS
SOMERVILLE. On 7 July 1449 he granted a charter of

1 Memorte, i. 156 note ; cf. vol.vi. of this work, 37 and 5§70. 2 Memorie,
i. 175, 398. 3 Ibid., 168, 169. * Ibid. ° Nisbet’s Heraldic Plates, 44; cf.
vol. v. of this work, 51 n. 3, quoting Sir George Mackenzie’s Pedigree, 50,
where a somewhat mythical husband, Sir Thomas Ker of Kershaugh,
has been assigned to her. ¢ Inventory of Wigtown Papers, Scot. Record
Soc., Nos. 248, 406. 7 Memorie, i. 178, where the obviously erroneous date
of 1435 is given. 8 Reg. Episcopatus Brechinensis, i. 103, ° Acta Parl.
Scot., ii. 59. He may have been Lord Somerville on 1 or 2 July, but this is
not certain ; ibid., 60.
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the lands of Newbigging to Sir Robert Livingstone and
Margaret, his spouse.! He had a safe-conduct as commis-
sioner to treat with England 16 October 1449, and was a
conservator of truce on 15 November following. He had
safe-conduct to England, 17 April 1451, as a commissioner
to settle infractions of the truce; again on 5 July 1451, and
again he is a conservator 14 August 1451, and finally on
23 May 1453.> Out of special favour to him the town of
Oarnwath was, on 2 June 1451, erected into a free burgh of
barony, with right to have a cross and hold a market every
Thursday.® He witnessed sixty-two charters of James 11.*
He died at Oowthally of a surfeit of fruit on 20 August
1456. He married Janet, daughter of Sir John Mowat of
Stenhouse. She died within two years after her husband,
and they were both buried in the college aisle of Carnwath
church. They had issue :—

1. JonN, second Lord Somerville.

2. Thomas, of Plane, Stirlingshire, who, on 27 February
1449-50, had a charter to himself and his wife, Eliza-
beth de Airth, a widow, one of the heirs of Sir
William de Airth of Plane, of the lands of Craigs-
quarter, part of the lands and barony of Plane,
Carnock, and Glorat in Stirlingshire, and Fordale in
Fife.®! He has been identified as the ¢ Thom of Sumer-
wel’ mentioned in the indenture between Robert,
Lord Fleming, on the one part, and Gilbert, Lord
Kennedy, and Sir Alexander Boyd of Duchall on the
other, of date 10 February 1465, and probably was
concerned with his brother, the second lord, in the
abduction of James 111.” He died before 2 April
1482,° survived by his widow, who was living 1 May
1511." He had issue :—

(1) William,'® who died without issue before 31 May 1508.11

(2) David, of Plane, marrled Christina Hepburn,!? and had issue
Thomas of Plane,!* The barony of Plane remained in the
possession of the family till 1634, when it was sold by James
Somerville of Plane to Thomas Nicholson of Carnock.

! Carnwath Inventory, Bundle 7, No. 3. 2 Rymer's Fadera, xi. 242, 253,
283, 286, 300, 334. 3 Reg. Mag. Sig. * Ibid., passim. 5 Memorie, i. 209.
S Reg. Mag. Stg. 7 Tytler's IKst. of Scotland, 2nd ed., vol. iv. pp. 174,176,
and note G, p. 315, where the indenture is given at length. 8 Reg. Mag.
Sig., 18 April 1482. 9 Ibid. 10 Ibid., 3 March 1458-59. 1! Ibid. 12 Ibid.
13 Tbid., 27 November 1523, 4 Ibid., 28 June 1634 ; cf. Memonrte, i. 206, 207.
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3. Mary, married to Ralph Weir of Blackwood, without
issue.!

4. Janet, married to James, son and heir of William
Cleland of that Ilk.?

II. JonN, second Lord Somerville, was one of the leaders
of the Scottish force which defeated the English at the
battle of Sark 23 October 1449.° He is mentioned as a
witness in an instrument of resignation on 4 June 1451,
being described as son and heir-apparent of William, Lord
Somerville.* On 22 October 1456 he was served heir to his
father in Carnwath, Cambusnethan, and the fourth part of
Stenhouse,® and in the half of Gilmerton.® On 11 June 1457
and 12 September 1459 he was a conservator of truce with
England.” On 6 April 1459 he had a pardon under the
Great Scal for forging the seal of his son-in-law’s father,
Lord Campbell, to a receipt for money, and on the 15th of
the same month his twenty-pound land in the barony of
Manuel, Stirlingshire, was granted to the Queen on his
resignation.® He attended James 1I. at the siege of Rox-
burgh in 1460, where the King was killed." He took part
in the abduction of James 111., then a boy of fourteen,
from Linlithgow to HEdinburgh on 9 July 1466, for which,
with Lord Boyd and others, he was pardoned by Act of
Parliament 13 October, confirmed by charter of 25 October
of the same year.” He sat in the Parliament of 1469 as a
Lord Baron." In July 1474 he entertained the King at
Cowthally when there occurred the incident of ‘spits and
raxes’ told by his descendant.” On 26 November 1466 he
granted a precept to infeft James Livingston in certain lands
in Newbigging, and on 21 April 1477 there was a decree of
Council against him at Livingston’s instance declaring these
lands free of recognition.”® On 29 April 1477 he had, on his
own resignation, a charter of Cambusnethan and half of
Stenhouse to himself and his second wife.” Between 1473
and 1491 he frequently appears as a litigant.”* He died in

1 Memorie, 1. 195, 205. ? Ibid., 195. 3 Auchinleck Chron., 40. ¢ Reg.
de Dunfermline, 327. 5 Memorie, i. 211. 8 Ibid. 7 Rymer's Federa, xi.
303, 434, 8 Reg. Mag. Sig. ° Memorie, i. 220. ' Reg. Mag. Stg. ! Lord
Elibank’s Protest, infra p. 85. 12 Memorie, i. 241. B Carnwath Inven-

tory, Bundle 7, Nos. 6, 8. ™ Reg. Mag. Sig. ¥ Acta Dom. Conc. and
Acta Dom, Aud. passim.
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November 1491 and was buried in the college aisle of
Oarnwath church.! He married, first, on 10 July 1446
(contract dated 20 February 1445-46°%), Helen, daughter of
Sir Adam Hepburn of Hailes, and sister of Patrick, first
Lord Hailes,® by whom he had issue :—

1. WiLLiaM, Baron of Carnwath,' born 1453 or 1456.°
On 2 May 1477 he had a charter of the baronies of
Carnwath and Linton and the superiority of Gilmerton,
on the resignation of and subject to the liferent of
his father.® He died vitd patris between 18 May
and 14 November 1491, and was buried at Carnwath.®
He is said to have married, first, on 13 June 1476,
Marjory Montgomery, sister of Hugh, first Earl of
Eglinton ;® and, secondly, Janet, daughter of William
Douglas of Drumlanrig, to whom he had been
affianced as early as 12 October 1478.° She was
afterwards married to Sir Alexander Gordon, younger
of Lochinvar. He had issue :—

(1) Jonx, third Lord.
(2) HueHn, fourth Lord.
(8) Mary, married to James Lockhart of Lee, and had issue.!

2. Elizabeth, married to Gillespic or Celestin, eldest son
of Sir Duncan Campbell of Lochawe, first Lord Camp-
bell.”

3. Helen, married to Sir John Jardine of Applegarth.

4. Catherine, married to George Lauder of Halton."

The second Lord married, secondly, in March 1455-56,
Mariota, daughter of Sir William Baillie of Lamington.*
She survived him,* and married, secondly, Sir John Ross,
first Lord Ross of Halkhead, who divorced her. She was
alive January 1505-6. By her he had issue :—

4. Sir John of Quothquan, first Baron of Cambusnethan,

! Memorte, i.268. 2 Ibid., 194, 3 Cf. vol. ii. 141. ¢ Acte Dom. Conc.,
191. 8 Memorie, i. 274; Acta Dom. Aud., 155, 165. ¢ Reg. Mag. Sig.
! Acta Dom. Aud., 155, 165. 8 Memorie, i. 274. ° Contract dated at
Glasgow 1 April of that year, Memorie, i. 251; ecf. vol. iii. of this work,
433; Complete Peerage, vii. 186. 1 Acta Dom. Conc., 8, 247, 248,
1 Douglas’s Baronage, 324, ii.325,1. 12 Vol i. 332. 13 Acta Aud., 148283,
MS. Reg. Ho.; Reg. Mag. Sig., 25 August 1517. ¢ Memorie, i.211. 15 She
is generally said to have married Humphrey Colquhoun of Luss, but this
is a mistake, though at one time it was proposed that he should marry her
daughter; see post, p. 15. 18 Acta Dom. Conc., xvii. f. 182,
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founder of the family of that name, which for a time
rivalled the main line, born 1457. He had from his
father, with his mother’s consent, a charter of the
barony of Cambusnethan under reservation of their
liferent confirmed 20 July 1488.! His father at
various times conveyed to him fully the half of his
estates, a considerable part of Carnwath besides the
ten-merk land of the manor of Roberton, with the
lands of Kingledores in Peeblesshire.” He fought on
the side of James 111. at Sauchieburn and was taken
prisoner; but he afterwards was an intimate friend
of James 1v., who came to his ‘infare’ at Cowthally,’
when the great feasting gave rise to the nickname
of the ‘Pudding Somervilles.”* Gifts of horses, a
crane and wild geese, plovers and live dotterels,
are mentioned as having been presented by him to
the King.® On 4 January 1500-1 he had a Crown
charter of the ten-pound land of Prestwickshaws in
Kyle-Stewart, Ayrshire, on the successive resigna-
tions of Thomas Somerville of Braxfield and Janet
Somerville, with consent of her husband John
Symington. On 17 March 1503-4 he had a Crown
charter of part of Gilmerton, of an extent of forty-six
merks six shillings and eightpence, which had been
in the King’s hands for sixty years, having reverted
to the Crown by disclamation, and the gift of them to
Cambusnethan was afterwards the cause of a tedious
lawsuit.® On 13 March 1507-8 he had a Crown
charter of certain lands in the barony of Carnwath,
extending in all to a forty-pound land of old extent
which had reverted to the King by recognition.” He
was guardian to his nephews during their minority,
and retained control of the imbecile third Lord
after he came of age; and he is accused by the
writer of the Memorie of having taken advantage of
his position for his own aggrandisement; but in the
same work he is credited with getting the holdings
1 Reg. Mag. Sig. 2 Nisbet's Heraldry, ii. App. 276. 3 Memorie, i. 296 et
seq. ¢ The Popular Rhymes of Scotland, by Robert Chambers, 1826, p. 210,
quoting an unpublished passage in the original preface to the Memorte.

5 Accounts of Lord High Treasurer, ii. 315; iii. 172, 187, 347; iv. 86, 346,
8 Reg. Mag. Sig. ; Memorie, i. 281 et seq. ; cf. infra, p. 23. 7 Reg. Mag. Sig.
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of Carnwath and Linton changed from ward to
blench.! He fell at Flodden 9 September 1513.>) He
married, 3 July 1489, Elizabeth, daughter of John
Carmichael of Balmeadie by Elizabeth or Isabella
Sibbald, widow of George, fourth Earl of Angus,’
and had issue :—

(1) Jokn, second Baron of Cambusnethan, called Red Bag, from
his wearing a pouch covered with red satin to hold his
hawk’s meat.! On his first marriage he had a charter
from his father of the lands of Gilmerton and Gutters,
except the lands and place of Drum.? He was served heir
to his father, and infeft in his estate in 1515.% Buchanan
describes him as Juvenis nobilis et magni animi, and says
that he led the attack on Sir James Hamilton at the raid of
Jedwood Forest in 1519, slew five of the Hamiltons, and put
the rest to flight.” He was prominent also at Cleanse the
Causeway, for which his estates were declared forfeited 7
April 1522, but restored on 3 August 1525.8 After his
father’'s death he acted in name of his cousin, the third
Lord.! He died in 1553,° having married, first, Janet,
daughter of Adam Hepburn of Crags. In 1515-16 this mar-
riage was declared null, but the children legitimate.!! He
married, secondly (contract 10 July 1510), Margaret Graham,
daughter of William, first Earl of Montrose,!?and had issue.

(2) William of Tarbrax.

(3) Mary, said to have been contracted to William, second Earl
of Montrose, but the marriage never took place.!3

(4) Margaret, married to John Nisbet of Dalzell.}

®) a daughter, married to John Hamilton of Newton, who
purchased from Hugh, fourth Lord Somerville, the lands of
Tweedie and the flve-merk land of old extent of Catcastle,
in the barony of Stenhouse.’® He died in 1535. From this
marriage Sir Frederick Harding Anson Hamilton, Bart., of
Silverton Hill, Lanarkshire, and Avon Cliff, Stratford-on-
Avon, is said to be descended.!®

1Vol.i. 304. 2 Exch. Rolls,xix.468. 3 Memorie,i.297; Nisbet's Heraldry,
ii. App. 276. * Memorie, i. 305. 5 Confirmed 13 March 1511-12, Reg. Mag.
Sig. °© Nisbet’s Heraldry, ii. App. 276. 7 Opera, Edin., 1715, folio, p. 261.
8 Acta Parl.Scot.,ii.298. ° The Douglas Book,iv.78,79,79-82. 10 Memorie,
i. 415, 11 Lib. Offictalis S. Andree, 7; cf. vol. ii. of this work, 150.
12 Vol. vi. of this work, 226. 13 Memorie, i. 306; vol. vi. of this work,
228, 1% Laing Charters, 206. 15 Douglas’s Baronage, 425, i.; Reg. Mag.
Sig., 26 March 1531, 16 Burke’s Peerage. The writer of the Appendix
to Nisbet’s Heraldry, ii. 276, gives two other daughters, Elizabeth, married
to Robert Dalzell of that Ilk, and Helen, married to Robert Boyd of Kil-
marnock (see vol. v. of this work, p. 155), both of whom, he says, left issue,
but there is no corroborative authority for these. Besides these, he
says the first Baron of Cambusnethan had two other lawful sons, Michael
and James, who are witnesses to a charter by Lord Somerville to
Chancellor of Shieldhill, 12 September 1508, but whether these had issue
or were married does not appear.
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5. Marion, married, as his second wife, to Allan, son of
Sir Stephen Lockhart of Cleghorn, and had issue.’

6. Alison, contracted to Humphrey Colquhoun of Luss,
but the marriage did not take place.’

The second Lord had also by one of his wives :(—

7. Giles, married to Thomas Weir of Blackwood. On
12 October 1483 she had sasine of the five-merk land
of Broughton in Peeblesshire, also of the lands of
Mossmening in the barony of Lesmahagow in lieu of
the tocher given with her by her father.

III. JonN, third Lord Somerville, born about 1484.* On
16 December 1491 he was served heir to his grandfather in
some lands in Newbigging. On 8 April 1500 he was served
heir to his father in the lands of Gilmerton.® On 13 March
1507-8 he had a charter of the barony of Carnwath except
that part granted by charter of same date to his uncle, Sir
John of Quothquan and Cambusnethan.® Here for the first
time appears the reddendum of a pair of hose containing
half an ell of English cloth to be given to the fastest runner
from the east end of the town of Carnwath to the cross
called Oawlo Oross. Being of weak intellect, the custody of
the third lord was a subject of dispute between his brother,
afterwards the fourth Lord, and his uncle, Sir John of Quoth-
quan, whose widow and son Red Bag also maintained the
right.” On 27 May 1508 he infeft John, Lord Maxwell, in
the lands of Liberton in the barony of Carnwath.® It was
in his time, according to the Memorie, that Linton was
sold to the Kers® though it continued to figure in the
titles of the lordship even after Ker of Littledean’s Crown
charter of 1594.° He died before 27 October 1522, having
married Agnes, daughter of Humphrey Colquhoun of Luss.
She appears as his widow in 1525 and 1528,

IV. HueH, fourth Lord Somerville, born about 1486."
Before succeeding his elder brother he attached himself to

1 Lang’s Life of John Gibson Lockhart,i. 8; Nisbet's Heraldic Plates,
18, says Sir Stephen himself. 2 Protocol Book of James Young, 13 Feb-
ruary 1492-93. 3 Douglas’s Baronage, 154, i.ii. 4 Memorie,i. 274. © Ibid.,
276, 278. © Reg. Mag. Sig.; cf. supra, p. 18. 7 Rec. Parl., 23 November
1513, p. 534. 8 Book of Caerlaverock, i.165. ? Memorie, 168,304, 1° Infra,
seventh Lord. 1! Fraser’s Chiefs of Colquhoun, i. 69, 70; see also Acta
Dom. Conc., xiii. 143.
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the Hamilton faction in opposition to his uncle Sir John
of Quothquan, who was an adherent of the Douglases.’
Having got the management of the lordship, he took up
his residence at the tower of Carnwath, where he built
the market-cross.? On 27 October 1522 he was served
heir to his brother, the third Lord, in the lands of Carn-
wath.! After coming into possession he made large addi-
tions to Cowthally.! He sat in Parliament 16 November
1524 and 22 February 1524-25.° In 1522 and 1523 he had
sasine of the barony of Carnwath and of the half of Sten-
house, and patronage of the church of Muirhall. In 1525
he had sasine of Linton and the patronage of the church.®
He had from his father-in-law James, Earl of Arran, a
charter of Drum, Gutters, Gilmerton, Carnwath and certain
other lands in the counties of Edinburgh and Lanark.” On 21
July 1529 he had a charter of Carnwath under the Great Seal.®
On 10 April 1538 he had a Crown charter of Linton with the
patronage of the church in succession to his brother: the
reddendum being a red rose and five merks of castle-
wards.” He is the first-named witness in the instrument
of protest, of date 27 November 1539, at the instance of
Dunbar, Archbishop of Glasgow, against Cardinal Beaton’s
erecting and carrying his cross at Dumfries in the diocese
of Glasgow.” On 31 December 1540 he received from the
King for a large composition the forty-pound land of Liber-
ton in the barony of Carnwath which had been held of him-
self by Finnart, and had come to the Crown by Finnart’s
forfeiture."

‘When James v. threw off the Douglas domination in 1528
Lord Somerville joined him at Stirling, and for the rest of
his reign was a favourite at Court. Certain disputes be-
tween himself and his cousin of Cambusnethan were settled
by the King as arbiter under a submission dated 30 May
1532.* With many other Scottish nobles Lord Somerville

1 Memorie, 314,315. 2 Not the present one which is figured on plate 95
of Scottish Market Crosses, by John Small, 1900. 3 Carnwath Inventory,
Bundle 1, No. 3. * Memorie, i. 322, 332, 354. 6 Acta Parl. Scot., ii. 285,
288. © Responde, dated 23 September; Exch. Rolls, xv. 603, 604, 636.
7 Composition paid 1524, Accounts of Lord High Treasurer, v. 172.
8 Carnwath Inventory, Bundle 1. No. 7. ° Reg. Mag. Sig. ; Exch. Rolls,
xviii.495. 19 Reg. Epis.Glasg., 553. 1! Reg. Mag. Sig., under date of charter
and 3 January 1538-30. 12 Memorie, i. 372.
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was taken prisoner at Solway Moss, on 24 November 1542,
and detained in England till the next year. His income
was estimated at 400 merks, and he was ordered to be
released 1 July 1543.! His ransom was fixed at 1000 merks,
and his eldest son became hostage for him. During his
captivity he and several of his fellow-prisoners engaged to
further the designs of Henry viiL, even so far as the
delivery of the Scottish strongholds to England.! After
his return to Scotland he acted in concert with the Earl of
Angus, Sir George Douglas, and the other Scots Lords in the
pay of Henry, and received money himself from the same
source.® He attended the meeting of the party held at
Douglas Castle on 25 October 1543, and was appointed to
proceed to England and report their minds to the King,'
but on 1 November he and Lord Maxwell, another of the
party, were apprehended by command of the Governor, the
BEarl of Arran, and imprisoned in Edinburgh Castle. He
was afterwards removed to Blackness, Arran declaring
that the letters found in his possession contained no less
than high treason.®! He was at liberty again on 2 April
1544.* In June 1544 he joined in the agreement by the
principal Scots nobility to support the Queen-mother as
Regent against the Earl of Arran.” In the same year he
shared the rout of the Scottish army at the siege of Cold-
ingham.! He was at the convention of the nobility held
at Stirling on 10 June 1546 after the murder of Cardinal
Beaton,” and acted in rotation as one of the four members
of council to be always present with the Governor.™

He was, however, a Protestant " and still adhered to the
English interest. On 21 March 1548-49 he writes from
Cowthally to Wharton assuring him of his devotion to
England, which would have lost him his head but for
Argyll, ‘that is comit of my hous.” The Governor then
took ‘ane stone house’ and forty-pound land and still
withheld them, and ‘ gert sla the person of Liberton quhilk

! Rymer's Fadera, xiv. 797. 2 The Hamilton Papers, i.376. 3 Ibid.,
i. 526; ii. 165,169, 180 ; Sadler’s State Papers and Letters, i. 178. * Sadler
to Henry, 30 October 1543, The Hamilton Papers, ii. 132. 8 Sadler to
Suffolk and Tunstall, 10 November 1543, ibid., 151. ¢ Hertford to Henry,
tbid., 321. In these volumes and in Sadler's Lefters there is frequent
mention of him. 7 Tytler's Hist., 2nd ed., v. 364, 8 Ibid., 311. ° Ibid., vi.

4note. 19 P.C. Reg., 10 July to 10 August 1546, 19 March 1546-47. 1! Tytler,
v. 338,

VOL. VIII. B
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was the best of my name next myself herfor.’ He repre-
sents himself as strongly opposed to the Governor, but ‘ his
frendis legis so ner me that thai mycht desstroy my boundis
in half ane day,’ and adds ‘I would you would let my son
come home for twenty days upon sureties that he might
ger me ken your mind herein."' The son referred to was
probably the one taken prisoner by the English in a skirmish
near Drumlanrig.®? He died in 1549, and was buried in
Carnwath Church, where his tomb still remains. Suffolk
and Tunstall describe him as a poor man, needing help in
his necessity." He had lived extravagantly, spending large
sums on Court dress, to pay for which on one occasion, his
descendant says, he sold to the Hospital of St. Mary Mag-
dalene in Edinburgh two annualrents of £40 and £20 from
the lands of Carnwath. He also entertained the King with
the lavish hospitality for which Cowthally had already been
remarkable, gaining for it among the common people the
name of Cow-daily. He married, first, on 20 December
1510, Anne Hamilton, natural daughter of James, first Earl
of Arran; but she and two sons she bore him died of small-
pox in 1516. (See title Hamilton.) He married, secondly,
Janet, daughter of William Maitland of Lethington.” She
died after 15 August 1559,> and was buried in the same
tomb as her husband, having had issue :—

1. Jamgs, fifth Lord.

2. John, styled of Broomhill.” He expressed a desire to
have his elder brother home from England to avenge
his father's apprehension.” He was parish clerk
of Quothquan, and in the feud between the Somer-
villes and the Lindsays was, with others, replegi-
ated by the Archbishop of Glasgow on 22 November
1555 to underlie the law for hindering John Lindsay of
Covington from coming to the head court of the
shire of Lanark and for wounding Covington’s natural

1 Cal. of State Papers relating to Scotland (Bain), i. 173, 2 Lennox

and Wharton to Somerset, 25 February 154748, ibid., 82. 3 Adcla Dom.
Conc. et Sess., xxv. £. 82, * 23 November 1543, Hamilton Papers, ii. 180,
& Memorie, 1. 3889 ; Reg. Mag. Sig., 30 January 1540-41, 4 December 1541,
¢ Memorie, i. 12, 209 note. This shows that then, as now, in Carnwath,
the name of the castle was pronounced Couthaily. 7 Cf. vol. iv. of this
work, 364, 8 Exch. Rolls, xix. 449. 9 Acts and Decreets, Decxxvi. 229,

10 Sadler to Suffolk and Tunstall, 10 November 1543 ; Hamilton Papers,
ii, 152,
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brother ; the larl of Angus being his surety. Coving-
ton in his turn was, with others, convicted of invading
him for his slaughter.! In the convention of July
1567 he was arraigned on a charge of treason as
accessory to the murder of Darnley and the abduc-
tion of the Queen.” He died after 1583.°

3. Hugh, founder of the family of Spital, which was next
in importance after Cambusnethan,® and took its
name from a forty-shilling land near where Carnwath
burn meets the South Medwyn.* He married a
daughter of John Tweedie of Drummelzier,® with
issue.

4. Robert, who came to the Queen’s will on 28 November
1555 for hurting and wounding John Lindsay, natural
brother of the Laird of Covington.” He died before
5 March 1590-91, leaving a son Hugh.®

5. Michael.?

6. William, vicar of Kirkbean."

7. Margaret, married to Charles Murray of Cockpool
(contract dated 2 January 1547 '), from whom she had
a charter of the ten-pound land of Arbigland in life-
rent."?

8. Agnes, married, in 1533, to John, son and apparent
heir of James Tweedie, son and apparent heir of John
Tweedie of Drummelzier, and with her husband had a
charter from his grandfather of the ten-pound land of
Hopcailzo.” The King was present at the marriage.’
She was married, secondly, probably as his second
wife, to William Murray of Romanno, who after-
wards married Helen Henderson.'

9. Elizabeth, married, in 1541, to John Carmichael of that
Ilk.* She had a charter from him of the ten-pound
land of Netherton of Carmichael in liferent,” and had
issue.

1 Piteairn’s Criminal Trials, i. 383%. % Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 6. 3% Pro-
tocol Book of James Harland, fol. 235b. 4 Memorte, i. 457. & Orig. Par.,
i. 126. © Memonrie,i. 406. 7 Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials, i. 383%, 8 P. C.
Reg., iv. 593. 9 Acts and Decreets, xxv. 203, 1° Reg. of Deeds, xxxviii.
194. 1 Acta Dom. Conc. et Sess., xxvi. 36. 12 Confirmed 20 January 1547-
48, Reg. Mag. Sig. '3 Confirmed 17 December 1533 ; Reg. Mag. Sig.

U AMemorie, i. 385. 15 Genealogist, new ser., xi. 194, 18 Vol. iv. of this
work, 577. 7 Confirmed 27 June 1541, Reg. Mag. Sig.
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10. Some affirm a daughter married to Sir James Lindsay
of Pittardie.!

V. JaMmgs, fifth Lord Somerville, born about 1518. On 14
April 1536 he had a charter of Carnwath from his father,
and was infeft therein same month.! In March 1542-43 he
went to England as a hostage for his father, at whose
urgent request, representing him ‘very sick of the stone
. . . which disease he had by kind,’® he was released, and
returned to Scotland before 2 April 1544. He is said to
have told Angus he would stand by him whatever under-
standing his father had with Arran. He is described by
Suffolk as ‘not a most personable man, but noted to be a
man of courage by those that know.’* He was present at
the flight from Coldingham on 30 November 1544.° In
1549-50 he had sasine of Carnwath in succession to his
father.! On 19 March of that year he granted a precept
of clare constat to William Livingston of certain lands in
Newbigging.” He resigned the lands of Blackpool and

Blackcastle and the eastern half of Auchingray in the

barony of Carnwath, receiving, on 25 July 1550, a new charter
to himself and his wife.! In the same year he had sasine of
Linton. On 16 February 1552 he granted a charter of the
lands of Liberton to Sir James Hamilton of Craufurdjohn.®
On 22 November 1555 William Baillie of Bagbie and others
were replegiated by the Harl of Morton to his regality of
Dalkeith, to underlie the law for invading Lord Somerville
for his slaughter on 1 October of that year. In the feud
with the Lindsays above referred to (pp. 18, 19) Lord Somer-
ville became surety for many of the accused.” In 1559 he
had sasine of Braxfield, subject to his mother’s liferent."
He was one of the principals for the Queen-Regent’s party
at the communing at Preston,” but he signed the bond of
the Scottish nobility of 27 April 1560 to set forward the
reformation of religion, to expel the French and take part
with the Queen of England’s army sent for that purpose.

1 Memorie, i. 408. 2 Carnwath Inventory, Bundle 2. 3 Sadler’s
State Papers and Letters, 1. 182, 183. 4 Hamilton Papers, i. 473; ii. 164,
177. % Diurnal of Occurrents, 36. € Exch. Rolls, xviii. 489. 7 Carn-
wath Inventory, Bundle 7, No. 11. 8 Reg. Mag. Sig. ® Exch. Rolls,
xviii. 495, 1° Carnwath Inventory. MW Pitcairn’s Criminal Trials, i.
*369, ¥382, *383 12 Fach. Rolls, xix.449. 13 Knox’s Hist., i. 269.
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He was also one of the nobles who ratified the treaty of
Berwick on 10 May 1560. He joined in the proposal for a
marriage between Hlizabeth and Arran, and was present
at the siege and surrender of Castle Semple ;' but he dis-
sented from the Acts of 1560 establishing the Protestant
religion, saying with Athole and Borthwick that he would
believe as his fathers believed.? On 5 September 1565 he
signed the bond of the Lords and Barons of the west country
to serve the King and Queen and the Earl of Lennox their
lieutenant, and in the expedition against Moray and the
other rebel Lords, he was, on 10 Oetober, appointed to ac-
company the King in command of the rearguard.® He signed
the Hamilton bond of 8 May 1568,' and joining the Queen’s
army with three hundred men, fought at Langside, where
he was severely wounded.® With Argyll and other Lords
he wrote to Elizabeth on 28 July and 24 August, urging the
release of the Queen of Scots, and to the Duke of Alva on
30 July 1568, begging him to obtain his master’s interven-
tion to the same end.* He died at Cowthally in December
1569, and was buried in Carnwath Church, being the last
Lord Somerville there interred.® He married, first, in or
before 1529, Jean, natural daughter of James, first Earl of
Arran, but by her he had apparently no issue;® secondly,
Agnes, daughter of Sir James Hamilton of Finnart. She
had a grant of the liferent of the four-pound land of Moshat
and others.” By her, who long survived him, he had
issue :—
1. HuGH, sixth Lord Somerville.
2. James, styled of Girdwood," who had some lands in
Carnwath Moor given to him for his patrimony.” On
7 January 1595-96 there is a complaint against him by
James Durham for breaking into his barn and taking
goods and gear furth thereof.”® He may be the James
Somerville, brother to the Laird of Covington,
accused with Covington and others of cruelly hurting

1 Cal. of State Papers relating to Scotland (Bain), i. 383, 403, 465, 490.
! Laing’s Knox, vi. 117, but cf. the editor’s note, and vol. ii. of this work,
110. 3 P.C. Reg., i. 363, 379. * Cal. of State Papers, ii. 403. & Memorie,
i, 428.425. ¢ Cal. of State Papers, ii. 468, 469, 488. 7 Funeral entry in
Lyon Office. 8 Memorie, i. 440. *® Vol. iv. of this work, 365. 10 Con-
firmed 9 April 1536, Reg. Mag. Sig. ! Reg. Sec. Sig., lxxvi, 201
‘B Memorie, i. 439. 13 P, C. Reg., v. 670.
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a servant of Mr. John Somerville, Rector of Liberton,
16 November 1554.! He married a daughter of Lindsay
of Qovington, by whom he had, with other issue,

John, minister of Ednam 1640, who by his wife, Margaret Knox,?
had issue.

From this James, second son of the fifth Lord, the
Somervilles of Drishane, co. Cork, claim descent.?

3. Margaret, contracted, 23 November 1563, to Alexander
Jardine, younger of Applegarth,' but it is probable
the marriage did not take place, as the Memorie says
she was hypochondriac, and died unmarried.

4, Agnes, married (contract 8 August 1567 °) to Somerville
of Plane, and had issue.

5. Hugh, probably illegitimate, of Wolfroddis, died in
August 1608.°

V1. HucH, sixth Lord Somerville, born 1547.” After the
assassination of the Regent Moray he was present at the
convention of the Lords of the Secret Council on 3 March
1569-70.® On 4 April 1570 he was served heir in general to
William, Master of Somerville, his great-grandfather, and
heir in special to his father in Carnwath.” On 9 April 1570
he was present at the meeting of the Lords of the Queen’s
party held at Linlithgow."” He is among the * Papist ’ Lords
in ‘ Note of Protestants and Papists’ in 1570." In 1570-71 he
signed several of the letters negotiating for the Queen’s
restoration.”” On 3 June 1571 he was present at the Parlia-
ment of her adherents held in Edinburgh.”® Yet in a ¢ List
of Nobility,” endorsed by Burghley August 1571, he is de-
scribed as neutral. On 20 November 1572 he was at the
convention held at Hdinburgh for the choice of a Regent,”
and at the Parliament begun on 15 January thereafter,'
and is included by Killigrew among those whom the Regent

! Piteairn, i. *369. ? Fasti Eccl. Scot. % Burke’s Landed Gentry of
Ireland, 1904, p. 559. ¢ Reg. of Deeds, viii.7l. 6 Ibid., vii.459. Forother
descendants of the fifth Lord, see Bengal, Past and Present, ii. 157.
¢ Lanark Tests. 7 ¢The Present State of the Nobility in Scotland,’ 1 July
1592, printed in Tytler's Hist., ix. 376. § Cal. of State Papers (Boyd),
iii. 117, ® Carnwath Inventory, Bundle2,Nos. 3,4. 1° Diurnal of Occur-
rents, 168, :11 Cal. of State Papers, iii. 459. 12 Ibid., passim. 13 Ibid.,
604, 14 Ibid., 667. 5 Ibid., iv.434. 16 Ibid,, 463, 465, 467, 468,
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Morton shall have to assist him at the coming in of the
English army.! On 31 January 1573-74 he was admitted to
the benefits of the Pacification of Perth, granting bond for
£10,000, with Andrew, Earl of Rothes, and John Somerville
of Cambusnethan as cautioners. In 1573 he had sasine of
Oarnwath,’ and of Linton in 1575.}

In an account of the Peers of Scotland in 1577 he is de-
scribed as ‘a nobleman of pretty living, his power not
great.”* In 1578 he recovered thelands of Drum, Gilmerton
and Gutters after a long litigation with the Cambusnethan
family, his success being attributed by his descendant to
a bribe discreetly administered to Regent Morton.®! On 1
June 1581 he was on the assize for the trial of Morton for
the murder of Darnley.®* On 19 October 1583 a complaint
was made to the Privy Council against him and others of
his name for invading the lands of John Somerville of Tar-
brax. He was at the convention of Estates on 7 December
1583 when the Raid of Ruthven was declared a crime of
lése majesté,” and on 4 May 1584 he was on the assize at the
trial of the Barl of Gowrie for that crime.” In 1584 and
1585 he built the house of Drum, and in 1586 he altered and
repaired Cowthally.’ On 24 May 1589 he was on the assize
for the trial of the Barls of Huntly, Crawford, and Both-
well.' On 6 March 1589-90 he was one of the commissioners
in the shire of Lanark and Clydesdale for executing the
Acts against the Jesuits and seminary priests. On 31 July
1590 he was denounced rebel in absence for oppressing the
tenants of John Somerville of CQambusnethan, between whom
and himself there had been ¢ great pleyes and cummer anent
the lands of Gilmerton.”" In August 1590, in obedience to
the General Assembly, he undertook that in future no
market should be held at Carnwath on the Sabbath.”” On 2
February 1590-91 he bound himself, under reservation of his
own liferent, to infeft his eldest son William, Master of
Somerville, in all his lands, except those in Lothian; and
on 22 March of the following year he confirmed the obliga-
tion in favour of his son Gilbert, who had succeeded his

1 4 April 1673, Cal. of State Papers, 538. 2 Exch. Rolls, xx. 446-447.
3 Ibid., 490. * Cal. of State Papers, v. 260. 6 Memorie, i. 451, 454,
S Pitcairn, i. 114. 7 P. C. Reg., iii. 600-601, 613. & Pitcairn, i. 116.
® Memorie, 1. 461, 462, 10 Pitcairn, i. 178. 1! P. C. Reg., iv. 465, 516-517.
12 Memorie, i. 475.
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brother in the mastership.! His obligations under these
deceds were afterwards the subject of arbitration between
himself, the Master, and Hugh, his next surviving son, and
the decree, dated 19 April 1593, being in the Master’s
favour, was much resented by the father and younger son.’
He died on 24 March 1597, at Raploch, the house of Gavin
Hamilton, father-in-law of his son Hugh, and was buried in
the choir of the old church of Cambusnethan. In 1554 he
was contracted to Mary, daughter of Robert Beaton of
Creich, but the marriage did not take place.* He married
(contract 11 January 1557-58°) Eleanor Seton, daughter of
George, fourth Lord Seton, but separated from ber for no
reasonable cause in 1587. She sued him for adherence and
aliment and obtained decree in the latter action on 11 June
1588.° She afterwards lived at Tranent and, dying about
1603, was buried in the Chapel of Seton.” Issue:—

. William, Master of Somerville, born about 1566. On
26 January 1587-88 he had a remission for having
accidentally killed his brother Robert.®! He died, un-
married, in January 1592.°

2. Robert, unmarried, accidentally shot dead by his
brother William in July 158-."

3. GILBERT, seventh Lord.

4 to 9. Six song, of whom only one attained manhood.”

10. HueH, eighth Lord.

11. Jean, married (contract 22 July 1588%) to Robert
Hamilton of Stoneypath.

12, —— a daughter, married to Thomas Somerville of
Lanark.

13. Elspeth.”

14. Janet, buried January 1614.*

15, 16. Two children who predeceased their father.” ...

He) had two illegitimate children, James and Rebert,
both by Jean Somerville, wife of David Lindsay, hatmaker,
burgess of Edinburgh.

1 Memorte, i. 474, 481. 2 Carnwath Inventory, Bundle 7, No. 7.
3 Memorie, i. 495. 4 Acts and Decreets, x. 138. 5 Reg. of Deeds, ii. 389.
8 Memorie, 1. 422,462,463 ; Records of the Commissary Court of Edinburgh.
7 Memorie, ii. 30. 8 Reg. Mag. Sig. ® Memorie, i. 479. 10 Ibid., ii. 125-
126, where, as also in i. 467, 468 of that work, he is called John, the date
of his death being also erroneously given (i. 466) as 1589, ! Ibid., ii. 110.
12 Reg. of Deeds, xxxii. 25. 13 Ibid., cci. 358 14 Canongate Reg.
15 Memorie, i. 442, ii. 29. '® Gen. Reg. Inhibs., xxxiii. 185.

l
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VII. GILBERT, seventh Lord Somerville, born about 1568,
Served heir to his brother William 2 May 1592.! Infeft in
the glebe lands of Liberton, as heir to William, 31 January
1592-93, on precept dated 15 January. On 23 November of
the previous year he had sold four oxgate of said lands to
Hugh Somerville, merchant in Edinburgh, described as his
uncle, and in later deeds as of Woolfreds. On 21 February
1592-93 he granted two charters, the one a se and the other
de se, to the said Hugh, and Katharine Herries, his spouse,
and infeft them therein propriis manibus 18 September
1593. On 3 June 1592, and before his succession, he had
sold Linton to Walter Ker of Littledean.® His interest in
Linton, however, was probably not more than a superiority,
for we are informed in the Memorie* that these lands had
been sold to the Kers before the commencement of the
sixteenth century,® although they continued to be included
in the charters of the lordship of Somerville long after that
date.® After hisfather’s death the seventh Lord attempted
to take forcible possession of Cowthally, which was held by
his brother Hugh, and it was only by the intervention of
the King and Council that the castle was delivered to him.’
On 27 April 1598 he and others of his name were ordered to
be denounced rebels in absence, on the complaint of James
Lockbhart of Lee, for violence to the complainer and his
servants,® but Lockhart’s father not concurring in the
charge, it appears to have been abandoned. About
this time many lands in the barony of Carnwath were
apprised from him by the younger Lockhart,” and he finally,
on 13 February 1602, sold all that remained of the whole
lordship of Somerville to John, seventh Earl of Mar, for
£46,666, 13s. 6d. Scots.”! The title of Lord Somerville does
not occur in the Ranking of the Nobility of 1606. On 10
April 1611 Lord Somerville was served heir to his grand-
father, the fifth Lord, in the eight-merk land of Braxfield
of old extent, in the barony of Braxfield.” After parting

! Memorie, ii. 31, 2 Carnwath Inventory, Bundle 5, Nos. 5,7,8. 3 Reg.
Mag. Sig., 1 August 1594, * Memorie, i. 168, 304. 5 Cf. Reg. Mayg. Sig.,
23 April and 21 September 1542, ¢ Cf. Crown charter to Robert, Master
of Dalzell, in liferent, and Gavin Dalzell in fee, 11 July 1635, <bid.
7 Memorie, ii. 36. 8 P. C. Reg., v, 453-454. ° Pitcairn, ii. 61. 1° Reg.
Mag. Sig., 8 September 1599, 1! Ibid., Crown charter to Mar, dated 2
August 1603; Memorie, ii. 79. 12 Retours, Lanark, 92.
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with his estates he lived on a small property he had bought
called variously Craftlenhead, Crastlandhead, and Oroft-
flathead,' in the parish of Cambusnethan, where he died in
1618, and was buried in the choir of the old church of that
parish. He married, in April 1592, Margaret, elder
daughter of James Somerville of Cambusnethan (‘ Velvet
Eye '), afterwards wife of Sir James Muirhead of Lauchope,”
and by her had issue:—

1. James, Master of Somerville, born after 1602, who is
said to have predeceased his father, being about
twelve years of age.

2. Robert, baptized as son of Gilbert Somerville of that
Ilk, 20 May 1604.*

3. Mary, born before her brother, remarkable for her
beauty and amiability ; * married, first, as his second
wife, to James, second Lord Torphichen (see that
title). By him, who died August 1617, she had no
issue. She married, secondly, before she was twenty,
as his first wife, William Douglas of Pumpherston,®
and died 15 May 1620, leaving issue one son, on
whose death s.p. 1682, the heirs of the body of the
first Lord became extinct.

4. Margaret. On 11 December 1621 her curators and the
Earl of Mar, as a friend of the family, complained to
the Privy Council that her mother and step-father
purposed to marry her to a young man destitute of
means and noways agreeable to her condition. She
was appointed to be placed under the charge of
James Primrose, Clerk of Council.® She was after-
wards married to Sir Humphrey Colquhoun of Balvie,
brother of Sir John Colquhoun of Luss, first Baronet,
but without issue.’

VIII. HuGH, eighth Lord Somerville, born about 1573, was
known as Somerville of Drum, having never assumed the
title of Lord Somerville ‘because he thought his fortune

L Memonrie, ii. 85, 396; Coltness Collection, 60. 2 Memonrie, ii, 396; cor-
recting i. 440. 3 Nisbet’s Heraldry, ii. App. 264; P. C. Reg., xii. 614,
4 Canongate Bapt. Reg. © Ibid.,61. ¢ Ibid. 7 Edin. Comm. Decreets,
9 June 1621. 8 P. C. Reg., xii.614. ° Twelfth Lord’s Petition to the King,
Robertson’s Proceedings, 110. 10 Memonrie, i. 477.
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not suitable to that dignity *: ! but if the right of succession
was to the heirs of line he would be excluded by the de-
scendants of the seventh Lord, who, according to Riddell,’
did not fail till shortly before 1723, and would thus have
excluded not only Hugl, but also Hugh’s son, grandson,
and great-grandson, the ninth, tenth and eleventh Lords.
At fifteen he was a Page of the Bedchamber to King
James vi® In implement of a contract dated 29 April
1593 he received from his father a conveyance of Gil-
merton, Drum, and Gutters to himself and the heirs-
male of his body, whom failing, to whatever persons
his father might nominate, but excluding his elder brother
Gilbert and the heirs of his body.! After being dispos-
sessed of Cowthally as above narrated (p. 25), he lived at
Drum without taking any part in public affairs. He sold
Gutters or Goodtrees, now called Moredun, about 1602 to
John Fenton of Fentonbarns.! He purchased from John,
Lord Holyroodhouse, the teinds of Gilmerton and Drum,
receiving a conveyance 6 April 1631. Iu the same year he
conveyed Drum to his eldest son.” He is described as
having an ‘unruly humour, which created him many
troubles,’ some of which are mentioned in the Memorie.®
On 1 December 1613 he was tried for killing a collier, but
was acquitted.’ He died in April 1640, and was buried in
Liberton church. He married, in August 1594, Margaret,
second daughter of Gavin Hamilton of Raploch. Her
grandson speaks in high terms of her,” but she seems to
have had some share of her husband’s ¢unruly humour,’
having had twice to find caution to keep the peace.” She
died 2 March 1644, having issue :—

1. JAMES, ninth Lord.

2. Gavin, who died some years before 1614."

3. Jean, married to James Tennant of Cairns (postnuptial

contract 11 October 1637 %), and left issue.
4. Margaret, who predeceased her father, without
issue.

! Memorie, 51. % Peerage and Consist. Law, 309. 3 Memorie, ii. 111.
4 Confirmed Reg. Mag. Sig., 3 February 1626. ° Memorie, ii. 146; Good’s
Hist. of Liberton, 117. © Confirmed Reg. Mag. Sig., 15 March 1636,
7 Twelfth Lord's Petition, Robertson's Proceedings, 111. 8 Memonrte, ii.

121. ° Pitcairn, iii. 259. ° Memorie, ii. 116. 1! P. C. Reg.,v.676; vii. 577.
12 Memorie, ii. 148, 13 Reg. of Deeds, pxxi. 96.
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IX. JaMEs, de jure ninth Lord Somerville, known like
his father as Somerville of Drum. Born at Cowthally
January 1595-96. His infancy and early youth were spent
at his maternal grandfather’s house of Raploch, from which
he attended Dalserf school. In 1611 he entered Edinburgh
University, where he remained three years. In 1614 he
went to Paris and joined his granduncle Sir John Seton’s
company in one of Louis XIII.’s regiments of Guards, where
he served for three years, when he returned to Scotland ;
but remained only six weeks, and then set out for Italy,
travelling through France and Switzerland. With two
companions he journeyed on foot from Paris to Rome.
Turning northward to Venice, he entéred the service of the
Republic, in which he remained for eighteen months, when
he finally returned to Scotland after an absence of two
years and nine months, having spent two months in London
on the way home.! On 19 April1631 he had a charter from
his father and mother by which they conveyed to him and
his wiie the lands of Gilmerton, and to himself the lands of
Drum.? After his marriage he lived four years at Middle-
mills, a house belonging to Lord Ross, son of his mother’s
sister, and then, having bought with his wife’s tocher
Pilrig’s Mailling, near Gilmerton, he took up his residence
there. In 1639 he joined the Covenanting army as a lieu-
tenant in Sir John Wauchope of Niddry’s company of the
Midlothian regiment. He was soon promoted major, and
at the siege of Edinburgh Castle he led the unsuccess-
ful assault on 12 June 1640. On the invasion of England
he was appointed Governor of Durham, where he remained
till the peace. In 1644 he was appointed lieutenant-colonel
of the regiment raised by the College of Justice, much to
the displeasure of the Harl of Leven, who wanted the post
for a relation of his own. On the marchsouthward he was
left by Leven to occupy Morpeth with five hundred men
but inadequate ammunition. Here he repulsed the assault
of Montrose, but surrendered the place on 29 May after a
siege of twenty days. He immediately returned to Edin-
burgh, but was ordered to report himself to Leven, then
with the Scottish army in Yorkshire, who made his conduct
the subject of a council of war, which absolved him from

1 Memorie, i. 127-175. 2 Confirmed 2 December 1645, Reg. Mag. Sig.




SOMERVILLE, LORD SOMERVILLE 29

all blame 3 July 1644. The same day lhe resigned his com-
mission, though urged by Leven to retain it or accept
another command. The next day he was present at Marston
Moor, but only as a volunteer, and on the following morn-
ing he had the pleasure of announcing to Leven that the
battle had been won after that general’s flight.! In 1647
he bought from Sir James Somerville the barony of Cambus-
nethan,’ of which so much had been alienated by subin-
feudation that all that remained in property was the Over
Mains, on which stood the dwelling-house, where he took up
his residence.® On 1 January 1651 he was present at
Oharles 11.’s coronation at Scone. His purchase of Cam-
busnethan occasioned embarrassment, and that estate,
along with his other lands, was apprised on 8 August and
12 October 1653.* 1In the same year he received a com-
mission from the Earl of Glencairn whom he joined, but
only to share in his capitulation to Monck the year follow-
ing. He then retired to Drum, but removed to Edinburgh
in 1658, where he spent the rest of his life.® 1In 16061 he
sold Cambusnethan to Sir John Harper, Sherifi-Depute of
Lanarkshire, from whom it passed to the Lockharts of
(Castlehill.,® He died on 3 January 1677, and was buried
in the Abbey Church of Holyroodhouse.” He married, 26
April 1631° (contract 5 April), Lilias, second daughter of
Sir James Bannatyne of Newhall, a Lord of Session.® She
died December 1675, aged sixty-seven, and was also buried
at Holyrood.” He had issue :—
1. JAMES, tenth Lord.
2. Hugh, born 1635, died 1647, buried in Bannatyne's
tomb, Greyfriars.
3. John, baptized 12 August 1637, dicd before 1647.
4. Thomas, baptized 12 September 1638, died 1647, buried
in Liberton Church.
5. Margaret, baptized 10 September 1633, married, and
left issue.
6. Mary, born 1639, died 1647.
7. Sybil, baptized 25 June 1640, died 1648. Her burial in
1 DMemorie, ii. 350. 2 Charter of resignation dated 11 February 1648,
Reg. Mag. Sig. % Memorie, ii. 377, 386. ¢ Ibid., 378; Reg. May. Sig.,
11 November 1653. 5 Memorie, ii. 467469. 6 Coliness Collection, 25 ;

Brown’s Hist. of Cambusnethan, 81 ; Memorie, ii. 386 note. 7 Ibid., ii.
474, 475. 8 Canongate Reg. ? Memorte, 183. 10 Ibid., 471.
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Cambusnethan churchyard was the occasion of a
bitter quarrel between her father and Sir Walter
Stewart of Allanton.’

8. Anne, baptized 26 June 1645, died 1647.

9. a daughter, married, died March 1677, leaving two
sons.
10. -——— a child baptized 28 June 1636, died young.*

X. JaMEs, de jure tenth Lord Somerville, born at New-
hall, baptized in Yester Church 24 January 1632; like his
father and grandfather was known as Somerville of Drum,
but Fountainhall mentions a rumour that he ‘minds to
assume the title of Lord Somervell as being the nearest.’?
At eight years of age he was with his father at the siege
of BEdinburgh QOastle. At eighteen he joined the Earl of
Eglinton’s troop in the King’s Guard of Horse. After the
defeat at Dunbar he was sent by Major-General Mont-
gomery to watch the movements of the Remonstrants under
Colonel Ker, and was present at Hamilton when they were
defeated by Lambert. He accompanied his father to the
coronation. When the Royal Army was on the march to
England, his betrothed, at his father’s instigation, invited
him to Corehouse, where he was detained by * kindly force.’*
Under his contract of marriage he was infeft in Cambus-
nethan, Gilmerton, Pilrig’s Mailling, and Gutters (sasine
registered 15 November 1651°). On his father’s retiring to
Drum he took the management of Cambusnethan Mains.
In 1663 he took up his residence at Drum.* He was on the
assize at the trial and acquittal of Sir Hugh Campbell of
Cessnock for treason 24 and 27 March 1684, and, with
Alexander Nisbet of Craigentinny and Sir Patrick Maxwell
of Springkell, complained of Sir George Mackenzie’s unduly
pressing a witness to bear testimony against the accused.
The Privy Council ordered a libel to be prepared against
them ; but this was abandoned on their declaring them-
selves sorry that offence was taken at their carriage.” On

1 Memorie, ii. 396. 2 It is hard to reconcile the statements in the
Memorie, ii. 184, 376, 474, with the list in Nisbet's Heraldic Plates taken
from the Register of Liberton. 3 Historical Notices, 6 March 1677, 149.
* Memorie, ii. 183, 233, 419, 450, 457. b Reg. Mag. Sig, 19 July 1653.

¢ Memorie, ii. 426. 7 Fountainhall's Decisions, i. 286, 290, 292; Chron.
Notes, 86 ; Hist. Notices, 519, 522, 527.
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4 January 1686 he was on the assize at the trial of Fletcher
of Saltoun for treason, and one of the four who were for
his acquittal.! It was he who wrote the Memorie of the
Somervilles so often above mentioned, which he inscribed to
his sons in 1679. The manuscript, in two folio volumes, lay
unpublished till 1814, when it was edited by Sir Walter
Scott. He died at Edinburgh 7, and was buried 9, February
1693, at Liberton.! He married, first (contract 17 Septem-
ber), on 13 November 1651, in Lesmahagow Kirk, Martha,
younger daughter of John Bannatyne of Oorehouse, born
1634, died 1676 ;° and secondly, Margaret, younger daughter
of Gavin Jamieson, in the Walkmyln of Calder. She sur-
vived him and married, secondly, James Drummond, Depute
Clerk of Petitions.* She was dead in 1726. By his first
wife he had issue :—

1. James Somerville, born at Corchouse 26 August,
baptized at Lanark Kirk 1 September 1652.°® On 8
July 1682, when riding home from Edinburgh, he
found two of his friends, Thomas Learmonth, son of
Thomas Learmonth, Advocate, and Hugh Paterson,
younger of Bannockburn, fighting with swords. In
trying to separate them he received a wound from
Learmonth with Paterson’s sword. Hedied twodays
after, having forgiven Learmonth and advised him to
fly, whichhe did.® He married, clandestinely, 3 June
1671, Elizabeth, daughter of George Graham, Mer-
chant, Edinburgh, for which, on 29 June of the same
year, he was sentenced to a fine of £500 and three
months’ imprisonment under the Act 1661, ¢. 34.” He "~
had issue :—

(1) JAMES, eleventh Lord, of whom hereafter.
(2) John, baptized 7 December 1676.
(3) Martha, born 20 May 1679,

2. John, born before 1655 ;¢ a captain in the service of the
States General of the United Provinces 13 June 1678;°
became lieutenant-colonel of his regiment before
1692 ; *® married Anna Maria Susanna Hasill, a Dutch
lady.

1 Hist. Notices, 691. 2 Lyon Office funeral entry. 3 Memorie,i. 13; ii.
431, 424, 460. * Retours, Gen., 27 December 1694. 6§ Memorie, ii. 462,

6 Fountainhall’s Decisions, i. 187; Historical Notices, 363. 7 Ibid., 23.
8 Memorie, 1. 18. ? Scots Brigade in Holland, i. 504. 10 Ibid., 518.
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3. George, born before 1656,' adjutant-general Foot
Guards, who was also married.’

4. —— another son, born before 1657, who ‘ came to man’s
estate.’®

By his second wife the tenth Lord had issue :—

5. Hugh, born 1688.

6. Margaret, born 1686.

XI. Jamzs, de jure eleventh Lord Somerville, who like
his three immediate predecessors was known as Somerville
of Drum, was baptized 29 November 1674, there being
present his father, and his paternal grandfather and great-
grandfather.® On 21 December 1682 he was served heir in
general to his father,’ and on 22 March 1695 he was served
heir in special to him in Drum, Gilmerton, and Pilrig’s
Mailling.” He died 4 December 1709, having married Janet,
daughter of Patrick Murray of Mount Lothian, captain in
the Earl of Tullibardine’sregiment, second son of Sir Patrick
Murray of Deuchar, by whom he had issue :—

1. JamEs, twelith Lord Somerville.

2. George, born 12 June 1701, captain of Dragoons. Like
his elder brother he was a friend of the poet Somer-
vile, who addressed some verses to him,® and be-
queathed to him his best horse, his diamond ring, and
his gold buckles and buttons.” A portrait of him by
Gainsborough, exhibited at Burlington House in 1886,
is in the possession of his descendant Arthur Fownes
Somerville, Esq. of Dinder.® He died 26 May 1782,
having married Elizabeth, eldest daughter and co-
heiress of Robert Hickes of Combe, Gloucestershire,
lord of the manor of Dinder, Somersetshire. She
died 6 July 1776, aged seventy-seven, and both are
buried in Dinder Church." He had issue :—

(1) William,born 1733. Matriculated at Balliol College, Oxford,

21 June 1750; B.A. 1754; M.A. 1757. Prebendary of Wells
1762. Tutor to his kinsman, Sir James Bland Burges, with

1 Memorie, i. 18. % Index to Genealogies, etc., in Lyon Office, Scot.
Record Soc. 3 Memorie, ii. 427. % Edin. Reg. & Memorie, ii. 470.
8 Retours, Gen. 7 Retours, Edin. 8 Ms. in the possession of Lady Head.
9 Will proved P.C.C.,3 September 1742. 1 Catalogue of Royal Academy’s
Winter Exhibition, 1886, No. 32, 11 Phelps's Hist. of Somersetshire, ii.
194, 196.
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whom he travelled on the Continent in 1733, and who de-
scribes him as a good clergyman and an excellent farmer.!
Vicar of Bibury and Rector of Aston Somervile 1774. Died
without issue 25 June 1803, having married, in June 1777,
Jane, daughter of Lione! Seaman, D.D., Archdeacon of
Taunton, and granddaughter of Edward Willes, Bishop of
Bath2 and Wells. She died 3 December 1830, aged seventy-
flve.

(2; James, captain in the 68th Regiment of Foot, died 1764.

(8) Mark, lieutenant H.M.S. Rochester. Killed, in the twenty-
second year of his age, on 11 September 1758 while bringing
off the troops from St. Cas, having received eight shots
through his breast. His portrait, by Gainsborough, isin the
possession of his sister’s descendant, Arthur Fownes Somer-
ville.

(4) Anne Vannam, married, as his second wife, to the Rev.
Thomas Fownes of Kittery Court, Devonshire, Vicar of
Brixham and Prebendary of Wells, 12 September 1764, and
died 31 March 1812. Her portrait, by Gainsborough, isin the
possession of her descendant, Arthur Fownes Somerville,’
whose grandfather took the name of Somerville by Royal
Licence in 1831.

®) Elizal;eth Maria, born 1737, died, unmarried, 29 November
1817.

3. Patrick, baptized 16 August 1703, and
4. John, born 23 December 1705; both died without
issue.
5. Euphemia, born 26 June 1696, died unmarried.
6. Elizabeth, born 8 May 1699, died unmarried.
Two or three other children.
Of these eight or nine children six only were living
on 2 February 1711,

XII. JamEs, twelfth Lord Somerville, restorer of the
fortunes of his family, baptized 25 January 1698. At the
age of twelve he was left an orphan with an income of
‘betwixt 4 and 5000 merks by year,” about one-third of
which he was required to pay for the maintenance of his
brothers and sisters.® On 19 September 1715 lLe was
served heir in special to his father in the lands of Drum,
Gilmerton, and Pilrig’s Mailling. In 17217 he resolved to

1 Bland Burges Papers,35. 2 Phelps,ii.193,194. 3 Cat. Royal Academy
Winter Exhibition, 1886, No. 24. ¢ M. L., Phelps, ii. 196. ° Fountain-
hall’s Decistons, ii. 633; cf. Scott’s concluding note to the Memorie, ii.
479, where the income is given as about £300 a year. ° Services of Heirs.
7 Somerville v. Lord Somerville, Reports of Casesin Chancery, by Francis
Vasey, Yr., v. 751.

VOL. VIII. Cc
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push his fortune at Court, and, repairing to London attended
by an old and confldential servant of the family, he took up
his residence in an obscure lodging at Kensington, but
contrived in public to make some show befitting his rank,’
and soon obtained a commission in the Dragoons.* On 1
June 1721, at a keenly-contested election of a Scottish
Representative Peer, he claimed to vote as heir to the
Lord Somerville who stood on the rolls of Parliament in
1579, and offered instantly to produce sufficient documents
in support of his claim. This was objected to on the
ground that there was no patent of the Peerage extant,
that the destination to heirs was unknown, and that no
Lord Somerville had been on the rolls of Parliament for
more than a hundred years past, nor any such Lord ranked
in the Decreet of Ranking of the Peers of Scotland in 1606.
The clerks refused to administer the oath and receive the
claimant’s vote on the ground that the Peers present did
not agree that he was entitled to the right acclaimed by
him as Peer, and because his name did not appear in the
rolls of Parliament delivered to them.* On 13 February
1722 Lord Somerville procured himself served heir in general
to Gilbert, seventh Lord, frater atavi sui.* At the elec-
tion on 21 April of that year the Earl of Bute craved that
Lord Somerville’s name should be added to the roll of
Peers ; but the clerks declared that, as he was not on the
roll at the time of the Union, they did not conceive them-
selves empowered to add him to the roll: against which
the Harl of Bute protested. At the next election, however,
which was held on 15 August 1722, the name of Lord
Somerville appears in the scheme of election after Lovat,
and before Torphichen, and his list was received. He also
presented a petition to the King, setting forth that as male
descendant and right lineal heir of Gilbert, Lord Somer-
ville, he had right to the honour, title, and dignity of Lord
Somerville. On 25 May 1723 the matter was referred to
the Committee for Privileges. On 27 May the Earl of
Findlater reported that the Committee found that the Lord

1 Selections from the Letters and Correspondence of Sir James Bland
Burges, Bart., edited by James Hutton, London, 1885, p. 5. 2 Memorie,
il 479. 3 Proceedings relating tothe Peerage of Scotland from January
16, 1707, to April 29, 1788, by William Robertson ; Edinburgh, 1790, pp. 85,
86, 95, 96, 97. 4 Services of Heirs.
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Somerville was enrolled as present in Parliament the 15
February 1524, and was from that date to 13 July 1587
found in the Parliament Rolls. That the Lord Somerville
who then sat in Parliament was called Hugh, Lord Somer-
ville, and had two sons, Gilbert and Hugh: that Gilbert
was also designed Lord Somerville in several authentic
writings produced to the Committee : that Gilbert’s issue
had failed, and that the petitioner in a connected progress
had been served heir to him, by which it appeared that the
petitioner was both heir-male and heir-general of Gilbert.
The resolution and judgment of the House of Peers was
that James, Lord Somerville, had a right and title to
the honour and dignity of Lord Somerville, and ought to
be placed in the List or Roll of Peers in Scotland in
the place in which his ancestor the Lord Somerville sat
in Parliament the 15 of February 1524, preserving to
him and all other Peers of Scotland their rights and
places, upon further and better authority showed for the
same. At the election of 13 June 1723 Lord Elibank, for
Lord Somerville, protested that by further search in the
records of Parliament it was found that the Lord Somer-
ville sat in the Parliament 1469 as a Lord Baron, and in
several other subsequent Parliaments before the said
Parliament in February 1524, which was omitted to be laid
before the Peers, and that instead of being, as he was,
ranked after the Lord Ross, and those ranked before Lord
Ross, he ought to be ranked before all those Lords Barons
who were then ranked before him. At the election of 20
September 1727 Lord Somerville, being personally present,
repeated the protest himself.? In 1724 Lord Somerville
married a lady of fortune whose wealth enabled him to
improve and develop his ancestral estate, which he managed
with such prudence and energy, that he trebled its revenue
without taking into account the handsome income from
collieries, stone quarries, and sandpits which he opened
and worked. He resided with his wife on her estate till
1726, when he returned to Scotland. On 8 October 1728 he
received the freedom of the city of Glasgow.? He pulled
down the old house of Drum and erected the present

1 Robertson’s Proceedings, 102, 108, 110, 111, 113, 114, 117, 118, 123,
3 Burgess Ticket in the possession of Lady Head.
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mansion, after the design of William Adam of Marybury,'
laid out the grounds, and dispensed a generous hospitality.*
He was the friend of Allan Ramsay and William Somervile,
the Poet of the Chase and representative of the ancient
English family of Somervile. In return for financial assist-
ance the latter, in 1730, assigned to him the reversion of
his estates of Edstone, in Warwickshire, and Aston Somer-
vile, in Gloucestershire, which came into Lord Somerville’s
possession on the poet’s death in 1742.° He sold Edston to
pay the poet’s debts, but retained Aston Somervile, which
had long been in the possession of the English family.
After the death of his first wife he further improved his
fortune by marrying another lady of wealth. At the
general election of 1741 he was elected a Representative
Peer, and in 1744 he was appointed a Lord of Police.*
Being a prominent adherent of the House of Hanover he
had his mansion of Drum, then called Somerville House,
plundered in 1745, when Edinburgh was occupied by the
army of Prince Charles Edward. The stolen effects were
recovered by the villagers of Gilmerton, with loss of life on
both sides, and Lord Somerville received an apology from
the Prince with an officer’s guard for his protection.® There
was in the possession of his great-granddaughter, the Hon.
Mrs. Ralph Smyth, an order in the Prince’s name, dated
23 September 1745, granting a special protection to the
house and place of Somerville. Lord Somerville died at
Drum 14 December 1765. He, who is described by his grand-
son, Sir James Bland Burges, as ‘beyond measure crazy
after matrimonial alliances,’® married, first, 18 September
1724, Anne, only daughter of Henry Bayntun of Spye Park,
Wiltshire, by Lady Anne Wilmot, eldest daughter of the
famous John, Earl of Rochester. She was then the widow
of Edward Rolt of Sacombe Park, Hertfordshire. There is
a portrait of her in the possession of Sir Archibald Lamb,
Bart. She died at Drum 24 October 1734;’ and Lord
Somerville married, secondly, on 27 April 1736, at St. Greg-

1 Vitruvius Scoticus, where it iscalled ‘Somerville House’ ; MacGibbon
and Ross’s Castellated and Domestic Architecture of Scotland, ii. 560, v.
567. 2 The Bland Burges Papers, 6-13; Boswell’s Life of Johnson, ed.
1835, viil. 19. 3 Memoir of William Somervile in Dict. Nat. Biog. * The

Bland Burges Papers,7,9. & Ibid. © Ibid.,13. 7 Admon. 31 March
1785.
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ory’s, London, and 6 May following at Kirkcudbright,
Frances, fifth daughter and coheir of John Rotherham of
Much Waltham, Essex, and widow of Peter Curgenven, an
East India merchant.! She died at Drum 13 May 1755.
Will dated 6 February 1755, proved 14 November 1757.
By his first wife he left issue :—

1. JAMES, thirteenth Lord Somerville.

2. Hugh, born in Scotland 1729. When a boy at school
near Edinburgh he took refuge in the island of Inch-
keith to escape being pressed into the Highland
army.® He was captain 2nd Dragoon Guards 1753,
major 16th Light Dragoons 1759, took part in the
capture of Valenza d’Alcantara under Brigadier-
General Burgoyne 1763 ; died at York House, Clifton,
7 May 1795, and was buried in Old Weston Church,
near Bath.® He married, first, at Lydiard, near
Taunton, 23 November 1763, Elizabeth Cannon,
daughter of Sir Christopher Lethbridge, Bart., of
Westaway, Devon. She died 11 October 1765, and
he married, secondly, 21 April 1778, Mary, eldest
daughter of the Hon. Wriothesley Dighy of Meriden,
Warwickshire, younger son of William, fifth Baron
Digby of Geashill, by Mary, daughter of John Cotes,
Esq. of Ootes and Woodcote, Salop.” She died 8
September 1794, aged forty-four.®

By his first wife he had issue :(—

(1) Jorx SouTHEY, fourteenth Lord Somerville.
and by his second wife :—

(2) Hugh, born 13 January 1779, entered the East India Com-
pany’s service in Bengal 1794, Married 25 December 1807
Amicia, daughter of George Heming of Weddington, War-
wickshire, and died without issue at Bhauglepore, Bengal,
13 January 1808, His widow died at Rivers Street, Bath,
22 January 1859. :

(3) MARK, fifteenth Lord Somerville.

(4) KENELM, sixteenth Lord Somerville.

(5) William, born 14 October 1789, wasfor a time an officer in the
Royal Navy,? and, afterwards taking holy orders, became
Rector of Barford, Warwickshire. Married, 5 May 1830

1 Complete Peerage. 2 Morant’s Hist. and Antiq. of Essex, ii. 88.
3 Scots Mag. * Complete Peerage. ° The Bland Burges Papers, 10.
6 M.I. Weston Church. 7 Ruvigny’s Plantagenet Roll, table xii. (Essex
vol.). 8 M.I. Weston Church. ® Memorie, ii. 486.
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Charlotte, daughter of the Rev. Walter Bagot of Blithfield,
Staffordshire. He was drowned at Birkenhead on 6 July
1857 when going to visit his son Aubrey John, afterwards
eighteenth Lord, then fourth mate of the Donald M‘Kay,
Australian packet ship, and was buried at Barford. By his
wife, who died at East Hampstead on 24 October 1865, aged
sixty-five, and was also buried at Barford, he had issue :—

i. Walter Digby, born 17 December 1831; died at Paris,
unmarried, 17 May 1865. ’

ii. William Everard, born 3 July 1833; matriculated at -

Christ Church, Oxford, 3 June 1852 ; graduated B.A.
1856; clerk in holy orders. Died, unmarried, 6 Sep-
tember 1868, and was buried at Ripon.

iif, Reginald Hugh, born 16 December 1836; lieutenant in
the Royal Welsh Fusiliers; killed in the assault
before Sebastopol 8 September 1855.

iv. AUBREY JOHN, eighteenth Lord Somerville.

v. Augustus, born 8 August 1840; died 7 April 1869, buried
at Ripon.

(6) Mary, born 27 April 1780, married to the Rev. Charles Digby,
Canon of Windsor, by whom she had issue. Died at Bishop’s
Caundle, Dorset, 28 April 1834. Her husband died 23 June
1841,

(7) Frances, born 7 January 1782, married, as his second wife,
28 August 1838, to the Hon. William Booth Grey, second
son of George Harry, fifth Earl of Stamford and Warrington.
Died, without issue, 23 October 1849. Her husband died
28 March 1852,

(8) Harriet, born 23 May 1786, married, as third wife, 14 October
1816, to William, seventeenth Earl of Erroll,! who died
26 January 1819. By him she had issue, and died 28
January 1864.

(9) Julia Valenza, born 27 August 1792, married, 20 May 1816, to
the Right Hon. Sir Francis Bond Head, Bart., Lieutenant-
Governor of Upper Canada, who died 20 July 1875. She
died, leaving issue, 23 March 1879,

3. Ann Wichnour, born in England 12 September 1725.
She was god-daughter of Somervile the Poet, who
named her after an early possession of his family,’
and left her his ruby ring.* Through him the Somer-
vile portrait of Shakespeare, now the property of Sir
Stafiord Northcote, Bart., came into the possession
of her son.* On 23 December 1748 she was married,
under romantic circumstances, to George Burges of
Greyslee and Mortimer, Berkshire, aide-de-camp and
secretary to General Bland, Commander-in-chief in

1 Ct. vol. iii, 584 of this work. 2 Supra, p. 1. 3 Will, vide supra, p. 32
note, 4 Inguiry into the History, etc., of the Shakespeare Portraits, by
Abraham Wirall, 1827, p. 150.
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Scotland. The young officer had distinguished him-
self at Culloden by capturing the standard of Prince
Charles Edward’s bodyguard. Captain Burges was
afterwards receiver-general and cashier to the garri-
son at Gibraltar. In 1758 he was appointed Secretary
to the Excise and Receiver-general of the Duty on
Places and Pensions in Scotland ; in 1760 one of the
Commissioners of Excise; and in 1768 Comptroller of
the Customs. He died on 16 March 1786, having been
predeceased by his wife on 29 October 1778. There
is a crayon portrait and a miniature of her in the
possession of her great-great-grandson, Sir Archibald
Lamb, Bart. She left issue a son, afterwards Sir
James Bland Burges, Baronet, who latterly assumed
the surname of Lamb, and three daughters.

4. Elizabeth, born at London, 16 September 1737 ; died at
Holyroodhouse 1740.

XIII. JAMES, thirteenth Lord Somerville, born 22 June
1727 at Drum or Goodtrees.! He lived at Drum till nine or
ten years of age, attending school in Dalkeith, and after-
wards in Edinburgh. He was then sent to the Rev. Edward
Somervile, Rector of Aston Somervile, and brother of
William Somervile, the poet, chiefly to avoid the northern
dialect. In June 1742 he went to Westminster School,
which he left at Christmas 1743, and went to Caen in Nor-
mandy, where he continued his education till 1745, when,
being sent for by his father, he returned to Scotland and
joined the army as a volunteer.!? He was aide-de-camp to
Sir John Oope at Prestonpans, and to General Hawley at
Falkirk and Culloden. In the ravages which succeeded
that battle he behaved with more humanity than his
superiors in command.” He was captain 2nd Dragoon
Guards 1751, major 1761, and quitted the Army in 1763.*
On 11 February 1766 he was served heir of line in general
to his father, and on 27 August of the same year heir in
special to his father in the lands of Drum with manor-
place, Gilmerton, West Park of Oolintoun and nine acres

. ! Somerville v. Lord Somerville, after cited. 2 Ibid. 3 The Bland
Burges Papers, 10. * Somerville v. Lord Somerville, after cited.
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adjacent, and in the church lands of Hailes called Spylaw.!
He was elected a Representative Peer 7 August 1793.
Aston Somervile yielded him £1000 a year, Drum £2500,
and he held between £50,000 and £60,000 in the funds.? He
died suddenly at his house in London, unmarried, and in-
testate 19 April 1796, and was buried in the chancel of
0Old Weston Church, Bath.! Admon. 7 May 1796. There is
a portrait of him in the possession of Sir Archibald Lamb.

XIV. JoHN SOUTHEY, fourteenth Lord Somerville, born
21 September 1765, at Fitzhead Court, near Taunton, Som-
ersetshire; educated at Harrow. He afterwards spent
three years with a tutor at Peterborough, and on 28 June
1782 was entered as a fellow commoner at St. John’s College
Cambridge ; graduated Master of Arts 1785. Travelled on
the Continent with Francis, fifth Duke of Bedford, return-
ing home before the end of 1786. He then undertook the
cultivation of a poor farm in Somersetshire, part of an
estate inherited from his mother, which he converted into
a valuable property. Sir Walter Scott says that about the
year 1790 he nearly purchased the chiteau and dependencies
of Somerville in Normandy ; but the state of property be-
coming disturbed by the Revolution, the idea was relin-
quished.* 'When this country was threatened with a French
invasion he received command of a hundred Somersetshire
yeomen, and was subsequently appointed colonel of the
West Somerset Yeomanry. On 2 December 1796 he was
served heir in general.to his uncle the thirteenth Lord, and
also heir in special to him in the lands of Drum, Gilmerton,
Pilrig’s Mailling, Stenhouse, and others; and on 8 January
1800 he was served heir in special to his great-great-great-
grandfather, James Somerville of Drum, in the teinds of Gil-
merton and Drum.* Between 1800 and 1809 he sold in several
lots all his lands in Midlothian.® On 16 April 1796 he was

1 Services of Heirs. ? Somerville v. Lord Somerville, 1801; Reports
of Cases in Chancery, by Francis Vesey Younger, v. 751, where it
was held that his domicile was Scottish. 3 M.I. at Weston Church.
* Edin. Weekly Journal, 27 October 1819, reproduced in Scott's Miscel-
laneous Prose Works, 1827, iv, 853. This later account of these negotia-
tions differs materially from the earlier one contained in Scott’s conclud-
ing note to the Memorie, ii. 484, As to the probable situation of the
estate in question, vide supra, p. 1. & Services of Heirs. © Liberton
in Ancient and Modern Times, by George Good, Edinburgh, 1893, 102.
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elected a Representative Peer, and was re-elected in 1802
and 1806. On 23 March 1798 he was elected President of
the Board of Agriculture, and on 19 March 1799 he was
unanimously re-elected. Inthe same year he was appointed
a Lord of the King’s Bedchamber. On 11 December 1798
he was elected President of the Bath and West of England
Society. He was also an original member of the Smithfield
Club, and a Vice-President from 1814 to 1819. He devoted
much attention to the breeding. of pure Merino sheep in
England, and crossing with that strain the breeds of Rye-
land and Southdown. He advocated the use of oxen for
ploughing, and the sowing of corn by drilling instead ot
broad-casting. He also outlined a scheme for the collec-
tion of small weekly sums for old-age pensions. He in-
vented improvements in the construction of ploughs and
agricultural carts; and held an annual agricultural show
from 1802 till within a few years of his death. At his
Scottish residence, the Pavilion, Roxburghshire, which he
purchased about 1805, he was the neighbour and intimate
friend of Sir Walter Scott, who makes frequent reference to
his salmon-spearing, one of the many forms of sport in
which he excelled.! Lord Somerville’s published writings
include Short Address to the Yeomanry of England by
John Southey Somerville, Bath, 1795 ; The System followed
during the last two Years by the Board of Agriculture,
by John, Lord Somerville, 2nd edition, 1800, and Observations
on Sheep, Wool, etc., 3rd edition, 1809, A portrait of him,
painted by Samuel Woodforde, R.A., is at Matfen Hall,
Northumberland, the seat of Sir Hugh Douglas Blackett,
Bart. It was engraved in 1800 by James Ward, R.A. Lord
Somerville died at Vevey on 5 October 1819 and was buried
at Aston Somervile (will dated 22 September 1813 to 16
December 1815, proved 19 March 1820%). Being unmarried,
his maternal property in Somersetshire reverted to Sir
Thomas Lethbridge, Bart.*

1 Introductory Epistle to the BMonastery; Lockhart's Life of Scolt,
cap. 35. Character of the late John Lord Somerville in Scott’s Mis-
cellancows Prose Works above cited. * Complete Peerage. 3 Much
of the above information in regard to the fourteenth Lord is derlved
from a Memoir by Sir Ernest Clarke in the Journal of the Royal Agri-
cultural Society of England, third ser., viii. 1897. See also Dict.
Nat. Biog.
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XV. MARK, fifteenth Lord Somerville, born 26 October
1784, was sometime an officer in the Royal Artillery.! On
21 February 1820 he was served heir of conquest in special
to his brother consanguinean John Southey, fourteenth Lord,
in the lands of Nunbank, Redpath, part of the lands of
Gattonside, Easter Langlee, Gateside and others in Ber-
wickshire and Roxburghshire.? He died, unmarried, at The
Hall, Berkhampstead, Hertfordshire, 3 June 1842, and was
buried at Berkhampstead. Will proved July 1842.

XVI. KENELM, sixteenth Lord Somerville, born at Bath
14 November 1787, educated at Rugby, an officer in the
Royal Navy 1801, commanded the Thames on the coast of
America, and was officially recommended for his services
during the expedition up the river Patuxent.®* On 10 June

1843 he was served heir in general to his brother Mark, .

fifteenth Lord.* Rear-Admiral 1846.° Died at Newbold
Comyn, Warwickshire, 19 October 1864, and was buried at
Aston Somervile. He married, 3 September 1833, Frances
Louisa, only daughter of John Hayman, Esquire. She died
at Granville Place, Marylebone, 18 November 1885. He
left issue :—

1. HueH, seventeenth Lord Somerville.

2. Frederick Noel, lieutenant, Rifle Brigade, born 8
October 1840. Died, unmarried, 8 January 1867, and
was buried at Hinton, Hampshire. ’

3. Louisa Harriet, born 11 January 1835, married, 21
October 1871, to Charles Stewart Henry, colonel,
Royal Horse Artillery, who died 5 October 1892. On
24 January 1871 she presented a petition to the
Sheriffof Chancery prayingto be served nearestandlaw-
ful heir of provision in special to Aubrey John, the last
Lord Somerville in his estates in Roxburghshire and
Berwickshire, under her father’s disposition and deed
of destination and settlement dated 23 January 1857,
by which he disponed these estates to the Hon. Hugh
Somerville, his eldest son; whom failing, to the per-
sons who should successively have right and succeed
to the title of honour and Peerage of Somerville ;

! Complete Peerage. 2 Services of Heirs. 3 Complete Peerage. * Ser-
vices of Heirs. ® Nisbet’'s Heraldic Plates.
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whom failing, to the heirs of the said Hugh Somer-
ville’s body; whom failing, to the Hon. Frederick
Noel Somerville, the granter’s second son ; whom fail-
ing, to the heirs of his body; whom failing, to any
other lawful son or sons who might be procreated of
the granter’s body in the order of seniority, and the
heirs of their bodies respectively ; whom failing, to
the petitioner, the granter’s eldest daughter ; whom
failing, to the other heirs mentioned in said deed.
‘On 3 May 1871 she presented an amended petition
praying to be served as nearest and lawful heir of
provision in special under said deed to Aubrey John
Somerville described as having assumed the title and
honour of the Peerage of Somerville. On 3 March
of the same year, 1871, the Rev. Alexander Neil
Somerville, Minister of Free Anderston Church in
Glasgow,' presented a petition for service as cousin
in the ninth degree or thereby and nearest and law-
ful heir of provision in special under said deed to the
said Aubrey John in the said lands, setting forth a
descent from James Somerville, second son of James,
sixth (fifth) Lord Somerville? On 10 November
1871 Thomas Taylor Somerville of Tipton County,
State of Tennessee, U.S.A., petitioned to be served
as cousin in the twelfth degree or thereby, and nearest
and lawful heir of provision in special under the said
deed, to the said Aubrey John in the said lands, set-
ting forth a descent from John, third (second) Lord
Somerville ®* through, inter alios, his second son, Sir
John Somerville of Cambusnethan, and James, second
son of Sir James Somerville, sixth Baron of Cambus-
nethan.! On 8 January 1872 the Sheriff of Chancery,
under direction of the Court of Session, served the
Hon. Mrs. Henry in terms of her petition, thus
giving her the property of the estate in question.

4. Emily Charlotte, born 29 July 1836 ; married, 29 April
1860, to the Rev. Thomas Bond Bird Robinson,

1 Dr. Somervilie’s Life, under the title of 4 Modern Apostle, by George
‘Smith, LL.D., was published in 1890. 2 Cf. supra, p. 21. 3 The later
degrees of descent set forth by these two claimants are ngen in The
‘Genealogist, new ser., xiii. 166. * Services of Heirs.
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Rector of Milton, Lymington, Hampshire, who died
in 1897.

5. Mary Agnes, born 19 December 1837; married, 18
June 1872, to Sir Theophilus William Biddulph, Bart.
of Westcombe, Kent, who died 1 March 1883. She
died 16 June 1889, leaving issue.

6. Selina Constance, born 21 November 1841; married,
6 August 1861, to Ralph Smyth, captain 17th Foot,
eldest son of Robert Smyth, Hsq. of Gaybrook, co.
Westmeath, who died, without issue, 20 November
1890. She died in London 13 January 1910.

7. Julia Frances, born 24 May 1844 ; married, 23 Novem-
ber 1871, to Sir Edward William Blackett, Bart., of
Matfen Hall, Northumberland, C.B., major-general,
who died 13 September 1909 ; and has issue.

XVII. HueH, seventeenth Lord Somerville, born at
Leamington, Warwickshire, 11 October 1839; educated at
Eton and Ohrist Church, Oxford ; lieutenant Warwickshire
Yeomanry Cavalry; unmarried; killed by a fall from his
horse when hunting near Kilworth, Leicestershire, 17
November 1868. Buried at Aston Somervile.

XVIII. AUBREY JOHN, eighteenth Lord Somerville, son of
William Somerville and great-grandson of the twelfth
Lord, assumed the title as heir-male; he was born 1
February 1838 at Meriden, Warwickshire; educated at
Rugby. Sometime of Port Macquarie, New South Wales.
On 14 February 1870 he was served heir of provision in
special to his uncle Kenelm, sixteenth Lord, in the
Pavilion estate, Roxburghshire, and the lands of Redpath,
Comfortlee, and others, Berwickshire.! He died, unmar-
ried, 28 August 1870, and was buried at Aston Somervile,
where his monument in the church bears that he was the
premier Baron of Scotland, and that at his death the title
became extinct. It has at least since then been dormant.
Will proved under £9000.> The estate of Aston Somervile
was sold to John Whitehead, Esq. of Evesham, on 11 July
1871 for £47,600.

1 Services of Heirs. * Complete Peerage.
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CREATION.—Between 28 June and 3 July 1445.

ARMS.—Azure, seven cross crosslets fitchée between
three mullets or. So in the Lyon Register and in Nisbet’s
System of Heraldry, for Somerville of Drum; but for
Lord Somerville, Nisbet gives: Azure, three stars or,
accompanied with seven cross crosslets fitchée argent,
three in chief, one in the centre, two in the flanks, and the
last in base.!

OREST.—On a wheel or (argent in the Lyon Register) a
dragon (more frequently a wyvern) vert spouting fire
behind and before (in allusion to the ‘worme’ and the
manner of her slaughter, v. supra, p. 2).

SuPPORTERS.—Two hounds proper, collared gules.’

Mortro.—Fear God in Love.®
[e. w. ¢.]

1 Cf. Nisbet's Heraldic Plates, 130. 2 The three frogs that figure as
crest and supporters in the Hamilton MS. had probably allusion to the
situation of Cowthally in the midst of a great morass, ‘double ditched
with standing watter about it’ (Memorie, i. 356, 857 note, 360). The three
feathers above the frog in the crest may have signified the abundance of
winged game which made Carnwath moor a favourite royal hawking-
ground (ibid., i. 372). % The preponderance of authority is in favour of
this rather than the more recent and common form, Fear God tn Life,
which may have originated in mistaking luf for lyf.
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HE earliest known gene-
rations of the family of
Carnegie bore the name
of de Balinhard, a pro-
perty which was disponed
by the Abbey of Bal-
merino to a certain Joce-
lyn, who as Dominus
Jocelynus de Balinhard
appears twice c¢. 1230 in
perambulations con-
nected with the Abbeys
of Balmerino and Ar-

. broath, with Nicolaus de

N rM')\t. Inverpeter, an estate im-

WL LY. mediately adjoining Bal-

inhard.! According to

dates he may have been the father of John de Balinhard,
the first authentic ancestor of the family, but of this there
is no evidence. The earliest document relating to the
family which is on record is the abstract of a Crown-
charter of c. 1358, as follows :—‘David, etc. Sciatis nos
approbasse et hac presenti carta nostra conflrmasse dona-
cionem illam et concessionem quam quondam Walterus de

Maule fecit et concessit Joanni fllio et heredi quondam

Joannis filii Christini filii Joannis de Balnehard de terra de

Carrynnegy cum pertinentiis in baronia de Panmure infra

vicecomitatem de Forfar: Tenenda et habenda eidem

Joanni de Oarinnegy filio et heredi predicti quondam Joannis

filii Joannis (sic) et heredibus suis in feodo, ete.’?

1 Chartulary of Balmerino, Nos. 9 and 70, pp. 8 and 59; Reg. Veius de
Abirbrothock, No. 258, p.|{197. 2 Haddington collection of charters in
Advocates’ Lib.
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So far as can be ascertained, neither the original of this
donation nor of the Crown charter of conflrmation are in
existence, and they were probably destroyed by fire when
Kinnaird Castle was burned in 1452 by the Earl of Craw-
ford after the battle of Brechin.

Beyond what this abstract tells us, little or nothing is
known of the family of de Balinhard or their origin, but it
is clear that

JOHN DE BALINHARD, having acquired the lands of Oar-
negie, an estate in the parish of Oarmylie in Forfarshire,
about four miles westward of Balinhard, assumed from
them, according to custom, a new surname. He was in all
probability the father of

1. Jomn.

2. DutHAC, of whom afterwards.

JoHN UARNEGIE, second of that Ilk, who married and had

two sons :—

1. JoHN.

2. Walter de Carnegie, who on 21 July 1450 was one of
an inquest in Brechin concerning the right of the
city to hold a weekly market on every Lord’s day ;
his name follows that of John de Kernegy de eodem
and he is described as his brother,’

JOHN CARNEGIE, third of that Ilk, is mentioned in various
documents between 1438 and 1457, after which no mention
of him is found, but judging by dates, and from the fact
of the lands remaining in the family, he was probably the
grandfather of

JAMES OARNEGIE of that Ilk, who flourished from ec. 1500
to 1530. He is mentioned as witnessing a deed on 5 March
1500-1.> He married Isobel, a granddaughter of Robert
Liddell of Panlathie,' before 24 August 1513, on which date
they were infeft as spouses in the half lands of Oarnegie
on a precept of Thomas Maule of Panmure.® On 23

! Reg. Episc. de Brechin, ii. 19. 2 Reg. Nigrum de Aberbrothock, 12;
Reg. Episc. Brechin, i. 141; ii. 79. 3 Ibid.,i.226. ¢ History of Carnegtes,
by Sir W, Fraser. % Instrument of sasine at Panmure.
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July 1527, James Carnegie resigned his lands of Qarnegie
into the hands of Robert Maule his superior. He died
without issue before 1563, by which date Isobel Liddell had
married Thomas Douglas of Panlathie.!

DurHAC DE OARNEGIE is presumed to have been the
gecond son of John (de Balinhard) de Carnegie. Little is
known of him except that he witnessed a charter in Aber-
deen on 1 July 1363, and another deed at Glamis in 1367, in
which he is designated a burgess of the city of Aberdeen.’
He was the father of

1. DUTHAC.

2. Gilbert, a witness to deeds in 1409 and.1410.°

DuTHAC DE CARNEGIE, the younger, was born c. 1372.
He acquired the lands of Kinnaird, Carcary, and part of
Balnamoon. The earliest document in which his name
appears is a still extant wadset in his favour by Richard
Ayre, dated Eve of St., Michael (28 September) 1401, by
which, for an advance of ten merks, Duthac obtained a
letter of wadset of one-sixteenth part of Little Carcary,
one-eighteenth part of Kinnaird, and forty pence of annual-
rent of Balnamoon, in the county of Forfar." Eight years
later Duthac de Carnegie acquired the ‘lands of half of the
town of Kynnard and the superiority of the brewery of the
same,’ from Mariota of Kinnaird.® She resigned the lands
into the hands of the Regent (Duke of Albany), who re-
granted them to Duthac by a charter under the Great Seal
dated 21 February 1409-10.°

Mariota was one of three coheiresses, and is understood
to have married Duthac, conveying to him her portion of
the estate, but no evidence of the marriage is to be found.
The other two coheiresses married respectively David
Panter of Newmanswalls and William Cramond of Aldbar,
who were for some time joint lairds of Kinnaird, or parts of
it, with Duthac.” This estate has been held by the family
of Carnegie uninterruptedly since 1409, except for a period of

! Letters at Panmure. 2 Reg. Episc. Aberd., ii. 284, and 1367 deed at
Glamis. 2 Reg. Episc. Brechin, i. 85; ii.18. 4 Original letters of wadset
at Kinnaird. ¢ Old copy of the charter at Kinnaird. © Reg. Mag. Sig.
7 History of Carnegies, by Sir W. Fraser,
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about thirty years, whilst the lands were under forfeit after
the rising of 1715. In 1410 Duthac de Carnegie and his
two co-proprietors had a dispute with Walter, Bishop of
Brechin, concerning their respective rights to the moor of
Farnell. The Bishop had the best of the dispute, which
was decided by the Sheriff of Forfarshire. Inan instrument
relating to the moor Duthac is styled ¢ nobilis vir, Duthacus
(Oarnegy unus dominorum de Kynnarde.! The next year
Duthac espoused the royal cause when Alexander Stewart,
Harl of Mar, marched against the rebellious Lord of the
Isles, and on 24 July 1411 he was killed at the battle of
Harlaw. He was succeeded by his infant son,

WALTER DE OARNEGIE, second of Kinnaird. The first
mention of him on record is in a charter dated 8 January
1438-39, by which John ‘filius clerici’ son and heir of
Mariota Tenand conveyed ‘ consanguineo meo’ Walter de
QOarnegie one-sixteenth part of Little Carcary, one-eighth
of Kinnaird and his annualrents from Balnamoon.!? On
2 June 1446 the seal of ‘ Wat of Oarnegy’ was appended to
a lease by Janet of Ogilby of the lands of Marytown.?

Walter Oarnegie of Kinnaird appears as a juror at the
adjustment of the marches of Menmuir between the
Bishop of Brechin and John de Culace on 12 and 13 October
1450. In 1452 he took arms with the King’s troops under
the Harl of Huntly against the Earl of Crawford (Earl
Beardie), and after the battle of Brechin on 18 May of that
year Orawiford burned Kinnaird, and the family records
preserved there were destroyed. Walter complained of
this to King James 1I., who ordered an ‘Inquisition of
knowledge ’ into the circumstance, charging the Sheriff of
Forfar to make inquiry by inquest how Walter Carnegie
held these lands. A contemporary transumpt of the
verdict ® of the inquest states, ¢ That the elderis of Wat of
Carnegy held the landis of Kynnard and Litill Carcary with
thair pertinents liand in the thaynedome of ald Munroes
within the schirefedome of Forfare of the predicessovris of
ovre Lorde the Kynge and of ovre Lorde the King that

1 Reg. Episc. Brechin, i. 27, 29-32. 3 Original charter at Kinnaird ;

History of Carnegies, by Sir W. Fraser, Appendix, 514, 3 Reg. Episc.
Brechin, i. 108, * Ibid., i. 148-150. ® Kinnaird Writs.

VOL. VIIIL D
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now is, and [th]at the said Wat holdis the saidis landis of
the Kyng for the servise of the kepeing of the Kyngis ale
sellare within the schirefedome of Forfare, quhen the Kyng
hapings to reside thair and quhen he is lavfuly warnyt and
for a penny in name of blanche ferme an it be askyt. . . .’

It may be mentioned in this connection that it is probably
owing to the tenure on which Kinnaird is held, viz. keep-
ing the King’s ale cellar in Forfarshire, that the Earls of
Southesk bear a covered cup upon the breast of the eagle
of their armorial shield. The supposition which has ob-
tained almost universally that they are the ‘King’s cup-
bearers in Scotland’ seems to be supported by no docu-
mentary evidence, and there is no record of a claim having
been put forward at any sovereign’s coronation.

On 21 December 1461 Walter de Carnegie received a
charter of an annualrent of two merks out of the lands of
Cookstown,' and he died before 24 May 1479, on which day
his son John was infeft as his heir in the lands of Kinnaird
and Qarcary.’? It is not known whom Walter married, but
his wife was probably a Lindsay, as David, fitth Earl of
Orawlord, afterwards Duke of Montrose, calls John Car-
negie, Walter’s son, ‘ Richt wel belufit Cusing’ in a grant
of lands of Tulibirnys in 1480.) Walter had two sons:—

1. JonN, who succeeded him in Kinnaird and Carcary.

2. Walter, who with his father witnessed a declaration
concerning the marches of Menmuir on 13 October
1450.* This is the only mention of him known to be
in existence, and he probably died unmarried.

JOHN CARNEGIE, third of Kinnaird. He was infeft in
Kinnaird and Qarcary on 24 May 1479, and on 4 November
1480 he received the lands of Tulibirnys, in the lordship of
Glenesk, from the Earl of Orawford, ¢ during all the days of
the life of the Harl,’ in exchange for a letter of manrent
and service.* He lived a peaceful life, mostly at Kinnaird,
and died on or about 15 April 1508, as appears from the
‘retour of his son John as heir to him, which bears that the
lands had been in non-entry for the space of a month or

! Reg. Episc. Brechin, ii. 99. 2 Original document at Kinnaird.
3 Original grant at Kinnaird. % Reg. Episc. Brechin, i. 148, 150.
6 Original grant at Kinnaird.
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thereby before 16 May 1508." He married a lady of the
name of Waus, very probably of the family of Waus of
Many, and had issue, at least one son,

JoHN OARNEGIE, fourth of Kinnaird. He was infeft in
the lands of Kinnaird and Little Carcary on 7 June 1508,
and on 26 November of that year he gave ‘unum equum
grosii coloris venerabili viro domino Johanni Erskin vicario
de Abirlemno . . . pro le herzeld quondam Johannis Oarnegy
de Kynnaird sui patris.’? He took up arms on behalf of
King James 1v. during the invasion of England, which
terminated in the battle of Flodden, where he was amongst
the Scottish killed.

He married, before 15 March 1509-10, Euphame Strachan ;
on that date they, as spouses, received from Alexander
Jamesone a charter of his fourth-part of the lands of Cooks-
town, in the barony of Roscoby and shire of Forfar.® She
survived her husband, as appears from the retour of their
son Robert, dated 7 November 1513, when she was in pos-
gession of her terce. John Carnegie left one son and one
daughter :—

1. ROBERT, who succeeded.

2. Janet, married to William Maule of Auchrinnie, with

issue.

SIR ROBERT CARNEGIE, Knight, fifth of Kinnaird. He
was not of age when his father was killed, but nevertheless
was served heir to him, about two months after his death,
in virtue of the Act of 24 August 1513, which provided
that the heirs of those who fell in the campaign should be
entitled, even though under age, to enter heirs to their
ancestors, and without payment of the usual feudal
casualties. 5

During his lifetime Robert added largely to his posses-
sions in the county, where he acquired Ethie, Idvy,
Auchquhandlen, Fethies, Balnamoon and others, besides
properties in the counties of Edinburgh, Linlithgow, Fife,
and Aberdeen.! He also made large additions to the
mansion-house at Kinnaird. On 4 July 1547 he was ap-

" 1 Retour at Kinnaird. 2 Reg. Episc. Brechin, ii. 161. 3 Charter at
Kinnaird. ¢ Ibid.
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pointed a Senator of the College of Justice by the Regent,
the Harl of Arran, with the title of Lord Kinnaird, and
became a Privy Councillor at about the same time.!

In 1548 the Regent sent Robert Carnegie to England as
his special ambassador to treat for the ransom of the Earl
of Huntly, who had been taken prisoner at the battle of
Pinkie.? In this mission he was entirely successful, and on
his return Huntly, to show his gratitude, entrusted him
with the custody of the Great Seal; and when, in 1550,
Robert went to France, Huntly granted him a discharge of
all sums he had received for the Seal, and also assigned to
him the profits and duties of the Great Seal until his
return.’

In 1550 the Earl of Arran sent Robert Carnegie as Am-
bassador-Extraordinary to the French Court to thank the
King, Henri 11., for rendering assistance to Scotland in the
war against the English. He received for his travelling
expenses £500 Scots.*

Before going to Paris he had been one of the Commis-
sioners for Scotland to conclude the peace with England.
In 1553 he was appointed a Commissioner to treat with the
English concerning Border disturbances. He was knighted
between 18 September and 4 December 1553.° In 1556 he
was sent to England as ambassador, under letters of safe-
conduct from the King and Queen of England, by the new
Regent (Mary, Queen-Dowager of Scotland). The object
of this embassy was to appoint Commissioners to settle the
constant Border disputes, and to arrange for a permanent
peace. The Commissioners, of whom Sir Robert was
one, met at Carlisle in 1557, but it is doubtful if their
endeavours had much practical effect on Border war-
fare.

A few months before his death Sir Robert was appointed
by Queen Mary to treat with Queen Elizabeth regarding
the contemplated marriage with Darnley, but he did not
live to execute this mission., Sir Robert attended the
Privy Council Board with great regularity until within a

1 Senators of the College of Justice, 90; PitmeddenMs. 2 Lesly’s Hist.
of Scotland, 220-222, 3 Discharge at Kinnaird. ¢ High Treasurer's
Accounts, Register House, Edinburgh. & P.C. Reg.,i. 150; Cal. of Scottish
Papers, i. 193.
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month of his death.! He held the post of ‘ Clerk of our
Soueraine Ladyis Thesaurar’ in 1549-50, for which duties
his salary was £26, 13s. 4d.; he was also Collector-General
of Temporal Taxation during the Regency of Mary, Queen-
Dowager.

In addition to these public offices, Sir Robert had a gift
of the ward and marriage of Elizabeth Ramsay, the heiress
of Leuchars, in Fife, whose father had been killed in the
battle of Pinkie in 1547. She, when of age, was to marry
to the satisfaction of Sir Robert, which resulted in her
marriage to his second son David, thus bringing the lands
of Leuchars and Colluthie into the Carnegie family.

In 1565 Sir Robert resigned his lands of Kinnaird in
favour of his eldest son John, who obtained a royal charter
on 25 March of that year.?

Sir Robert made two wills, one on 1 April 1557, and the
other on the day of his death, 5 January 1565-66. The
second will is holograph of Mr. Jhone Ure, minister at
¢Luchris.’ It was confirmed by the Commissary of Hdin-
burgh on 26 June 1566. He left his widow ‘ Executrix and
onely intromissetrix with all his guddis and gair.’® Sir
Robert, who was buried in the church of Leuchars, was
survived by his widow, who lived till April 1571, leaving a
will, dated 10 of that month, in which she nominated her
eldest son, Sir John, and her second son, David, as her
executors. Sir Robert had married Margaret, a daughter
of Guthrie of Lunan, prior to 12 JJune 1527, when he resigned
the lands of Cookstoun for new infeftment in favour of
himself and Margaret Guthrie conjunctly.' Of this marriage
there were eight sons and eight daughters :—

1. SIR JOHN, who succeeded him in Kinnaird and Carcary.

2. DAvID of Oolluthie, who succeeded his brother Sir
John.

3. John of Many,in Aberdeenshire. He married Margaret,
daughter of John Waus of Many, who granted a
charter on 22 January 1556-57 to John Carnegy,
third son of Robert Carnegie of Kinnaird, Knight,
and to Margaret Waus, his spouse, in conjunct infeft-
ment, and the heirs of the marriage, of the lands and

1P. C. Reg., passim. *Reg. Mag. Sig. 3 Hist. of Carnegies, by Sir W,
Fraser. 4 Original discharge at Kinnaird.
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barony of Many and others.' John Carnegie resigned
the lands in favour of his brother Sir Johm, from
whom they passed eventually to David, Lord Carnegie,
who in 1618 sold them to a Mr. William Forbes. No
mention of any issue of his marriage has been
found. He raised an action of divorce against his
wife in 1565.°

4. Mr. Robert, who was preceptor of the Maison Dieu

at Brechin, and parson of the parish of Kinnoull, in
the county of Perth. He died in April 1597, at the
Grange of Balmerino, in Fife, leaving a will, dated 4
March 1595-96, in which he bequeathed all his per-
sonal estate to his brother, David Oarnegie of
Colluthie.®* Though he is usually said to have died
unmarried, the division of his estates by the Com-
missary into two parts raises a presumption that
he had a wife, and it may be noted that Elizabeth
Wemyss, daughter of Sir John Wemyss of that Ilk,
and widow of David Balfour of Monquhannie, is
in February 1593-94, styled wife ?t Mr. Robert
(Oarnegie.*

5. James, who received a charter of the lands of Bal-

machie from his brother David, dated 1 June 1563.
His wife’s name was Christian Bruce, and they as
spouses received, on 14 May 1575, from John Carnegie
of that Ilk (a natural son of Sir Robert), a charter
of eleven acres of arable land in Punderlaw, in the
barony and regality of Aberbrothock.? His death
occurred before 1 March 1597, when his son David is
styled ‘¢ of Balmachie.” He left four children :—

(1) David.

(2) John, who received 1000 merks by the will of David Carnegie
of Kinnaird, dated 19 April 1598. In 1599 he granted a dis-
charge for this sum.

(8) Margaret, married to Patrick Falconer.

(4) Agnes, married to Patrick Livingstone, brother of John
Livingstone of Dunipace.

David Carnegie succeeded his father in Balmachie. He
married Margaret Livingstone, and with her had, on 29
July 1599, a charter of novodamus of the lands of Balveny

! Confirmed 25 January 1556-57, Reg. Mag. Sig. * Edinburgh Commis-
sary Decreets, ii. 92, 3 Original will at Kinnaird. * Original Charter at
Panmure. 5 Reg. Mag. Sig.
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and Balglassie, in Forfarshire, on David’s resignation.!
Their great-great-great-grandson, James Carnegie, sold
Balmachie in the year 1772 to one Captain David Reid.?

6. Hercules, who died in 1565, had a son,
(1) David, who, in 1610, purchased from William Mauld of Edin-
burgh the lands of Cookstoun.? He left two sons:—

1. Alexander, who succeeded him in the lands of Cook-
stoun in the year1634. He married Margaret Living-
ston, by whom he had nine sons and five daughters.
Alexander’s great-grandson, David Carnegie, sold
Cookstoun in the year 1723.4

il. David, Dean of Brechin, who was born about 1594, pur-
chased the lands of Craigo, in Forfarshire, and was
the ancestor of that branch of the family. He died
In 1672, having married Helen, daughter of David
Lindsay, Bishop of Brechin; by her, who died 18
July 1656, he had issue :—

(i) David, who married a daughter of Lord Bal-
caskie, and died s.p.

(i) Mr. James, minister, first of Redgorton and
afterwards of Barrie; died 6 December 1701,
having married Ann Gardyne, who succeeded
him.

(iii) Mr. Robert, a minister, who died unmarried.

(iv) Agnes, married to Robert Paterson, Principal of
Marischal College, Aberdeen.®

In 1902, on the death of the last surviving Miss
Carnegie of Craigo, the estate passed to the late Sir
George Macpherson Grant of Ballindalloch.®

7. William of Leuchland, in the parish of Brechin. In his
father’s will, dated 1 April 1557, William is called his
youngest son, and being then under age, his brother
David was appointed tutor to him. On 15 June 1585
William Carnegie granted a discharge for the re-
demption of the lands of Oookstoun, which were
sold to him under reversion.” In 1612 he purchased
from David Lindsay of Edzell the ‘shadow hali’ of
the town and lands of Leuchland.®* He died before
17 January 1625, when his son Robert is referred to
as ‘of Leuchland,’® leaving two children, a daughter:

! Reg. Mag. Sig. ? For the intermediate generations of the family of
Carnegie of Balmachie, see Fraser's Carnegie Book, ii. 435. 3 Reg. May.
Sig., 2 August 1610. 4 For the intermediate generations of the Carnegies
of Cookstoun, see Fraser's Carnegie Book, ii. 437. 5 Hist. of Carnegies,
by Sir W. Fraser, ii. 348, ¢ For intermediate generations, see tbid., 438 et
seq. 7 Original discharge at Kinnaird. 8 Discharge by David Lindsay,
dated 24 September 1612, at Kinnaird. 9 Extract from Commissary
Register of Brechin 20 January 1625.
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Katherine, and a son Robert, who married Marjorie,
daughter of Wedderburn of Blackness, by whom he
had three sons and five daughters. Robert died in
1647.) Leuchland now forms part of the Kinnaird
estates.

8. George. Little is known of him, except that he

married and left a daughter Catherine. He died
before 2 November 1580, on which date Catherine
granted to her uncle, Sir John Carnegie of Kinnaird,
a letter of reversion of the ‘schaddow half’ of the
lands of Little Carcary, to which is appended her
seal showing an eagle displayed surmounting a barrel,
with the legend ¢S. Kat . .. Carnegy ’;* and on the
same date she granted him a discharge of certain
claims.?

9. Helen, married to William Lundie of Benholm. On

25 June 1551, they as spouses received a Crown
charter of the lands of Tullo and Inchmeddan in
Kincardineshire on William Lundie’s resignation.*
William Lundie died shortly after the marriage, and
she was married, secondly, to Robert Turing of
Foveran. She received, on 28 July 1580, a Crown
confirmation of a charter of the lands of Blackhillock
in liferent, granted by her husband in 1569. He is
described in the confirmation as ‘ quondam Robertus
de Foverne.’® She was married, thirdly, to John
Gordon of Glenbucket.*

10. Elizabeth, married (contract 7 August 1553) to Andrew

Arbuthnott of that Ilk.” She died on 28 October 1563.

11. Katherine, married to David Ramsay of Balmain.

They as spouses received a charter from King
James vI. of the lands of Wester Strath, dated 28
October 1576, and another charter of novodamus of
the barony of Balmain, dated 12 August 1588.° They
had a son David who succeeded to Balmain about
the year 1625. From him in the female line is
descended the present Sir Herbert Ramsay, Bart.,

1 Minute relative to the business of his heirs, dated 28 November 1649,
at Kinnaird. 2 Original reversion at Kinnaird. 3 Original contract at
Panmure. * Reg. Mag. Sig. © Ibid. © Protocol Book of J. Robeson, 22,
7 Cf. vol. i. 297. 8 Reg. Mag. Sig.
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of Balmain, as also was the late Dean Ramsay, of
Edinburgh, the author of Recollections of Scottish
Life and Character.

12. Isabel, married to Gordon of Glenbucket in Aberdeen-
shire.

13. Jean, married to Gilbert Reid of Collieston in Forfar-

. shire. They received a Crown charter of the lands
of Little Drumquhendill in Aberdeenshire on1 August
1548.

14. Mary, married to Strachan of Carmyle.

15. Christian, mentioned only in her father’s will of
1 April 1557, by which she received two special
sums of 400 merks each.

16. Margaret, married (contract 13 June 1565) to Sir
James Scrymgeour of Dudhope, Constable of Dundee.’
She died 9 January 1575-76.

" Besides these sixteen legitimate children Sir Robert

Carnegie left a natural son,

John Carnegie, sometimes designated of Seaton, but more
often °of that Ilk,” because he purchased, on 26 May
1564, the lands of Carnegie from Thomas Maule of
Panmure, whose father had acquired them from
James Carnegie of that Tlk in 1527 ;° he also acquired
the barony of Dunichen and the lands of Ochterlony
and Crechie.*

In 1570 John Carnegie was forcibly ejected from
Seaton by George Douglas, afterwards Bishop of
Moray, and a great company of soldiers. He raised
an action of spulzie in the Court of Session against
Douglasand the others; toaid him in which action he
applied for a special Act of Parliament, which was
granted on 29 November 1581.° John Carnegie died in
December 1604 ; and on 11 April 1649 David Carnegie
of Balmachie was served heir of tailzie to him in
eleven acres of Punderlaw and Deischland; the
lands had been in non-entry for forty-four years and
three months in the hands of the Marquess of Hamil-
ton, the superior.*

! Reg. Mag. Sig. ? Cf. vol. iii. 363. 3 Reg. Mag. Sig. * Baron Court
Book of Dunichen at Kinnaird. & Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 233. 8 Retours,
Forfar, 308,
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John married Qatharine Fotheringham about 16
April 1562, on which date she, as his future spouse,
was infeft in the lands of Punderlaw and others
in the parish of Arbroath.! By her he had three
children :

(1) Robert, usually designated ‘of Balnabreich,’ who married
Margaret, daughter of Patrick Ogilvy of Inchmartine. He
predeceased his father before 1593, without lawful issue,
though he left a natural son James, who witnessed a dis-
charge by Robert Carnegie of Dunichen on 31 July 1605.
This James obtained a legitimation on 10 February 1592-93.2

(2) Catherine, who was abducted whilst in Edinburgh by
James Gray, son of Patrick, Lord Gray, in 1593.3 She after-
wards was married to Sir John Hamilton of Lettrick.

(3) Marion, was married to Gilbert Gray of Bandirrane. Her
tocher was 3000 merks.

SIR JOHN CARNEGIE, sixth of Kinnaird and Carcary. Sir
John zealously espoused the cause of Queen Mary, joining
the army of the Earl of Huntly, for which offence his Castle
of Kinnaird was temporarily taken away from him by the
Regent, James, Earl of Moray,' and given into the custody
of James Halyburton, Provost of Dundee, and by him handed
over to John, Lord Glamis. In consequence of these mis-
fortunes Sir John received from Queen Mary a very gracious
letter of sympathy, dated at Chatsworth 9 June 1570.°
After the assassination of the Harl of Moray, the Queen’s
friends thought that there was an opportunity for a rising
in her favour, and a raid was organised for 1 October 1571,
in which Sir John does not seem to have taken part. He
apparently spent most of his life managing his property,
and died in February 1595-96.°

Sir John married, first, Agnes, daughter of David Wood
of Craig. They as spouses received a Crown charter of
the lands of Erlesfleld, Seggyden, and others in Aberdeen-
shire, dated 6 December 1546,” and also a charter of the lands
of Banquhry, Balbardy, and others in Fife, dated 12 Feb-
ruary 1549-50. By her, who died on 2 March 1586, he had
one daughter,

Margaret, married to Patrick Kinnaird of that Ilk. (See

l'Original Deed at Kinnaird. 2 Reg. Mag. Sig. 3 Pitcairn's Criminal
Trials, 207. 4 Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 62. ° Letter at Kinnaird. ¢ Edin.
Tests. 7 Reg. Mag. Sig.



CARNEGIE, EARL OF SOUTHESK 59

title Kinnaird.) She predeceased her husband before
5 February 1598.

Sir John married, secondly, Margaret Keith, daughter of
William, Master of Marischal, widow of William Keith,
younger of Ludquharn, by whom he had no issue. She sur-
vived her husband and was married, thirdly, to Sir William
Graham of Braco.!

Sir John had also an illegitimate daughter Margaret, to
whom letters of legitimation were granted on 28 July
1580.°

DAvip OARNEGIE of Colluthie, and seventh of Kinnaird
and Carcary. Having been provided by his father with the
estate of Panbride, in Forfarshire, he was for some time
designated ¢of Panbride,” but after he married Elizabeth
Ramsay, his father’s ward, he was known as ‘David of
Colluthie,’ which designation adhered to him till his death,
although he was three years in possession of Kinnaird.
Brought up to the law, David Carnegie was appointed on
many important commissions by King James vi. In 1578 he
was appointed one of the commissioners on the Laws,’ and
sat on many other commissions up to the time of his death.*
He was made a Privy Councillor 6 November 1588,° and
was re-appointed to the new Council under Chancellor
Maitland in 1592.° From 1580 till his death he took a
great interest in the affairs of the Church. He was one of
tlie King’s Commissioners to the General Assembly held at
Edinburgh 24 April 1583." He founded a bursary at the
Oollege of St. Leonard’s, in St. Andrews, and on 25 July
1592 obtained a Crown charter of the patronage of the
bursary, and of the lands of Middle Drummies and Green-
den for the support of the bursar.*

Early in 1596 David Carnegie was appointed one of the
Extraordinary Commissioners of the Exchequer, who were
known as ‘Octavians.” He died on 19 April 1598, possessed
of moveable estate of over £14,000. His will, dated 18
April 1598, is preserved at Kinnaird. Archbishop Spottis-
woode speaks of him as ‘Mr. David Carnegie of Colluthie,

! Ante, vol. vi. 49. 2 Reg. Mag. Sig. 3 Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 105.
¢ Ibid. 6 P. C. Reg., iv. 326, where he is erroneously called John.
8 Ibid., 750. 7 Calderwood’'s Hist., Wodrow ed. 8 Reg. Mag. Sig.
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a wise, peaceable, and sober man, in good credit and esti-
mation with the King, and taken into his Privy Council for
his skill and knowledge in civil affairs.’’ David Carnegie
married, first, Elizabeth Ramsay, who died about February
1566-67,? leaving two daughters:—

1. Elizabeth, who was served elder heir-portioner to her
mother on 31 July 1567, in her half of the lands of
Leuchars Ramsay, in Fife. On 14 November 1579
the Commissary of St. Andrews issued an act of
curatory narrating that she was past fourteen years of
age, and providing her with curators in the persons
of Sir John Oarnegie of Kinnaird, James Carnegie of
Balmachie, and John Carnegie of that Ik, her nearest
of kin, and the next day she was married to John
Inglis, younger, of Inglistarvit.* From one of her
daughters, Catherine, was descended George Martine
of Olermont, the genealogist. She conveyed her
half of Leuchars to her father in respect of large
sums which he had paid to her, and also in respect
that he had the right by virtue of the Courtesy of
Scotland, to brook and possess her whole lands during
his life.* Her tocher was £4000 Scots.® Her father
resigned the lands and received a Crown charter of
the barony of Leuchars Ramsay and others, on 23
January 1588, and was infeft the following March.’

2. Margaret. On 31 July 1567 she was served heir-
portioner to her mother in her half of the lands of
Leuchars, and conveyed them to her father by
charter dated 12 February 1582-83.° She was mar-
ried (contract 10 January 1582-83) to William, son of
Archibald Dundas of Fingask, in the county of Perth.
Her tocher was £4000 Scots. She died s.p. on 4 Sep-
tember 1589, and on 12 November following her sister
Blizabeth was served heir to her in the lands of
Balmedesyde and Pittaquhop.®

David Carnegie married, secondly (contract 4 October

! Spottiswoode’s Hist., folio ed., 455. 2 Inthe daughters’ retour,31 July

1567, she is said to have been dead about six months. 3 Refours, Fife, 63.
4 Contract, dated at Leuchars 15 November 1579, at Kinnaird. ® Extract
contract at Kinnaird. ¢ Discharge 7 January 1583, by Alexander Inglis, of

Inglistarvit, at Kinnaird. 7 Instrument of sasineatKinnaird. $Refours,
Fife, 64, ° Reg. Mag. Sig. '° Retour extract at Kinnaird.
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1568'), Buphame, daughter of Sir John Wemyss of that Ilk.
By her he had issue:—

3. Davip, first Earl of Southesk.

4. John, first Earl of Northesk. (See that title.)

5. Robert, afterwards Sir Robert Carnegie of Dunnichen.
He received a Crown charter, dated 1 March 1595-96,
of the lands of Dunnichen, Ochterlony, Crawquhy,
Newton, and Corstoun, which his father resigned in
his favour. He also acquired Nether Caraldstane,
near Brechin.? On 31 July 1605 he granted a dis-
charge to his brother David of all he could claim at
his father’s death.* He married Isabel (contract 23
and 30 July 1623), the youngest daughter of Patrick,
Lord Gray, with a tocher of 8000 merks. He died
s.p. in December 1632, when his eldest brother in-
herited the barony of Dunnichen, and the second
brother, John, received Nether Oareston.*

6. Alexander, who in 1628 is designated of Vayne.®* He
had charters of the half lands of Ballinbreich, Hal-
town of Menmuir and Pitforkie.* On 3 March 1632
he acquired the lands and barony of Balnamoon from
John Collace.” He had acquired Oareston before
1631, for on that date he is mentioned as proprietor
in a grant of the teinds to the church there.* He
received the honour of knighthood, and died in
October 1657, having married Giles Blair of Baltha-
yock, by whom he had two sons :(—

(1) David, who predeceased his father.

(2) John, second of Balnamoon, who was a man of extravagant
tastes, and was obliged to sell Careston to Sir John Stewart
of Grantully, He was knighted ; married, first (contract
23 November 1642), Elizabeth, daughter of James, Earl of
Airlie, by whom he had a son :—

i. JAMES, of whom afterwards.

Secondly,? he is said to have married a daughter of
Graham of Claverhouse, and had by her a son :—

ii. Alexander, who was a captain in the Earl of Dum-
barton’s regiment in France, and afterwards Sheriff

1 Wemyss Castle Writs. * Reg. Mag. Sig. 3 Original discharge at
Kinnaird. * Retours, Forfar, 369, 371. 6 Fraser, Carnegte Book, ii. 431.
¢ Reg. Mag. Sig., 31 December 1505, 7 December 1633, 10 March 1642.
T Ibid. ® Reg. Episc. Brechin, ii. 811. ° Macfarlane’s Gen. Col., il. 181.
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of Angus 1684-87.) He dled 1691, having married Jean
Erskine, daughter of James, Earl of Buchan, with
issue.

Sir John Carnegie had also two daughters:—

ili. Elizabeth, married to John Guthrie of that Ilk.

iv, Cecil, diedunmarried.

JaMEs CARNEGIE, third of Balnamoon, who succeeded his
father Sir John, was served heir to his uncle David, on 4
November 1662, while he was a minor.2 He died on 25
April 1700, having married, first, Margaret, a daughter of
Sir Alexander Carnegie of Pittarrow, and secondly, Jean, a
daughter of David Fothringham of Powrie, widow of John
Carnegie of Boysack. By his first marriage he had issue :—

i, James, who succeeded him in Balnamoon.

ii. Alexander, who succeeded James.
iii. Elizabeth, born on 10 November 1684, and married to
John Graham of Balgowan.

JAMES CARNEGIE, fourth of Balnamoon, was served heir
to his father 1 August 1700.3 He died, unmarried, on 5
April 1704, and was succeeded by his brother Alexander.

ALEXANDER CARNEGIE, fifth of Balnamoon, was forfeited
for joining in the Stuart rising of 1715, and in a Grantully
entail dated 31 May 1717 he is described as ‘late of Balna-
moon.” He re-acquired the property at a public sale on 13
November 1728, He married, in 1711, Margaret, daughter
of David Graham of Fintray, and died before 10 October
1750, leaving a large family :—

i. JaMES, who succeeded him in Balnamoon, and eight
other sons, who all died, without issue, before their
brother James.*

He had also three daughters :—

x. Margaret.

xi. Anne, married to a James Knox, by whom she had a
son Andrew Knox of Keithock, of whom later.
xii. Elizabeth.

JAMES CARNEGIE, sixth of Balnamoon, was a prominent
supporter of the Stuarts in the rising of 1745, and was
commonly known as the ‘Rebel Laird.’ He died in 1791,
having married Margaret Arbuthnott, the heiress of Fin-
dowrie (contract 26 August 1734), when he assumed the
additional surname of Arbuthnott. By her he had five
sons and five daughters :(—

i. Alexander, born in 1736, and died the same year.

ii. JAMES, who succeeded him.

iii. Alexander,}who all went to the Ea,st Indies, and
iv. Charles, } there predeceased their brother
v. John. James, 8.p.

vi. Margaret.

vii. Jean.

viii. Elizabeth.

ix. Anne.

! Martine’s Ms. 2 Retours. 3 Ibid. * Bond of provision in favour of
younger children, dated 6 November 1746 at Kinnaird. -
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X. Helen, who was married to her cousin Andrew Knox
of Keithock, the son of her aunt Anne, by whom she
had a son :—

JAMES CARNEGIE KNOX, of whom later.

JAMES CARNEGIE ARBUTHNOTT, seventh of Balnamoon,
was born on 26 June 1740, and emigrated to Sweden,where he
became a merchant at Gottenburg. He died unmarried in
1810, and was succeeded by his nephew James Carnegie
Knox, whom he had named as his sole executor in a will
dated 12 December 1809.

JAMES CARNEGIE KNOX, eighth of Balnamoon, took the
surnames of Carnegie Arbuthnott. He died 12 April 1871,
having married Anne, daughter of David Hunter of Black-
ness, by whom he had four sons, who all predeceased him
unmarried, and four davughters, the first two of whom,
Anne and Helen, succeeded in turn to Balnamoon, and died
unmarried ; on the death of Helen she was succeeded by
her sister Mary Anne Jemima, who was married to Arthur
Risden Capel, who added the surnames of Carnegie Arbuth-
nott to his own name of Capel. She died 1 February 1906,
leaving issue:—

i. JAMES, who succeeded.

ii. Harold, born 11 June 1868,

iii. Mary Anne,
iv. Margaret, married, 15 November 1894, to Arthur, son
of General W. T. Layard.

v. Evelyn Frederica, married, 17 April 1894, to Con-

stantine Albert Ionides.
vi. Edith Alice, married 12 April 1899, to Malcolm, son of
William Galloway of Cheshunt.

JAMES CARNEGIE CAPEL CARNEGIE ARBUTHNOTT of
Balnamoon was born 31 May 1864 ; he married, on 5 April
1894, Ethel Lydia, daughter of Arthur Gibson Hill, by
whom he has issue :—

i. Helen Mary.

ii. Enid.

iii. Elizabeth.

Mr. David Oarnegie of Colluthie had also four daughters:

7. Jane, married (contract 25 April 1590) to James Car-
michael of Balmedie in Fife, with issue. Her tocher
was £1000.

8. Katherine, married to John Aytoun of Kinnaldie. Her
marriage-contract bears the same date as that of her
gister Jane,' and she had a tocher of £1000 Scots.
One of her sons was Andrew Aytoun, a Senator of
the College of Justice, elected in 1661 with the title
of Lord Kinglassie.

! Contracts at Kinnaird. 2 Brunton and Haig.
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9. Agnes, married to Alexander Falconer, younger of
Halkertoun, in the Mearns, on 26 December 1594.
Her tocher was 8800 merks.

10. Euphame, married (contract 15, 16, and 20 October
1599) to Robert Graham, younger of Morphie, a
grandson of Sir Henry Graham of Morphie.

Mr. David Oarnegie married, thirdly (contract 26 April
1594 at Kinnaird) Janet Henrison, widow of Alexander
Guthrie, Common Clerk of Edinburgh,' but by her, who
survived him, had no issue.

1. S1R DaviD CARNEGIE of Kinnaird and Colluthie was
born in the year 1575, and in 1598 succeeded to the family
estates. About 1601 he apparently intended to travel
abroad, for on 9 July of that year'King James VI. granted
permission for him and two companions—John Scrymgeour
apparent of Dudhope, and Dauid Ramsay of Fascay, and
two servantis with them in company—*to departe and
pas furth of our realm toward the pairtis of England,
France, Flanderis and utheris pairtis bezond sey, thair to
remayne for thair bettir sicht, and doing thair uther
lesum effairis and besines at thairs plesour, during the
space of twa zeiris nixt to cum eftir the dait heirof,’ etc.
It is not certain whether David Carnegie ever carried
out this intention, for he was at Kinnaird within the two
years allowed him by the King. In 1602 the King paid
a visit to Kinnaird and hunted in Montreathmont (Mon-
rummon) Muir.?

On 10 April 1603, when on his way to England after the
death of Queen Elizabeth, the King wrote from Newcastle
to ¢ Our richt traist friend, the Laird of Kynnaird in Angus,’
requesting him as ‘ane in special’ to accompany °our
dearest bedfellow the Quene and our childrene ’ to London.®
This mission he performed, and for his services received the
honour of knighthood from the King. In the Parliament
of 11 July 1604 Sir David Carnegie was nominated one of
the commissioners who were appointed to consult upon
a perfect union of the two realms of England and Scot-

! Edin. Tests., 23 May 1600. % Correspondence of King James VI. with

Sir Robert Cecil. Printed by the Camden Society 1861, Preface xlvi.
3 Original letter at Kinnaird.
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land.! Sir David was a strong supporter of the King’s
policy of assimilating the form of church government in
Scotland with that which existed in England, and on 25
May 1606 the King wrote him a letter thanking him for
his services.? Between 1609 and 1612 he was frequently
nominated on important commissions.®

As a reward for these services he was, on 14 April 1616,
created LORD CARNEGIE OF KINNAIRD,® with re-
mainder to his heirs-male bearing the name of Carnegy.
Lord Carnegy was appointed an Extraordinary Lord of
Session on 5 July 1616, which post he occupied until the
King’s death. He was made a Privy Councillor, 21 Janu-
ary 1617.° In that year the King paid another visit to
Kinnaird, where he employed his time hunting on Mont-
reathmont Muir from 22 to 30 of May.® At the General
Assembly which met at St Andrews on 25 November 1617
Lord Carnegie was appointed one of the assessors to the
Royal Commissioners.” He was also one of the three Royal
Commissioners in the Assembly of 3 August 1618.° He was
on many committees during the rest of the reign of James
vI. and Charles 1. A

At the coronation of Charles at Holyrood Lord Carnegie
was advanced to the dignity of EARL OF SOUTHESK,
LORD CARNEGIE OF KINNAIRD AND LEUCHARS,
by patent dated 22 June 1633, with remainder to his
heirs-male for ever.’

As Earl of Southesk he took an active part in the ecclesi-
astical questions which arose in Scotland under King
Oharles 1., and with his son Lord Carnegie strongly opposed
the introduction of the service-book. In 1638 he acted as
mediator between the Marquess of Hamilton and the Cove-
pnanters regarding the ‘Castle Watch,” a guard set upon
Edinburgh Castle by the Covenanters to prevent the garri-
son procuring more provisions than they required for their
own use, lest they should overawe the town and force the

1 Acta Parl. Scot., iv. 263, 264. 2 Original letter at Kinnaird Castle,
3 Acta Parl. Scot., iv, 409, 442, 454 ; Calderwood’s History, vii. 58, 204;
Original letter at Kinnaird Castle; Acta Parl. Scot., x. 466-468, 473,
475. 4 Original patent at Kinnaird Castle ; Minutes of Evidence, South-
esk Peerage, 1848, p. 3. & P. C. Reg., xi. 11. ¢ Adamson’s Muses’ Wel-
come, 1618, 85-105. 7 P, C. Reg., xi. 270 n. 8 Ibid., 420. ° Patent at
Kinnaird.
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prayer-book upon the inhabitants.! He performed many
public functions, being inter alia Sheriff of Forfar for many
years. He was fined £3000 by Cromwell’s Act of Grace
and Pardon for no other reason than wishing well to the
King and the monarchy.’ ‘

In May 1656 Lord Southesk made a will in which he nomi-
nated his eldest son his sole executor.! He died at the
end of February 1658 at the age of eighty-three, and was
buried at Kinnaird on 11 March. He married (contract
8 October 1595) Margaret, daughter of Sir David Lindsay
of Edzell, with a tocher of 10,000 merks. By her, who died
9 July 1614, he had issue :(—

1. David, Master of Carnegie, and afterwards Lord
Qarnegie, who, in 1613, married (contract 8 and 14
September 1613) Margaret, daughter of Sir Thomas
Lindsay of Byres, afterwards Earl of Haddington,
with a tocher of 20,000 merks. David Carnegie
was only seventeen years of age at the time of
his marriage. He died 25 October 1633, within six
months of his father’s advancement to the earldom,
and was buried at Kinnaird. By his wife—who
married, secondly, as his third wife (contract 30
January 1647), James, first Earl of Hartfell—he had
issue :—

(1) Margaret, married to Gavin, Master of Dalzell. (See title
Carnwath.) Her tocher was 20,000 merks.

(2) Magdalene, married, first, in 1638, to Gideon Baillle of Loch-
end.® Shealsohad a tocher of 20,000 merks. She survived
her husband, who was killed, 30 August 1640, by an explosion
of gunpowder while with the Covenanting Army at Dun-

glass. She was married, secondly, to Sir John Crawford of
Kilbirnie.

2. JAMES, who succeeded his father as second Earl of
Southesk.

3. Sir John of Oraig, who was provided by his father with
the estate of Pittarrow, in Kincardineshire, which
was afterwards handed over to his younger brother
Alexander, when Sir John was provided with the
barony of Craig, near Montrose ; he was thereafter

1 Baillie's Letters and Journals, i. 82-84. 2 Crawfurd's Peerage. 3 Will
at Kinnaird. ¢ Lamont’s Diary, 105. & Contract at Kinnaird.
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known as Sir John Carnegie of Craig. He died
22 November 1654, having married (contract 27
October 1632, at Kinnaird) Jane daughter of Sir
John Serymgeour of Dudhope. Her tocher was 12,000
merks Scots. By her he had two children :—

(1) DavID, second of Craig.

(2) Margaret, married, in 1661, to George Dunbar of Inchbrayock
and Aslisk.!

DaAvip CARNEGIE of Craig contracted large debts and greatly
encumbered the estate, which he settled on his cousin
David Carnegie of Pittarrow, on condition of his debts,
amounting to £59,000 Scots, being paid, under reservation
of his own liferent and his wife’s dowry. This settlement
he challenged soon afterwards on the ground ofcircumven-
tion and fraud; and it was set aside by Act of Parliament
in 1661. James, the second Earl of Southesk, and David
Carnegie of Pittarrow complained against this Act, which
they petitioned Parliament to review, but it does not appear
that they ever got any redress,

David Carnegie of Craig, married, 28 December 1654,
Lady Catherine Wemyss, but had no issue. He died about
1663, and Lady Catherine, on 16 August 1664, was married to
Sir Andrew Ker of Greenhead, whom she survived, and died
on 24 February 1668 at Dysart, in Fife. Lamont records
that ‘she dyed without ishwe.’2

4. SIR ALEXANDER of Pittarrow, from whom the present
Earl of Southesk is descended, and of whom after-
wards.

5. Margaret, married (contract 3 October 1617) to
William Ramsay, who succeeded his father as second
Lord Ramsay and was created afterwards Earl of
Dalhousie. Her tocher was 20,000 merks. She died
in April 1661.

6. Agnes, married (contract 5 and 8 August 1620) to
James Sandilands, yr. of St. Monance, in Fife, with
a tocher of £10,000 Scots.® Her son was created
Lord Abercromby. (See that title.)

7. Katherine, married (contract 14 September 1620) to
Sir John Stewart of Traquair, with a tocher of
20,000 merks Scots. Sir John Stewart was created
Earl of Traquair in 1633.

8. Marjorie, married, first (contract 31 October 1622, at
Kinnaird), to William Halyburton of Pitcur, with

1 Registers of the parish of Craig. 2 Lamont’s Diary, 171. 3 Contract
at Kinnaird Castle.
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a tocher of 20,000 merks. She married, secondly,
before 1639, Robert Arbuthnott of that Ilk, after-
wards created Viscount Arbuthnott.! She died on 22
December 1651 and was buried at Bervie.

9. Elizabeth, married (contract April 1628) to Andrew
Murray of Balvaird, afterwards Lord Balvaird. Her
tocher was £10,000.°

10. Magdalene, the youngest daughter, married, 10 Nov-
ember 1629, to James, Earl and afterwards Marquess
of Montrose, to whom Lord Southesk was guardian.
By their marriage-contract, dated 1 November of
that year, she was infeft in the liferent of the lands
and barony of Old Montrose, the lands of Fullartone,
and ‘thrid pairt landis of Ananie,” and the lands
of Marietoun with fishings, etc. Her tocher was
£40,000 Scots.! It was further arranged that the
young Marquess and his wife should live at Kinnaird
for the first three years after their marriage. The
Marquess was only seventeen yearsof age at the time
of his marriage. His portrait by George Jameson,
painted in his wedding suit, is at Kinnaird. The
Marchioness predeceased her husband in November
1645, five years before the date of his execution in
Edinburgh.

II. JAMES, second Earl of Southesk, styled Lord Carnegie
after the death of his elder brother David. On 11 May 1658
he was served heir to his father in the lands of Kinnaird,
etc., also to his brother David in the lands of Farnell, and
his uncle Sir Robert Carnegie in the lands of Dunnichen,
etc.! He was chosen a Qommissioner by the Brechin Pres-
bytery to the Glasgow Assembly in 1638, which commission
the Earl of Montrose disputed; however it was sustained,
and Lord Carnegie was one of the minority who voted
against the continuance of the sittings.®

In 1639 Lord Carnegie commanded a squadron of cavalry
in Montrose’s army. He was also with General Leslie’s
army in England in 1640 and was present at the battle

1 Cf. vol. i.305. 2 Discharges of tocher at Kinnaird Castle. 3 Discharge

for £20,000, date 30th May 1630, at Kinnaird Castle. * Refours, Forfar,
368, 369, © Gordon's Hist. of Scots Affairs (Spalding Club, Edin.), i. 109,
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of Newburnford.® In 1644 Lord Carnegie joined the second
expedition against the city of Aberdeen, heading the Angus
contingent of the army, along with the Earl of Kinghorn.
On 19 July of the same year Lord Carnegie was appointed
a member of a Commission to superintend operations in the
north of Scotland.? He ultimately, however, became a
supporter of the Royalist cause, and in 1649 was a prisoner
in England under Cromwell.® At the time of Charles 1.’s
execution he was in Holland, and on 15 May 1650 was, with
several others, discharged to come home without liberty
given from Parliament;* but he had returned before
August 1652, when he was a Commissioner chosen to
negotiate with the English Parliament for a complete
union between the countries.® In 1658 he succeeded his
father as Earl of Southesk. About the end of August 1660
Lord Southesk had the misfortune to kill his friend William,
Master of Gray, by accident ; and not, as Lamont says, and
as is popularly supposed, in a duel.® After the Restoration
he obtained a grant of the sheriffship of Forfarshire in-
cluding himself and his son Robert for their joint lives.’
He was also appointed a member of the Privy Council.
He was present at the first Parliament of Charles 11.
in 1661, and was one of the Commissioners for Forfarshire
under the Act of 29 March for raising an annuity of £40,000
for the King.®! In that same Parliament an Act was
passed enabling him to uplift the rents of Lochaber and
Badenoch for payment of a year’s annualrent of £58,028,
8s. 8d. Scots, for which his father was security for George,
Marquis of Huntly, as tocher and arrear of interest with
his daughter Lady Ann Gordon.

Lord Southesk’s last appearance in Parliament was in
1669, the year of his death, when he protested, together
with the Earls of Wemyss and Dumfries, that the calling
of the Earl of Loudoun before them should not pre-
judice their precedency to him.* He was called the
*Black Earl’ and got the credit of having learned magic
at Padua.

! Memorials of Troubles in Scotland and England (Spalding Club), i.
153, 331 ; ii. 358, 2 Acta Parl. Scot., vi. 119, 3 Cromwelliana by Michael
Stance, 61. * Lamont’s Diary, 17. © Ibid., 46. © Fraser's Carnegie Book,
140, 141; Lamont’s Diary, 68, 126. 7 Original warrant, 1643, at Kinnaird.
8 Acta Parl. Scot., vii. 3, 94, 337-446, 527-545. ® Acta Parl. Scot., vii. 551,
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Lord Southesk died at Xinnaird, in March 1669,' having
married, first (contract 18 and 21 February 1629), Mary Ker,
daughter of the first Harl of Roxburghe, and widow of Sir
James Halyburton of Pitcur, with a tocher of 24,000 merks.}
By her, who died at Leuchars in April 1650, he had issue :—

1. RoBERT, Lord Carnegie, who succeeded his father as
third Earl of Southesk.

2. Jean, married, first (contract 26 June 1647), to James
Murray, second Harl of Annandale. There was no
issue of this marriage. She was married, secondly,
on 9 August 1659 (contract 14 July 1659), to her
cousin David, second Lord Balvaird and fourth Vis-
count Stormont.

3. Catherine, married to Gilbert, Earl of Erroll, 7 January
1658. Her tocher was 50 or 60 thousand merks.
There was no issue of this marriage. He divorced
her.* She was chief Governess to James, Prince of
Wales, at St. Germains, at the time of her death in
October 1693.

Lord Southesk married, secondly, about 1661, Janet
Adamson, who on 9 April of that year was infeft in a liferent
of the lands of Leuchars.® By her, who died in June 1683,*
he had no issue.

ITI. RoBERT, third Iarl of Southesk, who was served
heir to his father 5 May 1669." He lived a great deal in
France, and at one time held a captain’s commission in
Louis x1v.’s Scots Guards. The commission is dated at
Chantilly the 24 July 1659.° He was imprisoned in Edin-
burgh Castle on 18 April 1666 for wounding the HEarl of
Linlithgow in a duel at Cupar.’ He attended the Scottish
Parliament in July 1670, June 1672, November 1673, and in
1681, and thereafter almost every year until his death. He
was chosen as a commissioner for the counties of Forfar,
Fife, and Kincardine for raising a new voluntary offer of
£1,800,000 Scots which was granted by the Convention of
Estates in 1678. The office of Sheriff of Forfarshire was

! Lamont's Diary, 208. ? Original contract at Kinnaird; Minutes of
Evidence, Southesk Peerage,38. 3 P, C. Reg., 3rd ser., ii. 142. % Lamont's
Diary, 104. & Minutes of Evidence, Southesk Peerage, 41. ¢ Brechin
Tests., 27 October 1687. 7 Retour at Kinnaird Castle. 8 Original Commis-
sion at Kinnaird Castle. ° Lamont's Diary, 187-188. © Acta Parl. Scot.
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conferred on him and his son Charles by a new grant dated
29 April 1682.! He was appointed colonel of the Forfarshire
Militia by commission dated 2 December 1669. The Earl
died at Edinburgh 19 February 1688, having married, before
7 July 1664,* Anna Hamilton, eldest daughter and coheiress of
William, second Duke of Hamilton. Her portion was £30,000.
This lady figures in a well-known tale in the mendacious
Mémoires de Gramont, where there is an engraving of her
from a picture by Sir Peter Lely. But fortunately Bishop
Burnet, in his History of My Own Time," refers to the
offensive story, and of his own knowledge contradicts it in
its worst details. Lady Southesk was separated from her
husband, and living in Paris at the time of his death, from
which place she wrote on 9 March 1688, to a Mr. Denis, her
London agent, ‘I have heard on all hands the news of the
loss which I have sustained of a husband, whom I lament
as much as he deserved.’® She remained in Paris till 1694,
when she went to Brussels, where she died in October 1695.
Her body was brought back and buried in Scotland 15 Decem-
ber following. Of this marriage there were two children :—

1. CHARLES, Lord Carnegie, who succeeded his father as
fourth Earl.

2. William, who was born about 1662, and educated with
his elder brother at St. Leonard’s College, St.
Andrews, where he matriculated on 28 February
1677. About four years later he travelled on the
Continent, and while in Paris he was killed, on 23
November 1681, at the age of nineteen, by William
Tollemache, the youngest son of the Duchess of
Lauderdale, in a quarrel.” He is said to have been a
convert, at his mother’sinstigation,® to Roman Catho-
licism. Tollemache was tried and condemned for his
slaughter, but received a pardon from the King of
France in January 1681-82, which bears that William
Carnegie provoked the quarrel, and Tollemache killed
him in self-defence. He died unmarried.’

! Original grant at Kinnaird Castle. 2 Postnuptial contract of
marriage. 3 Minutes of Evidence, Southesk Peerage, 48. * Mémoires
de Gramont, 177 ; Pepys's Diary, 6 April 1667. & Vol. i. 406. ¢ Letter at
Kinnaird. 7 Minutes of Evidence, Southesk Peerage, 14. 8 Savile Cor-

respondence, Camden Club, 239. ® Minutes of Evidence, Southesk Peer-
age, 15, 187, 190, 193.
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IV. CHARLES, fourth Earl of Southesk, born in London
7 April 1661, was served heir to his father 8 May
1688.! He was educated at St. Andrews University,
where he matriculated 28 February 1677. While
studying there he won in 1679 the silver arrow for
archery, and the Commemorative Silver Medal which
he gave, bearing the date 1679, is amongst those still
preserved at the United College.? After finishing his
education at St. Andrews he was appointed by King
Charles in 1683 captain of a troop of horse in the
Forfarshire Militia.®

After the revolution of 1688 he never went to Court, but
resided chiefly at Kinnaird and Leuchars, and on 10 July
1689 was fined £300 Scots for non-attendance. However,
in the session of 1690 he took the oath of allegiance and
the oath to Parliament.” He died at Leuchars 9 August
1699, and was buried at Kinnaird. He was known
as the °‘Good Earl,” and was locally supposed to
have the power of healing by touch. He married
(contract 15 July 1691) Mary Maitland, second daughter
of Charles, third Earl of Lauderdale.® Her tocher was
30,000 merks. Of this marriage there were one son and
two daughters:—

1. JaMES, Lord Carnegie, fifth Earl of Southesk.

2. Anne, born 25 June 1694, and died 27 October

1696.

3. Mary, born 29 December 1695, and died 3 November
1696.

The Dowager Countess acted as one of the tutors and
curators to her son James, and after her husband’s death
lived chiefly at Leuchars Castle, her jointure house, where
she maintained considerable splendour. She was a strong
Jacobite, and counselled her son to join in the Rising of
1715. She died at Leuchars about 1730, and was buried in
the church there with a pomp and ceremony which was
hitherto unknown in the district.®

1 Retours, Forfar, 512. 2 Proc. Soe. Ant. Scot., xxviii. 877. 3 Com-
mission at Kinnaird. * Acta Parl. Scot., ix. 109. % Erroneously de-
scribed in the Lauderdale article (vol. v. 309), as the grand-daughter
instead of the daughter of the third Earl. ° Lamont’s Diary. The
duties of the cook, Thomas Deas, in providing for so large a company are
said to have been so onerous as to have caused his death.
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V. JAMEs, fifth Earl of Southesk, who was born 4
April 1692, was served heir to his father 14 March 1700.
He spent most of his childhood at Kinnaird until 1710, when
owing to a disagreement amongst his tutors as to which
university he should attend he travelled on the Continent
for a year or two.

The Barl was a staunch adherent of the exiled house of
Stuart, and took an active part in the rising of 1715. He
was amongst those who met the Earl of Mar at Aboyne,
3 September 1715, to consider the expediency of taking up
arms for the restoration of James viil. He proclaimed
King James at Montrose, and was appointed by the Earl
of Mar to the post of colonel of the Angus Horse. He
was present at the battle of Sherifimuir as brigadier in
command of that regiment on the left of the second line.
After this battle Earl James remained faithful to his
party, and when the exiled King landed in Scotland in
the winter of 1715-16 he was the guest of Lord Southesk
at Kinnaird, from which place he issued warrants and other
documents to his adherents.

In consequence of the part which they took in the
insurrection, the Earl and about fifty other Scottish noble-
men and gentlemen were attainted of high treason, and
their titles and estates were forfeited to the Crown.?
Three years later an Act was passed enabling the King
to make such provision out of the forfeited estates of
James, late Earl of Southesk, and others for their wives
and children, ‘as if their respective husbands had been
naturally dead.” The result of this Act was a Crown
charter, granted to the Countess, dated 28 August 1718,
of an annuity of £448, 8s. 10%d. sterling, and also of an
annuity of £250 to her son James during his nonage.

On being attainted the Earl escaped to France, where
he was some years afterwards joined by his wife. He
never returned to his native land, but died in France on
10 February 1730. He was the hero of the well-known song
‘The Piper of Dundee,’ which has reference to some exploit
of his in the Rising of 1715.

In 1713 he married Margaret, eldest daughter of James,

1 Retours, Forfar, 557. 21 Geo.1. c.42.
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fitth Earl of Galloway, with a tocher of £1500." By her,
who married, secondly, 16 August 1733, John, Master of
Sinclair,? he had issue :—
1. James, Lord Carnegie, who died, on 7 January 1722, in
his eighth year.
2. Clementina, died at Edinburgh, and was buried at
Restalrig 26 March 1730.°
On the death of James, late fifth Earl of Southesk, with-
out surviving issue, the male representation of the South-
esk family devolved on his cousin, Sir James Oarnegie of
Pittarrow, a great-grandson of the fourth son of the first
Earl of Southesk, who, but for the attainder, would have
inherited the family titles and estates.

SIR ALEXANDER CUARNEGIE, first of Pittarrow. He was
the fourth son of David, first Earl of Southesk.! By a
contract dated 23 December 1639 his elder brother James,
Lord Carnegie (afterwards second Harl of Southesk) dis-
poned to Sir John Carnegie, second surviving lawful son of
the first Earl, the lands of Oraig, Rossie, and others, and
Sir John resigned the lands of Pittarrow in favour of his
younger brother, Alexander Carnegie.® As a young man
Alexander travelled in France from 1634-36 with his cousin
David, afterwards second Earl of Northesk. In 1649 he
purchased Mondynes in Kincardineshire from James Douglas.
of Stoneypath for the sum of £20,000 Scots, and in 1652 he
acquired Odmeston from James Ramsay of Odmeston. He
was knighted by Charles 1. between the years 1639 and
1644. In 1663 he conveyed his whole estates to his son
David, reserving to himself, under David’s marriage-con-
tract, the liferent of part of Pittarrow and the power to
burden the lands conveyed with a sum of 50,000 merks
Scots for payment of his debts and younger children’s
provisions.” David, however, had to pay another 50,000
merks for his father’s debts, and in return for this pay-
ment, on 16 January 1669, Sir Alexander conveyed to his
son the liferent which he had reserved to himself in

! Southesk Peerage, Minutes of Evidence. ? Cf. vol. vii. 587. 2 Reg.
of Burials, Restalrig. * Minutes of Evidence, Southesk Peerage, 19.
5 Original contract at Kinnaird Castle; Minutes of Evidence, Southesk

Peerage, 88. ¢ Original contract at Kinnaird Castle. 7 Minutes of
Evidence, Southesk Peerage, 122.
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the marriage-contract.’ In 1677 he made new arrange-
ments with his son, by which he conveyed to Sir David
his liferent right to ‘that part of the house of Pittarrow
commonly called the New House,’ and several other build-
ings, and the sole right of cutting timber.

Sir Alexander took part in public affairs from the year
1643 till his son married, when he settled down into private
life. He was commissioner for Kincardineshire for several
years, and sat on several Parliamentary committees.’

He died in March 1682, He married Margaret, a sister
of the first Viscount of Arbuthnott. On 25 June 1640 Sir
Alexander granted a discharge for her tocher of £10,000
Scots.* By her, who died in 1701 at a great age, he had
issue :—

1. Sir DaAviD, first Baronet of Pittarrow.

2. James of Odmeston, who was appointed Sheriff-Depute

of Forfarshire before 2 May 1673. He died before
30 June 1677, on which date an agreement was
entered into by those interested in his estate, from
which it appears that his brothers and sisters were
joint heirs to his moveable property.®

3. Alexander, who was born about 1643, and became an
accountant in London. He married, but no mention
of any children has been found. He died about
1731.°

4. Robert, who died before 28 June 1671, as appears from
a bond of that date, in which he is mentioned as
deceased.

5. Charles, Regent of St. Leonard’s College, St. Andrews,
and who was promoted from there to be Dean of
Brechin and minister of Farnell. He married, 21
February 1685, Barbara, daughter of George Martin,
minister of Dundee, and died in July 1694. He left
three sons:—

(1) Robert, was a doctor of physic. He died at the end of 1721
without lawful children.

(2) James, was a sailor, and in February 1721 was a mate on
board the Ruby sloop. He married and settled in Charles-
town, South Carolina, but died without issue.

! Disposition at Kinnaird Castle. 2 Acta Parl. Scot., 1664, etc. 3 St.
Andrews Tests., 6 July 1682, * Discharge at Arbuthnott. ° Will dated
14 June 1677. ¢ Letters at Saltoun.
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(8) Alexander, became a merchant in London, and his sub-
sequent career is unknown.

6. Mungo, who was educated by his cousin Robert, Earl
of Southesk, at Leyden University. He was called
to the Scottish Bar 8 December 1691, having been
appointed Sherifl-Clerk of Haddington on 20 September
1690.) He acquired the estate of Birkhill in Fife.
He died January 1705, having married Janet, second
daughter of William Dick of Grange, and by her had
a son David, of whom nothing is known,® and two
daughters, Margaret, who was married to — Black
of Haddo, and Janet, who died unmarried.

7. Andrew, mentioned in the will of his brother James.

8. Margaret, married to James Carnegie, third of Balna-
moon, her second cousin, and from whom the present
family of Capel-Carnegie-Arbuthnott descend.*

9. Catherine, married to Thomas Allan. On 16 Novem-
ber 1680 there was a litigation between Sir David
Carnegie and his sister Catherine and her husband,
Thomas Allan.

10. Janet, married to QCaptain Walter Keith of Montrose,
a son of Keith of Jackston in the Mearns.

Si1R Davip CARNEGIE, first baronet of Pittarrow, was
during his father’s lifetime created a Baronet, with
remainder to his heirs-male, the patent being dated 20
February 1663,° in' the fourteenth (sic) year of the reign
of King Charles 11. It was six years after the date of
this patent that Sir Alexander Carnegie made a disposi-
tion of the estate of Pittarrow to Sir David, who after
that time became principal manager of the property.®
In July 1690 Sir David Carnegie, together with Robert
Burnett of Glenbervie, was commissioned by the Iarl of
Melville, High Commissioner, and the Lords of the Privy
COouncil, to raise one hundred men for thirty-one days to
prevent the incursions of the Highlanders, and others who
were hostile to the Government, in Kincardineshire.” Sir

! Commission penes Earl of Lauderdale. 2 Original will at Kinnaird
Castle, confirmed 31 May 1708; St. Andrews Tests. 3 Macfarlane’s Gen.
Coll., Scot. Hist. Soc., ii. 81,173, * See ante, p.62. ° Original patent at

Kinnaird. ¢ Original disposition at Kinnaird, of date 16 January 1669.
7 Extract commission at Kinnaird.
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David had previously been commissioned to convene the
heritors to provide against this evil.!

Soon after this Sir David presented a petition to the Earl
of Melville, showing that he had been put to great expense
by this commission. The petition sets forth that he fre-
quently was obliged to convene the heritors and ‘fencible
men in the county to oppose the Highland rebels; and as
none of the heritors would help, he himself had collected
400 men and marched to the Cuttie-hillocks and dispersed
the rebels who were robbing the country; and that in
revenge the rebels, numbering 3000 men, had plundered
Pittarrow House, and destroyed Sir David’s corn, and done
damage to the extent of £442, 8s. sterling. He was never
fully remunerated for his losses.?

On 7 September 1699 Sir David and his brother, Mungo
Qarnegie of Birkhill, were summoned as nearest of kin on
the father’s side, to concur in the making up of the inven-
tories of the estates of James, fifth Earl of Southesk, then
in his minority.?

Sir David died in November 1708. He married, first
(contract 29 October 1663), Catherine, daughter of Sir
Archibald Primrose of Carrington, Baronet, Lord Olerk
Register, and afterwards Lord Justice-General of Scotland,
who brought him a tocher of 15,000 merks. By her, who
died in October 1677, he had issue :—

1. James, baptized 5 July 1667. He died in his eighth
year, and was buried at Montrose on 31 March
1675.*

2. Archibald, baptized 17 June 1668.° Sir Archibald
Primrose, his grandfather, assigned to him the sum
of 12,000 merks, contained in a bond by Robert, Earl
of Southesk, by assignation dated 14 June, and regis-
tered in the Books of Session 4 November 1691.°
This sum was afterwards acquired by his brother
John as his heir. He entered the Army, and about
1690 went to France, where he died, 24 September
1692, of a flux caused by eating unripe fruit.’

1 House of Carnegie of Southesk, ii. 252. 2 Copy Petition at Kinnaird
Castle. 3 Original Summons at Kinnaird Castle. * Records of Parish of
Montrose. 5 Ibid. ©Extract assignation at Kinnaird. 7 Letter from
his brother at Kinnaird.
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3. Robert, baptized at Montrose 10 May 1671. He died

the next year, and was buried 9 August 1672.!

4. JonN, who succeeded his father as second Baronet.
5. William, baptized at Montrose 2 August 1675. On 11

April 1694, in a letter from Edinburgh, where he was
undergoing a cure, he complained that he was in
very bad health.) The ‘cure’ seems to have been
too much for him, and he died at Pittarrow, of con-
sumption, very shortly afterwards.!

6. Margaret, married to Henry, second son of Sir Robert

Fletcher of Saltoun, Knight. By marriage-contract,
dated April 1688 (the lady being of ‘perfect age’),
Henry Fletcher secured 40,000 merks to himself and
Margaret Carnegie, besides other sums.®! In 1716
Henry Fletcher succeeded to Saltoun, where he and
his wife were the first to introduce machinery into
barley mills in Scotland.* He died in 1733, survived
by Margaret Carnegie, who lived till 27 May 1745.
One of their sons was Andrew Fletcher, afterwards
a Lord of Session with the title of Lord Milton.

7. Elizabeth, baptized 4 August 1665. She was buried

in the Greyfriars Churchyard, Edinburgh, 8 March
1674.

8. Catherine, baptized 28 October 1669. She was married

to David Watson, a writer in Edinburgh, who was
governor to her brother John. They had a son John,
who became a Writer to the Signet, and was the
founder of John Watson’s Institution.’

9. Christian, born in Edinburgh 7 March 1674. She was

buried in Montrose 8 August 1676.

10. Grisel, baptized at Montrose 2 October 1677. She

was buried before 25 May 1706, in Greyiriars,
Edinburgh.

Sir David married, secondly (contract 29 October 1684),

Catherine, daughter of Robert Gordon of Pitlurg, and
widow of Robert, second Viscount of Arbuthnott. Sir
David infeft his wife in liferent in the lands of Redhall,

! Montrose Parish Reg. 2 Ibid. 3 Letter at Kinnaird. % Account
of his death by his father at Kinnaird. & Original marriage-contract
?tl'b Saltoun. ¢ Hist. of Carnegies, by Sir William Fraser, ii. 277.

id.
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Balfeiche, Pittingairdner, and others; while she assigned
to him her jointure lands of Bervie and others.

Sir David did not get on well with Lady Arbuthnott, and
in consequence revoked a bond for 2000 merks in her favour,
and also a deed which he had previously granted, empower-
ing her to take the furniture of Pittarrow House if he pre-
deceased her, which bond and deed, he says, were elicited
from him by her restless importunity.? She died of con-
sumption 1692, and was buried in the church at Montrose
on 4 November of that year.® " At her request Sir David
mortified the sum of a hundred merks for the poor of the
parish of Bervie.* She bore one son,

11. Robert, who was presented in baptism at Montrose on
6 June 1686 by his uncle, Oharles Carnegie, Dean of
Brechin.! Robert, Earl of Southesk, and Robert,
Viscount of Arbuthnott, were witnesses of the bap-
tism. He died in his eleventh year, and was buried
at Montrose on 24 March 1695.

Sir David married, thirdly, about 1696, Jean, daughter of
James Burnett of Monboddo.® They married apparently
without any written contract, but by a bond,” dated
9 and 30 April 1697, Sir David conveyed to her in life-
rent the lands of Redhall, Balfeich, Pittengairdner, and
others, to provide her with a sum of money in lieu
of her third of the moveables. She survived him, and
was buried at Montrose 15 May 1740. By her he had
issue :—

12. David, baptized 24 January 1697. His father gave him,
on 25 December 1700, a provision of 8000 merks, for
which he granted a discharge to his brother Sir John
on 13 March 1718.°) He was a merchant in the West
Indies, where he died without issue.

13. James, born towards the end of 1703. On 12 January
1704 Sir David granted him a bond of provision for
3000 merks, for which he gave a discharge to his
brother Sir John on 13 November 1724, He was a
merchant in Montrose, and by Sir John’s last will,

! Southesk Peerage, Minutes of Evidence. 2 Original deeds and re-
vocation at Kinnaird. 3 Montrose Parish Reg. % Bond of mortification
at Kinnaird. © Montrose Parish Reg. ¢ Family of Burnett of Leys,

New Spalding Club, 144. 7 Copy at Kinnaird. 8 Bond with discharge
endorsed on it at Kinnaird. ° Ibid.
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dated 15 March 1729, ‘ James Carnegie, merchant in
Montrose’ was nominated as one of the tutors and
curators to his children.! James Carnegie is said to
have died without issue.

14. Alexander, baptized at Fordoun 29 April 1705.* Sir
David granted him a bond of provision for 3500 merks
“on 3 December 1705.° He lived less than a year, and
died before 25 May 1706, on which date Sir David
calls James his youngest son.

15. Elizabeth, baptized at Fordoun 8 August 1695.* Sir
David granted her, on 25 December 1700, a bond of
provision for 6000 merks, and on 27 March 1703 he
granted her another bond as cessioner to her grand-
mother, Elizabeth Irving, widow of James Burnett.®
Elizabeth was married to Alexander Strachan of
Tarrie, and died at Montrose 18 May 1767, leaving
issue.

16. Jean. Her father granted her a bond of provision for
5000 merks Scots, dated 1 January 1700.* She died
unmarried, and was buried at Montrose 2 May 1715. .

17. Janet. 'Was granted by her father a bond of provision
for 4000 merks on 1 January 1700 ¢ for her better help
to an honest life and fortune.’

Sir JOHN OARNEGIE, second Baronet of Pittarrow. He
was baptized at Montrose 27 January 1673, He was
the fourth son of Sir David, but his three elder brothers
predeceased him without issue. While young he was for
some time under the care of Gilbert Burnett, Bishop of
Salisbury, and later, when his father’s health began to fail,
he took charge of the family estates. He was served heir
to his father in the estates of Pittarrow and others on 20
December 1716.° He was appointed factor on the Southesk
estates after they had been forfeited, and managed them
for many years. In 1747 he acquired the lands and barony
of Redhall, near Pittarrow, from George Burnett of
Kemnay.’

! Ms, Genealogical Notes of Pittarrow family at Saltoun. 2 Fordoun
Parish Reg. 3 Bond at Kinnaird. ¢ Fordoun Parish Reg. © Bonds at
Kinnaird. ¢ Bond at Kinnaird. 7 Montrose Parish Reg. 8 Extract

Retour at Kinnaird. ° History of Carnegies, by Sir W. Fraser, ii.
267.
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On 15 March 1729 Sir John conveyed all his property to
liis eldest son James, burdened, however, with his debts and
provisions to his wife and younger children.! He also at
the same time made a will in which he nominated his wife,
together with George Lauder of Pitscandlie, and James
Qarnegy, merchant in Montrose, his half-brother, as tutors
and curators to his children till they reached the age of
twenty-one. Sir John died on 3 April in the same year,
and was buried in the family vault at Fordoun.’

Sir John Carnegie married, 2 October 1712° (contract
31 August 1712), Mary, second daughter of Sir Thomas
Burnett of Leys, Baronet. Her tocher was 1000 merks.
By her, who died 5 June 1754 and was buried at Montrose,
he had issue :—

1. SIR JAMES, third Baronet.

2. John, baptized at Pittarrow House 10 October 1716.
In 1721 he received from his father a bond of pro-
vision of 6000 merks and an annuity of £100 Scots,
till he reached the age of fourteen years.® He died,
unmarried, at the age of seventeen.

3. David, baptized 23 December 1717, and died before
20 April 1747.*

4. Alexander, baptized 26 April 1722. He went to
Jamaica, where he died, unmarried, before 3 February
1748, as appears from aletter from Sir James Carnegie
to Lord Milton.’

5. Henry, baptized 31 August 1725.* Owing to the in-
fluence of Lord Milton he obtained an appointment
as midshipman in the service of the East India Com-
pany. He was drowned at sea whilst on board the
Prince of Orange, one of the company’s vessels,
which was lost in a gale at the beginning of 1747.

6. George, baptized 19 November 1726. When eighteen
years of age, he joined Prince Charles at Holyrood,
after the battle of Prestonpans. He accompanied
the Prince to England, and was also present at the

1 Original contract at Kinnaird Castle ; Minutes of Evidence, Southesk
Peerage, 141; Original disposition at Kinnaird Castle. 2 Letter, James
Carnegie to Lord Milton 17/4/1729, at Saltoun. 3 Banchory Parish Reg.
4 Ivid. 6 Original bond at Kinnaird Castle. ¢ Fordoun Parish Reg
7 Original letter at Saltoun. 8 Fordoun Parish Reg.
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battle of Culloden, while his elder brother Sir James
was there with the Duke of Cumberland, on the
opposite side. After the battle of Culloden he fled,
and eventually made his escape to the Continent.
After wandering about with James Carnegie Arbuth-
nott of Balnamoon, they got off to sea in a small boat
and were picked up by a ship bound for Sweden. He
landed at Gottenburg, where he established a business
as amerchant. After about twenty years he returned
to Scotland with a fortune which enabled him to
purchase the paternal estate of Pittarrow and also
the estate of Charleton. He was a trustee for his
nephew Sir David Carnegie, whose father had re-
purchased the forfeited Southesk estates. The
trustees carried through the sale of Pittarrow, which
was conveyed to George Carnegie by disposition
dated 17, 19, and 20 January 1767.!

George Carnegie died at Charleton on 12 April
1799, and was buried at Kinnaber. He married, on
17 March 1769, Susan, the eldest daughter of David
Scott of Benholm. She founded an asylum at Mon-
trose for the insane, the first of its kind in Scot-
land, and established the first lifeboat known in the
country. She also constructed a genealogical table
of the family of Carnegie, which is preserved at Kin-
naird.! She died 14 April 1821. They had issue six
sons and three daughters, amongst whom were :—

(1) JomxN, who succeeded him and acquired Kinnaber through
his marriage with Mary Fullerton, niece of Charles Ful-
lerton, of Xinnaber. Their eldest son George sold
the properties of Pittarrow, Charleton and Kinnaber.
This George married, in April 1823, Madeline, daughter
of Sir John Connel, Knight, by whom he had five chil-
dren. The only son who married and left issue was
George, born 13 February 1826, major-general, and married
on 4 December 1852, Maria Priscilla, eldest daughter of
Lieut.-Colonel John Wakefield, of the H.E.I.C.’s service,
Bengal infantry. He had several children, the only son
with issue being Edward Hugo, born 5 August 1870,
married 1893, Emilie, daughter of Anton Prange, and has

issue George David Howard, born 12 July 1894, James
Edward, born 9 January 1897.

1 Books of Council and Session, 23 January 1767. 2 Minutes of Evi-
dence, Southesk Peerage Case.
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(2) James, born at Charleton 8 January 1773. He entered the
marine service of the H.E.I.C. He married, in December
1801, Margaret, daughter of John Gillespie of Kirkton in
Fife, by whom he had three sons, one of whom died in in-
fancy. The others were :—

i. James, whodied without issue.

fi. David, born 3 May 1813. He purchased the estates of
Stronvar, Glenbuckie, and Gartnafueran in Perth-
shire. He married, in May 1839, Julie Boletta, daughter
of Etatsraad Zeuthen of Té6llose in Zealand, by whom
he had a child who died in infancy. She died in
February 1841, and he married, secondly, in 1845,
Susan Mary Anne, daughter of his uncle David
Carnegie of Gottenburg, Sweden ; by her he had

(i) James, presently of Stronvar, born 9 September
1846. He married, in 1872, Mary Bethune,
daughter of David Gillespie of Mountquhanie,
Fife.

(li) Julie Isabella, born 10 July 1850, married to
Colonel Charles Hope of Cowdenknowes,
Berwickshire,

(3) David, who became a merchant in Gottenburg. He married,
in 1801, Anne Christian Beckman, by whom he had only
one daughter Susan Mary Anne, who survived infancy ; she
married her cousin David Carnegie of Stronvar.

7. Margaret, baptized 30 July 1713, and died unmarried
before 20 April 1747, when her brother Alexander
granted a discharge as heir to his sister Margaret,
under a bond of provision by their father.!

8. Mary, baptized 12 August 1714, married, in 1748, to
Colonel John Scott of Oomistoun, in Kincardineshire.
She survived him, and married, secondly, a Mr.
Forbes, whom also she survived.

9. Helen, baptized 17 April 1716, married to Alexander
Aberdein of Oairnbulg, who died in 1758.

10. Jean, baptized at Pittarrow on 13 September 1720.*
She married Robert Taylor of Kirktonhill, with
issue,

11. Elizabeth, baptized 30 November 1724.° She resided
with her brother George at Charlton, and died, un-
married, in 1798.

VI. SiR JAMBS CARNEGIE, third Baronet of Pittarrow,
and but for attainder sixth Karl of Southesk, succeeded

! Original discharge at Kinnaird Castle. # Records of Parish of For-
doun, 3 Ibid. * Ibid. 5 Ibid.
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his father 3 April 1729 at the age of thirteen years, and
the next year he became heir-male of the family of Southesk
by the death of James, the fifth Harl.

Sir James’s guardians, Andrew Fletcher of Saltoun, Lord
Milton, and Sir Alexander Ramsay of Balmain, resisted the
desire of his mother to have him brought up a Jacobite,
and determined to send him to the University of Glasgow,
where Principal Neil Campbell undertook the supervision
of his education. His whole income during the lifetime of
his mother was only £20 a year ; and his guardians, in 1730,
memorialised Sir Robert Walpole, then Chancellor of the
Exchequer, on his behalf, setting forth that he was heir-
male of the family of Southesk, whose estates he had
lost through no fault of his own, and that his grandfather
Sir David had performed notable service against the High-
land rebels, and had sustained severe loss thereby, his house
of Pittarrow being plundered, and his lands laid waste, for
which he had only received a compensation of £422, 8s.!

After leaving Glasgow University Sir James entered on
a Parliamentary career, and in June 1741 he was elected
member for Kincardineshire. After his election Sir James
was very attentive to his duties, and regularly attended
the sittings of Parliament. He was re-elected for Kin-
cardineshire in 1747 ; both his elections being largely due
to the influence exercised on his behalf by his uncle Andrew
Fletcher, Lord Milton, then Lord Justice-Clerk. In 1737
Sir James Carnegie entered the Army, and in May 1745
he fought at the battle of Fontenoy, under the Duke of
Cumberland. Sir James Oarnegie returned to England
with the Duke, and in 1746 fought on the Hanoverian side
at the battle of Culloden, while his brother George, as
already mentioned, was in the Prince’s army. In 1748 he
was with his regiment at Nestelroy in Holland ; but seems
to have come home shortly after that and acquired a lease
of Kinnaird, upon which estate he spent a great deal of
money in improvements. He was re-elected member for
Kincardineshire in 1761, and again in 1765. In February
1764 Sir James COarnegie repurchased from the bankrupt
York Buildings Company the greater part of the estate of
Southesk, comprehending the baronies of Kinnaird, Farnell,

1 Minutes of Evidence, Southesk Peerage Case, 164.
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(Carnegie and Panbride, Kinnell, Fearn and Brechin in For-
farshire, and Fairneyflet and Largie in Kincardineshire.
Owing to lack of competition he effected the purchase for
£36,870, 14s. 2d., although the York Buildings Company had
paid £51,540 for them in 1716.

Soon afterwards he sold the lands of Carnegie, Glaster,
Panbride, and the superiority of Balmachie, to William,
Earl of Panmure, who, at the same time, sold to Sir James
the lands of Over and Nether Kincraigs, Balbirnie Mill,
Pantaskall, and half of Arrat, all in the Parish of Brechin.
Before the feudal titles to the estates were made out Sir
James died, and the estates were vested in his trustees,?
who were forced, in order to pay the price of the Southesk
estates, to sell Pittarrow in Kincardineshire, and some
small portion of the estates in Forfarshire. Lady Carnegie
also sold her estate of Balyordie. Sir James died at Stam-
ford 30 April 1765 and was buried there. He married,
5 July 1752, Christian, eldest daughter of David Doig of
Cookston, and of his wife Magdalen Symmer, the heiress of
Balyordie.* In virtue of a precept in the contract Lady
Carnegie was infeft in an annuity of £100 sterling out of
Pittarrow. Her tocher was £3000. She was also the
heiress of Cookston and Balyordie. By her, who survived
him for fifty-five years, dying at Montrose 4 November
1820, aged ninety-one, Sir James had issue :—

1. DAvip, who succeeded his father.

2. James, who was born 5 March 1756. He died at
the age of ten years at Arbuthnott, and his patri-
mony of £2000 was divided amongst his younger
brothers and sisters.

3. John, who was born 13 August 1757. He became a
soldier, and served in the 11th Regiment of Light
Dragoons from 1774 to 1798. He rose to the rank of
lieutenant-colonel. Colonel John Carnegie died in
1823, and his body was subsequently removed to Sea-
ford. He married, in October 1791, Catherine, the
only daughter of the Rev. —— Tireman, Sub-Dean
and Prebendary of Chichester. They had one son,

1 History of Carnegies, by Sir W. Fraser. 2 Crown charter dated 23
February 1767, and sasine dated 4, and registered 11, April 1767, at Kin-
naird ; History of Carnegies, 210. 3 Minutes of Evidence, Southesk
Peerage Case, 303.
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the Reverend James, Vicar of Seaford, in Sussex,
who died without issue 8 February 1864. His
wife survived him, and died 25 December 1824, aged
seventy-one years.

4. George, who was born at Kinnaird on 2 January 1759.
He was brought up to the Law, and was admitted a
member of the Faculty of Advocates 6 August 1782.
He died, unmarried, 19 May 1786, aged twenty-seven
years.

5. Mary, born 21 August 1760. She died, unmarried,
at Seaford, Sussex, on 8 February 1828, and was
buried there.

6. Elizabeth, born in 1763; she died, unmarried, at
Mountquhanie, Fife, on 25 July 1836, and was buried
in St. Outhbert’s Churchyard, Edinburgh.

VII. SIR DAvVID CARNEGIE, fourth Baronet (and but
for attainder seventh Harl of Southesk). Sir David
was only twelve years old when he succeeded his father.
During his minority his trustees paid off all the debts on
the estates, and conveyed them to him free of burdens.
He was educated at Eton, St. Andrews, and Christ Church,
Oxford, where he was distinguished for his literary attain-
ments.

He purchased the lands of Arnhall and Leuchars, but
later he sold these estates and also Pitkennedy and Frame-
drum, and bought instead the barony of Old Montrose and
the lands of Marytoun, Ananie, and Fullarton, which ad-
joined the estate of Kinnaird. He rebuilt Kinnaird in 1791
and 1792, and investigated the possibility of the restoration
of the forfeited titles of Harl of Southesk, etc., but he was
advised that he would be unsuccessful, so he let the matter
drop. In 1784 he was elected member for the Montrose
Burghs; and in 1796 was elected member for the county
of Forfar, which county he represented until his death,
which took place in London 25 May 1805. He was buried
in the Church of St. Martin-in-the-Fields. 8ir David
Carnegie married, at Edinburgh (contract 29 April 1783),
Agnes Murray, daughter of Andrew Elliot of Greenwells,
uncle of the first Earl of Minto, Lieutenant-Governor of
the province of New York. By her, who died at Leaming-
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ton, 9 June 1860, aged ninety-six, having survived her
husband for fifty-five years, he had issue :—

1. JaMES, who succeeded his father.

2. John, born at Kinnaird 19 June 1802. He joined
the Scots Greys in 1822, and exchanged into the 9th
Lancers, from which he retired in 1836 with the rank
of captain. He succeeded in 1853 to the estates of
Seaton and Tarrie, which were left to him by Thomas
Rennie Strachan of Tarrie, a descendant of Eliza-
beth, daughter of Sir David Carnegie, first Baronet

' of Pittarrow. He took the names of Rennie Strachan,
prefixing them to his own name of Carnegie. Captain
John Rennie Strachan Carnegie died 22 February
1879. He married, 7 September 1848, Elizabeth
Susan, daughter of Colonel John Grey of Backwortl,
Northumberland, and by her, who died 15 June 1878,
had one son,

Claud Cathcart, born 9 December 1849; educated at Chelten-
ham College, St. Andrews University, and Trinity College,
Camnbridge. He is a Justice of the Peace and Deputy-
Lieutenant for the county of Forfar, and Justice of the
Peace for Devonshire. He married, 16 April 1874, Mary
Madeline, daughter of William Breakenridge of Kingston,
Canada, by whom he has issue :—

i. Alan Bruce, born 27 January 1875; Advocate 1902.

ii. Dorothy Olivia,born 27 March 1877 ; married, 9 January
1907, to David Horndon, second son of the late
‘William Horndon of Pencrebar, Cornwall.

3. Christina Mary, born 25 May 1784, and died, un-
married, on 27 August 1860, aged seventy-six.

4. Elizabeth, a twin with her sister Christina. She lived
at Leamington, and died there, unmarried, 3 July
1884, aged one hundred years and five weeks.

5. Jane, born at Kinnaird 6 October 1785, and died, un-
married, at Leamington, 24 April 1859, aged seventy-
four.

6. Anne, born 17 January 1787, and married, 17 April
1822, to Rear-Admiral Robert Wauchope. Of this
marriage there was one son, William Andrew, who
died, unmarried, in 1844, The Admiral died in June
1862, and his widow survived till 22 April 1879,
wherl she died, aged ninety-two.
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7. Mary Amnne, born, at Edinburgh, 9 May 1788, and
died, unmarried, on 2 October 1834, aged forty-
six.

8. Eleanor,born 23 June 1789. Married (contract 9 June
1828) to James Evans of Norwood, in Middlesex, and
died, without issue, 27 September 1855, aged sixty-

- gix, survived by her husband.

9, Agnes, born at Kinnaird 18 September 1790. She
resided in Leamington, and died there, unmarried,
8 March 1875, in her eighty-fifth year.

10. Mary,born at Kinnaird 5 May 1793. Married, 6 March
1829, to Thomas Henry Graham of Edmond Castle,
Oumberland, and died, without issue, 22 November
1877, aged eighty-four.

11. Emma, born at Kinnaird 29 May 1794. Married (con-
tract 6 September 1820) to James Douglas of OCavers,
with issue. She survived her husband, and died 25
September 1882, aged eighty-eight.

12. Madeline, born at Kinnaird 8 January 1796. Married,
11 June 1816, to Sir Andrew Agnew, Baronet, of
Lochnaw, in Wigtownshire. She died in Moray
Place, Edinburgh, 21 January 1858, aged sixty-two,
leaving issue.

Thus the twelve children of Sir David Oarnegie lived to

the very creditable average age of seventy-five years.

Lady Oarnegie survived her husband for fifty-five years,

and died at Leamington 9 June 1860, at the age of ninety-
six.

Sir David was succeeded by his eldest son,

VIII. S1R JaMES CARNEGIE, fifth Baronet (and but for
attainder eighth Earl of Southesk). Sir James was born
28 September 1799 at Kinnaird, and succeeded to his father
at the age of six. He lived chiefly at Kinnaird with his
mother during his minority.

Having been educated by private tutors and at Eton, he
in 1818-19 made tours through France, Germany, and Italy.
In 1820 he visited Spain and Holland, and again in 1824
travelled through France and Italy. Sir James kept a
journal of his travels, which is preserved at Kinnaird.
He to a great extent cleared the estate of the debts which
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had been contracted by his father in the acquisition of
lands and contested elections. Sir James also acquired the
estate of Strachan, in the Mearns, and in 1829 he purchased
Baldovie, in the parish of Oraig. During his minority the
lands of Little Fithie, in Farnell parish, were added to the
estate. Sir James set himself seriously to the task of
getting the forfeited titles restored to the family, In 1847
he presented a petition to Queen Victoria, claiming the
titles of the Harl of Southesk and Lord Carnegie, and
evidence was taken before the Committee of Privileges on
11 August 1848, but in view of the decision in the Perth
Peerage Oase the claim was not then proceeded with.

Sir James was elected Member for Montrose Burghs in
1830, but during the later years of his life he retired from
politics, and lived entirely at Kinnaird, dying there 30
January 1849,

On 14 November 1825 he married, in Naples, Charlotte,
daughter of the Rev. Daniel Lysons, of Hempsted Court,
Gloucestershire, joint author with his brother of the well-
known work, Magna Britannica.

By his wife, who died at Leamington 10 April 1848, he
had issue :—

1. JAMES, sixth, and de jure ninth, Earl of Southesk.

2. John, born at Kinnaird 14 October 1829. He entered

the Royal Navy ; served on board the Calliope in the
New Zealand Rebellion of 1846-47; and during the
Crimean War was a lieutenant in the Sidon, taking
part in most of the operations in the Black Sea. He
rose to the rank of post-captain,and died, unmarried,
5 July 1883. On the restoration of his elder brother
to the Southesk titles he and his brother and surviving
sister were elevated to the rank of Earl’s children
by Royal warrant dated 30 August 1855. ‘

3. Charles, born at Kinnaird 14 May 1833. He was
gazetted in 1850 to the 23rd Regiment, and in 1853
transferred to the 27th Regiment, retiring from the
service in 1855. In 1860 he was elected member for
Forfarshire, and re-elected in 1865. From 1872 to
1884 he was Inspector of Constabulary for Scotland.
He died, unmarried, 12 September 1906.

4. Charlotte, born at Kinnaird 22 July 1839. She was
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married, first, 16 June 1860, to Thomas Frederick
Scrymseoure Fothringham of Fothringham and Pow-
rie in Forfarshire, who died 7 March 1864, leaving
issue; and, secondly, on 8 December 1868, to
Frederick Boilleau Elliot, fifth son of Admiral the
Hon. Sir George Elliot, K.0.B. She died 15 January
1880.

5. Agnes, born at Leamington 11 May 1843, and died on
13 January 1852.

IX. JAMES, sixth and de jure ninth Earl of Southesk.
He was born in Edinburgh on 16 November 1827, and
educated at the Edinburgh Academy. In 1845 he joined
the 92nd Highlanders, and the next year transferred to
the Grenadier Guards, where he served for three years.
In 1849, on the death of Sir Thomas Burnett of Leys,
he was appointed Lord-Lieutenant of XKincardineshire,
which office he held until 1856, when he disposed of his
estate of Strachan in that county. He further sold his
estate of Glendye to Sir Thomas Gladstone, Baronet, of
Fasque. During 1854 he renovated and practically rebuilt
the castle of Kinnaird. In the preceding year, 1853, he
renewed the claim made by his father to the forfeited titles
of Earl of Southesk and Lord Carnegie of Leuchars and
Kinnaird, and his claim was granted in July 1855.! In 1859
Lord Southesk travelled in North America for nearly a
year. He was created a Peer of the United Kingdom on
7 December 1869, with the title of BARON BALINHARD
OF FARNELL. He was a Knight of the Thistle and an
LL.D. of St. Andrews University. He was well known as
an antiquary, and formed[a large collection of antique gems
and cylinders which contain many intaglios of world-wide
celebrity.

Lord Southesk published several works of prose and
poetry, the best known being Saskatchewan and the Rocky
Mountains, Jonas Fisher, and the Burial of Isis. He died
at Kinnajrd on 21 February 1905. Lord Southesk married,
first, 19 June 1849, Catherine Hamilton Noel, second daughter
of Charles, first Barl of Gainsborough. By her, who died
9 March 1855, he had issue :—

1 Southesk Peerage Case.
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1. OnArRLES NoOEL, Lord Carnegie, who succeeded as
seventh and de jure tenth Earl of Southesk,

2. Arabella Charlotte, born 23 October 1850; married,
7 February 1878, to Samuel Henry Romilly, Esq. of
Huntington Park, Hereford, by whom she had issue.
She died 14 February 1907.

3. Constance Mary, O.1., born 17 November 1851 ; married,
9 November 1876, to the ninth Earl of Elgin. (See title
Elgin and Kincardine.) She died 24 September 1909,

4, Beatrice Diana Cecilia, born 16 December 1852;
married, 28 July 1874, to the Rev. Henry Holmes
Stewart, Rector of Porthkerry, in Wales, by whom
she has issue.

Lord Southesk married, secondly, on 29 November 1860,
Susan Catherine Mary Murray, daughter of Alexander
Edward, sixth Earl of Dunmore, by whom he had issue :—

5. Lancelot Douglas, M.V.0., born 26 December 1861.
Entered the Diplomatic Service, and has served at
Madrid, St. Petersburg, Berlin, Pekin, Vienna, and
Paris, where he is now Chancellor of Embassy. He
married, on 2 January 1890, Marion Alice de Gournay,
daughter of Henry Ford Barclay of Monkham, Essex,
and has issue :—

(1) James, born 1909,
(2) Mariota Susan, born 18 December 1892.
(8) Dorothea Helena, born in Pekin 6 August 1906.

6. Robert Francis, born 6 May 1869, late captain and
brevet-major in the second battalion of the Gordon
Highlanders. He served through the whole of the
South African War, was wounded in Ladysmith dur-
ing the siege, and twice mentioned in despatches.
He has settled in British East Africa.

7. David Wynford, born 23 March 1871. In 1892 he went
to Australia and remained there among the Cool-
gardie goldfields for about five years. He journeyed
in 1896 and 1897 from Coolgardie to Hall’s Creek, re-
turning by a different route, going through some
three thousand miles, almost all of which was hither-
to unexplored country. On his return he published
a book of his travels entitled Spinifex and Sand, and
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was elected a Fellow of the Royal Geographical
Society and awarded the Gill Memorial Grant in
recognition of his valuable work. In 1899 he accepted
an appointment as assistant resident in Northern
Nigeria under Sir Frederick Lugard ; and on 27 Nov-
ember 1900, while on a punitive expedition to a
native town, his party was ambushed by natives and
he was wounded by a poisoned arrow, from the efiects
of which he died in a few moments.

8. Dora Susan, born 29 April 1863. She was married, on
27 June 1894, to Ernest de Rodakowski, formerly in
the 1st Austrian Lancers, son of Geheimer Rath, and
Général der Cavallerie, Josef de Rodakowski, and
Ottilia, née Countess Wrangel, and has issue.

9. Elizabeth Erica, born 29 June 1864, and died un-
married on 23 June 1897.

10. Helena Mariota, born 13 October 1865.

11. Katharine Agnes Blanche, born 12 June 1867. She
was married, on 5 August 1890, to Colonel Courtenay
Charles Evan Morgan, son of the late Hon. Frederick
O. Morgan, and heir-presumptive to the second Baron
Tredegar, and has issue.

X. CHARLES NOEL, seventh and, but for attainder, tenth
Earl of Southesk, born 20 March 1854. He was educated at
Harrow and St. Andrews University, of which he holds the
honorary degree of LL.D. He commanded the late Forfar
and Kincardine R.G.A. (Militia), and has the reputation of
being the best game shot in Scotland. He is a J.P. and
D.L. for Forfarshire and Aberdeenshire, and D.L. for Kin-
cardineshire. He married, on 1 August 1891, Ethel Mary
Elizabeth, only child of the late Sir Alexander Bannerman, »
Baronet, of Elsick, and has issue :—

1. CHARLES ALEXANDER, Lord Carnegie, born' 23 Septem-

ber 1893. ‘
. Alexander Bannerman, born 22 December 1894.
. James Duthac, born 26 September 1910.
. Katherine Ethel, born 12 June 1892.
. Mary Elizabeth, born 4 March 1899.

St O

OrEATIONS.—Lord Carnegie of Kinnaird, 14 April 1616 ;.
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Earl of Southesk, and Lord Carnegie of Kinnaird and
Leuchars, 22 June 1633, all in the Peerage of Scotland;

Lord Balinhard of Farnell, 7 December 1869, in the Peerage
of the United Kingdom.

ARMS.~—~Argent, an eagle displayed azure, bearing on its
breast an antique covered cup, or.

OREST.—A thunderbolt, proper, winged or.
SurrorRTERS.—Two talbots argent, collared gules.
MotTto.—Dred God.

[A. s. ¢.]



LINDSAY, LORD SPYNIE

PYNIE,a parish adjacent to
Elgin and containing the
lochofthesamename,now
almost entirely drained,
but at one time a navig-
able arm of the sea, was
for many centuries associ-
ated with the Bishops of
Moray. For ashort time
previous to its trans-
ference to Elgin in 1224
their cathedral was at
Spynie, and until the
final abolition of Episco-
pacy, the fortress palace
of Spynie was their seat.
Under its walls there

grew up a little town with, at one time, a harbour actually

on the sea. By charter, dated 24 July 1451, King James 1I.

erected the town of Spynie into a burgh of barony.! By

another charter, dated 18 November of the same year, the
whole lands of the church of Moray were erected into the

barony of Spynie.’ And next year by charter, dated 15

August 1452, the barony and burgh of Spynie were erected

‘in meram et liberam regalitatem seu regaliam’ to be held

of the King by the Bishop of Moray and his successors in

the see for ever.®

Notwithstanding the Reformation, Patrick Hepburn,
who had become Bishop of Moray in 1535, contrived to
retain possession of the temporalities of the see until his

1 Reg. Morav., 221. 2 Ibid., 223, 3 Ibid., 225. For the register of the
Regality Court see Spalding Club Miscellany, vol. ii. pp. xlvi, 119,
94
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death on 20 June 1573." During his long episcopate he
freely utilised the great estates of the bishopric to make
provision for his illegitimate children and various relatives,
as well as to purchase the protection of such zealous
Reformers as the Regent Moray.? Kven after these dila-
pidations the estates remained of considerable value, and
passed to George Douglas, a natural son of Archibald, sixth
BEarl of Angus (see that title), who, on 12 August 1573,
was appointed the first Protestant Bishop of Moray.

By the Act 1587, cap. 8,* the temporalities of all benefices
were annexed to the Crown, reserving to archbishops and
bishops their principal castles and mansions. On the death
of Bishop Douglas in 1589, what remained of the patrimony
of the see of Moray was accordingly in the hands of King
James vI., and at his disposal, and he conferred it on

I. ALEXANDER LINDsAY, fourth son of David, tenth Harl
of Orawford (see that title), by his wife Mary Beaton,
daughter of the Cardinal Archbishop of St. Andrews. Barly
in life he became attached to the person of King James vI.,
whose favour and confidence he soon obtained. On 29
January 1589, under the designation of Mr. Alexander
Lindesay of Sandefurde, he obtained a confirmation of the
lands of Auchmuthie and others, which he had acquired from
John Betoun of Balfour, the destination being to him and
the heirs of his body, whom failing, to John Lindsay, his
brother, and the heirs-male of his body, whom failing, to
the nearest heirs-male and assignees of the grantee.* Soon
thereafter he became Vice-Chamberlain, and in that
character accompanied the King to Denmark on the
occasion of his marriage to the Princess Anna. While
they were still abroad the King wrote to him from the
castle of Croneburg, ¢ quhaire we are drinking and dryuing
our in the aulde maner,’ that ‘ quhen Godd randeris me in
Skotlande I shall irrevocablie and with consent of Parlia-
ment erect you the temporalitie of Murraye in a temporal
lordshipp with all honouris thairto apperteining.’® Within
a week of the King’s return, on 6 May 1590, a charter

! Keith, Scottish Bishops, 150. 2 For a number of his grants see
Reg. Morav., 391 et seq. ® Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 431. % Reg. Mag. Sig.
5 Original letter in Adv. Bib., quoted in Lives of the Lindsays, i. 319.
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passed the Great Seal by which there were granted
‘ Magistro Alexandro Lindsay heredibus suis et assignatis
hereditarie’ the lands, lordships, and baronies of Spynie,
Kynneder, Birneth, Raffort, Ardclayth, Kylmylies, Strath-
spey, Moy and Keith, along with the patronage of certain
churches and other rights which had previously formed
part of the patrimony of the see of Moray, all which were
erected into the barony of Spynie, in favour of the said
Mr. Alexander and his heirs and assignees, ‘Dando con-
cedendoque dicto magistro Alexandro suis predictis Titulum
Honorem Ordinem et Statum Liberi baronis, qui nunc et in
perpetuum Barones de Spynie nuncupabantur.” The charter
further proceeds—* Tenend. et habend. etc., prefato magis-
tro Alexandro Lindsay heredibus suis et assignatis in feodo
et hereditate liberaque baronia in perpetuum.’® The red-
dendo was 100 merks in name of blench farm.

Different views have been expressed as to the import and
effect of this charter, and in particular as to whether the
Peerage of Spynie was thereby created. It is therefore
important to note, first, that the subjects of the grant are
not erected into a dominium but into a baronia; second,
that the style conferred on the grantee is not dominus but
liber baro; and third, that liber baro as used in the rati-
fication of the King’s marriage-contract on 17 May 1590,
i.e. eleven days after the date of the Spynie charter, did
not imply that the person so described was a Peer. It is
also important to notice that no assumption of a Peerage
style seems to have immediately followed on this charter.
Out of numerous instances the following may suffice.
In the sederunts of the Privy Council of 24 June, and
11 and 12 August 1590, Alexander Lindsay is entered as
Mr. Alexander Lindsay.* On 6 August 1590 he obtained
a grant of certain escheats as Mr. Alexander Lyndesay of
Spynie.! In a letter of attorney by King James vI., dated
16 August 1590, he appoints as factor and commissioner
for certain purposes, ‘ our familiare servitour Mr. Alexander
Lindsay of Spynie.® Then came a change. Mr. David

! Reg. Mag. Sig. * Ibid. James Scrymgeour of Dudhope is there
designed ‘liber baro de Dudhope connestabulus Taodunanus ac Scotie
vexillifer hereditarius.” 3 P. C. Reg., iv. 493, 520, 523. ¢ Privy Seal Reg.,
61 f. 22. & Douglas Book, iv. 32.
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Moysie, an officer of the Royal Household writes in anno
1590: ¢ Upon the 4th of November Mr. Alexander Lindsay,
youngest brother to the Earl of Crauford, having become a
great minion in Court, was preferred and made Lord Spynie,
and, with him, Sir George Home of Prymbroke-Knolls and
Sir James Sandilands of Cremanan were knighted in Holy-
rood House at supper.’! Mr. Riddell also quotes a state-
ment from the Ms. of Sir James Balfour, Lyon King-of-
Arms, viz. ‘same yeire (1590) 4 Novembris Alexander Lin-
desy, brother-german to David, Earll of Crauford, wes
knighted, and immediatelie thereafter made Lord of oure
Soveraigne Lords Parliament and namd Lord Spynie.’? He
also cites Johnston to the same effect.’ In the sederunt of
the Privy Council of 4 November 1590 Alexander Lindsay
appears for the first time as Lord Spynie.* It also appears
that as Lord Spynie he sat in the first Parliament held
after this date,on 6 August 1591.° On 29 May 1592 he was
appointed one of the Lords of the Articles pro nobilibus,®
and on 5 June he was placed on the Privy Council as
¢ Alexander, Lord of Spynie, Vice-Chalmerlane.’’

Alexander Lindsay had for some time been enamoured of
Jean Lyon, daughter of Lord Glamis (see title Strathmore),
and widow in succession of Robert Douglas, younger of
Lochleven, by whom she had William, sixth Earl of Morton
(see that title), and Archibald, eighth Earl of Angus,
and the King had vigorously intervened in support of his
favourite’s suit. Two of his letters to the lady are still
extant,® and the King’s gift of the lordship of Spynie seems
to have accelerated her favourable decision. At all events
they were married shortly thereafter, for on 31 May 1590
a bond, granted by her on 14 June 1589, was recorded
against her and Mr. Alexander Lindsay, her spouse.’

In 1592 Lord Spynie, who had been made a member of
the reconstituted Privy Council,” obtained a parliamentary

1 Moysie’s Memoirs, 175. ? Peerage Law, ii. 656, 3 Ibid.,657. ¢ P. C. Reg.,
iv. 5342, 5 Acta Parl. Scot.,iii.525. 6 Ibid.,550. 7 Ibid.,562. ® Abbotsford
Club Miscellany, 215. ? Reg. of Deeds, xxx. £.499. It is right to say that
Dr. Maitland Thomson, to whose generous kindness the writer is, as
usual, much indebted for information, has pointed out that in an entry
in the General Register of Inhibitions, dated 3 May 1610, xxxix, f. 451, the
marriage is said to have taken place in April 1589, It seems probable,
however, that this date is wrong. 19 Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 562.
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ratification of the charter of 6 May 1590, from which it
appears that his services to the King had included an
advance of ‘8000 crowns of the sun.” In view of his
marriage the ratification also authorised the King to grant
of new to ‘the said Alexander, Lord of Spyne, and Dame
Jane Lyoun, Countes of Angus, his spouse, the langest livar
of them twa in conjunct fie and to the aires laufullie gottin
or to be gottin betwix them, quhilkis failzeing to the narrest
and lauchful airis maill of the said Alexander quhatsum-
ever and their assignais heretablie,” all and sundry the
lands, baronies, patronages and others contained in the
previous charter, all united in the temporal lordship and
barony of Spynie. The ratification further proceeds that
the King, with consent of the Estates, ¢ gevis and grantis
to the said Alexander, Lord of Spynie, and his foirsaidis
the honor, estate, dignity and preeminence of ane frie
Lord of Parliament to be intitulit Lords of Spynie in all
tyme cumming with all priviligis belanging thereto. To be
haldin of our Soverane Lord and his successors in frie
heritage and in ane frie temporal Lordschip, Baronie and
regallitie for ever, for yeirlie payment and doing of the
service of ane lord in parliament and of ane knight
togidder with the soume of ane hundred merks money
yeirlie at the feast of Whitsunday in name of blenche ferme
allanerlie,” and it was further ordained that a new infeft-
ment in these terms should be granted under the Great
Seal.! This ratification was not a mere formality, and,
according to Craig, was necessary to prevent reduction
of the charter at the instance of the Lord Advocate.?

In order that this new infeftment—with its altered
destination—should be granted, it was of course necessary
that the barony of Spynie should be resigned into the
hands of the Crown. This was duly done, and on 17 April
1593 a new charter passed the Great Seal in the terms
authorised by the Act of 1592, and also including the
patronage of numerous churches which had belonged not
to the Bishop but to the Chapter of Moray.? The destina-
tion, it must be noted, is ‘ Alexandro Domino de Spynie et
Domine Jeanne Lyoun, Comitisse de Angus, ejus sponse,

1 Acta Parl. Scot., iii. 650, et seq. ? Jus Feudale, i. 16-6. 3 Reg. Mag.
Sig.




R ——

LINDSAY, LORD SPYNIE 99

eorumque alteri diutius viventi in conjuncta infeodatione et
heredibusinter eoslegitime procreatis, quibus deficientibus,
legitimis et propinquioribus heredibus masculis dicti Alex-
andri quibuscunque et assignatis.” The whole subjects
were also erected *in temporale dominium et baroniam de
Spynie.” The charter proceeds: ‘Dando et concedendo
dict. nostro predilecto consanguineo et consiliario Alex-
andro domino de Spynie suisque heredibus et assignatis
supra recitatis titulum, honorem, ordinem et statum liberi
baronis et domini nostrorum parliamentorum qui domini
de Spynie omni tempore futuro nuncupabuntur et intitula-
buntur et qui votum et suffragium habeburt in omnibus
nostris parliamentis, consiliis generalibus, conventionibus et
congregationibus similiter ac quisquam alius dominus parlia-
menti habet, habuit, habere possit vel in futurum habere
potuerit et ut dictum dominium insignibus et armis, ut
accordat honoretur.’

On the same day, on his own resignation, he obtained
a new charter of Auchmuthie and other lands in Forfar-
shire in favour of himself and his wife and the longer
liver ¢ et heredibus masculis inter ipsos legitime procreatis
seu procreandis, quibus deficientibus, heredibus masculis et
assignatis dicti Alexandri quibuscunque.’! The marked
difference between the two destinations is obvious.

Whatever, then, may have been the effect by itself of the
charter of 6 May 1590, or the necessity for the incident of
4 November 1590, it is plain that on 6 August 1591 Alex-
ander Lindsay had the status of a Lord of Parliament, and
that from 17 April 1593, at the latest, he held a Peerage
with a destination to the heirs of the marriage between him
and Dame Jean Lyon, whom failing, to his nearest and law-
ful heirs-male whatsoever. In the Decreet of Ranking of
1606 Lord Spynie is placed after Lord Thirlestane and before
Lord Roxburghe.

King James having become anxious for the establishment
of Episcopacy in Scotland, entered into negotiations with
Lord Spynie * which resulted in his surrender to the Crown
of the patrimony of the old bishopric, although he continued

1 Reg. Mag. Stg. It is a curious circumstance that in the Record the
words ‘et heredibus masculis inter ipsos legitime procreatis’ are written
over an erasure. ? Abbotsford Club Miscellany, i. 214.
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to retain the patronage of the numerous churches belong-
ing to the Chapter, granted by the charter of 1593. The
terms of the transaction do not appear to be known.
Bishop Keith says that it proceeded on payment of ‘a
considerable sum of money.! But the phraseology of a
letter from the King*® suggests that other arguments than
a money payment alone had been employed to influence
Lord Spynie. In addition to what he got from the King,
Lord Spynie also obtained from Alexander, the new Bishop
of Moray, a bond for 10,000 merks to be paid within ten
years. After Spynie’s death the Bishop was pressed for
payment of this sum, and, according to his story, although
he had settled for 4400 merks with Sir John Lindsay, the
tutor of the young Lord, he was thereafter sued for the
whole original sum, and so was driven to appeal to the
King to intervene and stop the proceedings.’

On 18 July 1605 Lord Spynie obtained a charter of
Ballysack (now Boysack), Burnside, and other lands in
the county of Forfar, in which the destination was
to the heirs-male of the marriage, whom failing, to the
grantee’s heirs-male and assignees whomsoever. He also,
on his own resignation, obtained another charter, dated 27
February 1606, to him and to his heirs-male and assignees
whomsoever of the lands of Burnsyde in the county of
Forfar and the patronage of the various chapterly churches
above referred to.

In 1592 Lord Spynie was accused by Colonel William
Stewart, Commendator of Pittenweem, of being associated
with Francis Stewart, Earl of Bothwell, in some of the con-
spiracies of that troublesome person. The charge came to
nothing, and Lord Spynie was formally restored to favour,
though it is said he never fully recovered the King’s con-
fidence.®* The Privy Council Register also contains refer-
ences to various feuds in which he was engaged, and notably
to a feud between him and Lord Glamis,® and another feud
between the Lindsays and the Ogilvies, in the course of
which Lord Spynie’s house of Kinblethmont was, on 26

1 Scottish Bishops,151. ? Abbotsford Club Miscellany, i.214. 3 Original
Letters, Bannatyne Club, ii. 277, etc. See also Hill Burton, v.451. ¢ Reg.
Mag. Sig. ® P.C. Reg., v.4,5,8,17; cf. Spottiswoode, 589. & P. C. Reg.,
v. 457. |
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November 1603, attacked by means of ¢ a maist deteistable
and unlauchfull ingyne of weir callit the pittart’ and ¢the
whole plenishing, evidents, gold and silver ' therein were
carried off by the Master of Ogilvy and his brothers.’
Another feud, and one among the Lindsays themselves to
which he was no party, had more serious results for Lord
Spynie. On the evening of 5 June 1607, while ‘gangand in
peciable and quiet maner upoun the hie streit of this burgh
of Edinburgh, at the stair fute of his ludgeing within the
same, recreating himselff efter his supper’ he unfortunately
intervened in a brawl between his two nephews, the
Master of Crawford and David Lindsay, younger of Edzell,
and their followers, and was so severely wounded® that he
died a few days thereafter.® By his wife, Jean Lyon, who
survived him, but died before March 1610, he is said to
have had issue :—

1. ALEXANDER, second Lord Spynie.

2. John, died young.®

3. Anna, married (contract 27 February 1607) to Sir
Robert Graham, youngest son of John, third Earl
of Montrose (see that title), the lady’s tocher
being 10,000 merks.® On the resignation of Lord
Montrose, Sir Robert and his wife had a charter of
the lands of Invermay, dated 7 March 1607."

4. Margaret.® As ‘executrix of the late Alexander,
Lord of Spynie, her father,’ a decree in absence was
obtained against her, on 15 November 1608, by
Nathaniel Gerod, merchant in London, for £330.°
She was married to Alexander Erskine of Dun, by
whom she had two sons, John and Alexander,” and
died at Dun 11 March 1635, and was °honourably
buried there upon Thursday, the 4 of April, being
brought from a high looft above some of the houses
without the place, and was carried upon two long
hand spakes from thence through the closs to the
Kirk, where she was interred in the old sepulchre of
that house.” "

1 P, C. Reg., vi. 519. 2 Ibid., vii. 383, xiv. 477, 3 Test. recorded Edin.

Com. Reg., 7 August 1607, * Gen. Reg. of Inhibs., xxxix. 451. ® Douglas.
¢ Reg. of Deeds, xxxi. 143. 7 Reg. Mag. Sig. ® See contract printed in the

Crawford Peerage Case, 134. ¢ P, C. Reg., viii. 193. 1° Testament-dative,
St. Andrews Com. Reg., 11 June 1635. 11 Lyon Office Records, 34-64.
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II. ALEXANDER, second Lord Spynie, succeeded his father
in 1607. As he was a pupil, his uncle, Sir John Lindsay of
Wodwra, was served tutor-at-law.! He must have been
born about 1597, for, on 29 June 1611, he cited the Harl
of Crawford and other kinsmen in an action for choosing
curators.? In November 1616 Lord Spynie, with consent of
his curators and his two sisters, entered into a contract
with David Lindsay of Edzell, who had been the cause
of their father’s death, under which they forgave and
discharged him of the same, while Hdzell by way of

assythement bound himself to pay Lord Spynie 8000 merks °

and infeft him in the town and lands of Garlobank. On
3 March 1621 as filius unigenitus he was served heir to his
father in Ballisak (Boysack), Kinblachmont (Kinblethmont)
and other lands, as well as in the patronage of the churches
of the Chapter of Moray.® He thereafter resigned the
whole of these subjects for new infeftment, and on 16 July
1621 obtained a charter of novadamus thereof, and of other
subjects which had been resigned by various persons in his
favour, ¢ Alexandro Domino Spynie et heredibus suis mas-
culis et assignatis quibuscunque.” On a narrative of his
father’s creation as Lord Spynie and of his restoration
to the Crown of the original lordship and barony of that
name, and of the royal desire that some connection should
be maintained between the dignity and the estates, the King
of new erected the lands of Boysack and others into a
lordship to be known in all time coming as the lordship and
barony of Spynie, and declared that Lord Spynie suique
antedicti preedicto titulo et ordine dignitatis dicti dominii de
Spynie fruerentur, cum omnibus honoribus, dignitatibus,
prerogativis et preeminentiis eisdem spectan. secundum
tenorem infeoffamenti dicto quond. suo patri desuper
confect. ac secundum dicti quond. sui patris creationem in
temporalem dominum tempore prescripto.’*

It is clear that the destination in this charter to heirs-
male does not square with that to heirs-general of the
marriage contained in the charter of 1593 to which it pro-
fesses to conform. But as there was no resignation of the
honours, it is equally clear that the destination of these

! Inquisit. de Tutela, 113, 2 Crawford Peerage Case, 133. 3 Refours.
4 Reg. Mag. Sig.
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contained in the charter of 1593 can not be affected by any-
thing in the charter of 1621. This charter was ratifled in
Parliament on 4 August 1621,' but the ratification makes
no mention of the honours. On 19 March 1623, Lord Spynie
obtained a charter of Carreston, which he acquired from
Forbes of Craigievar, to himself and his heirs-male and
assignees whomsoever.”? On28 April 1624, on his own resigna-
tion, he obtained a charter of Leys and other lands in favour
of himself in liferent and his eldest son, Alexander, Master
of Spynie, and the heirs-male of his body in fee, whorn failing,
to George Lindsay, his second son, and the heirs-male of his
body, whom failing, to Lord Spynie’s nearest heir-male and
assignees whomsoever.®

By contract, dated 23 and 26 September 1629, between
George, Barl of Crawford, Lord Lindsay, and Alexander,
Lord Spynie, Lord Crawford, whose affairs were in con-
fusion, sold and disponed various heritages, including the
barony of Finavon and the family burial-place in the Parish
Church of Dundee *togidder with the style, tittill, honour
and dignitie of the erldome of Crawford wzt all and sindrie
honouris, dignities, &c., belanging thereto’ to the said
Alexander, Lord Spynie, *and the airis-maill lawfullie to be
gottin of his awin body quhilkis failzeing (to) the said
noble Lord Alexander, Lord of Spynie, his narrest and
lawful hairis-male and assigneyis quhatsumever.’* So far
as the honours are concerned this transaction does not
appear to have received the requisite royal confirmation,
but the barony of Finavon and other subjects duly passed
to Lord Spynie, who on 22 January 1631 obtained a Crown
charter thereof.®

On 3 April 1617 a licence to go and remain abroad for
three years was granted to Alexander, Lord Spynie.® On
25 January 1621 he is found attending a convention,” and
thereafter he was frequently in his place in Parliament.
He was one of the Scots nobles who attended the state
funeral of King James Vi. at Westminster on 7 May 1625.°

On 2 June 1626 he received from King Charles 1. a patent
appointing him for life ‘ His Majesteis General Mustour-

! Acta Parl. Scot., iv. 654. 2 Reg. Mag. Sig. 3 Ibid. * Crawford
Peerage Claim, 88. 8 Reg. Mag. Sig. ¢ P. C. Reg., xi. 87. 7 Ibid., xii. 44.
8 Balfour, Annals, ii. 117.
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Maister and colonell of all and sindrie the trayned bandis
and companies of all and haill his Majesteis Kingdome of
Scotland and haill iles thereof adjacent and belonging
thairto.”* On 8 February 1627 he received the royal per-
mission to raise a regiment of three thousand men for the
service of the King of Denmark—an undertaking in which,
after some troubles, he was successful,’ and he and his men
earned great distinction for themselvesin the Thirty Years’
War, and notably at the siege of Stralsund in 1628.° He
was back in Scotland by September 1629, when the con-
tract in regard to Finavon was entered into.*

In 1633 his patent as Muster-Master was confirmed by
Parliament,® and he appears to have entered on the duties
of that office.® Besides taking part in public affairs, both
local and national, he seems during the next few years to
have become involved in several law pleas relating to his
Forfarshire estates.” On 7 June 1642 he expede a general
service as heir to his cousin Colonel Henry Lindsay, the
last surviving son of Sir John Lindsay of Wodwra. (See title
Crawford.) After the Covenanting troubles had begun he
joined the Marquess of Montrose at Perth in September
1644, and was with him at the taking of Aberdeen. When
Montrose marched north Lord Spynie remained in Aberdeen,
where he was captured by Argyll and sent to Edinburgh,
where he was ¢ wairdit.”®

Lord Spynie died in March 1646, having married, in 1620,
Margaret, only daughter of George, first Barl of Kinnoull,’
and by her, who died prior to 16 August 1650, had
issue :—

1. Alexander, Master of Spynie, who, by charter dated
11 August 1636, was by his father put in the fee of
Finavon, Platten and other lands."! He married Jean,
fourth daughter of John, first Earl of Ethie (see title
Northesk), who survived him, and in 1647 was married,

1 P, C. Reg., 2nd ser., i, 203. 2 Ibid., 539 et seq. 3 Monro's Expedition,
part i. 74-78. ¢ Supra. 5 Acta Parl. Scot., v.50. © P.C. Reg., v. 237,
7 Ibid., vi. 44 et seq. ® Spalding, History, ii. 262 et seq. ° Marriage-
contract dated 19 August 1620 in Spynie Charter-chest. For a previous
marriage to an alleged Joanna Douglas given by Sir Robert Douglas
and the various writers who repeat his statements, there seems no
authority. !° In the marriage-contract of her daughter Margaret of that
date, in Spynie charter-chest, she is termed ‘umgq'e.’ 11 Reg. Mag. Sig.
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secondly, to John Lindsay, afterwards of Edzel.! In
1638 he was one of those appointed to see that the
National Covenant was duly subscribed in the shire
' of Forfar.!? He died s.p. vitd patris.
2. GEORGE, third Lord Spynie.
3. MARGARET, of whom hereafter.
4. Anna, baptized 7 June 1631,* died, unmarried, in 1707.
Lord Spynie seems to have had also an illegitimate son,
for on 25 July 1649 Alexander Lindsay, son to the late
Alexander, Lord Spynie, was apprenticed with Alexander
Haliburton, merchant in Edinburgh.*

III. GEORGE, third Lord Spynie, was served heir-male to
his fatlier in the family estates in Forfar and other counties
on 12 June 1646, and on the same date he also expede
a general service as heir-male of his brother-german Alex-
ander, Master of Spynie.® In 1647 he was one of the few
who opposed the surrender of King Charles I. to the English
Parliament in return for the payment of the arrears due to
the Scots Army.” Next year he was appointed one of the
colonels for Forfarshire of the Scots Army,®and commanded
a troop of eighty horse from the sherifidom of Stirling and
Clackmannan,’ in the unsuccessful attempt to rescue the
King, known as The Engagement. In 1650 he again appears
as one of the colonels of Foot for Forfarshire,” and later, on
the Committee for regulating the Army." But the extreme
faction was now in power. In its eyes participation in
The Engagement was a sin of special enormity, and the
General Assembly of 1649 accordingly passed an Act there-
anent which throws a curious light on the methods of
this self-constituted theocracy.”

Along with Colonel John Ogilvy, Lord Spynie therefore
found it necessary on 3 January 1651 to present a petition
to the Commission of the General Assembly, acknowledging
‘their sense of and sorrow for their accession to the late
unlawfull Engagement against the Kingdome of England
and desyire to be receaved to publict satisfaction for the

1 Hist. of Carnegies, 356 ; seealso Staggering State,19. 2 P.C. Reg.,2nd
ser., vii. 77. 3 Canongate Reg. * Edinburgh Register of Apprentices.
® Retours. © Ibid. 7 Bishop Guthry’s Memoirs, 237. 8 Acta Parl. Scot.,
vi. 1,30. ° Ibid., 36, 10 Ibid.,625. 1! Ibid., 654 1% Acts of the General
Assembly, 201,
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same.” The Commission referred Lord Spynie to ¢ the Pres-
bytrie of Brechin to labour with him for bringing him to
a further sense of his foresaid offence, with power, upon
sufficient evidence of his repentance, to prescrive and cause
receave him to publict satisfaction according to the order
appointed, and thereafter to take his subscription to the
declaration engaged to be subscrived by engagers, and to
admitt him to the renewing of the Solemn League and
Covenant.’! This ‘ publict satisfaction’ generally took the
form of an obviously insincere confession of sin on the part
of the vietim during divine service on the Sabbath day
followed by exhortations to the Almighty and to the penitent
which, in less exuberant times, might be regarded as blas-
phemous. Some such delectable function must have duly
taken place under the auspices of the Presbytery of
Brechin, for, on 12 June, in appointing chaplains to the
unfortunate troops, with whose spiritual and temporal well-
being they were perpetually interfering, the Commission
of Assembly were pleased to direct ‘Mr. Robert Reynold
to stay still with the Lord Spynie’s regiment.’ ?

The regiment in question was of course intended for the
English campaign which ended so disastrously at Worcester,
where Lord Spynie was taken prisoner.’ On 16 September
he was committed to the Tower,' where were also confined
the Barl Marischal, the Earl of Lauderdale, and other Scots
nobles. His imprisonment, though prolonged, does not
seem to have been unduly rigorous, for on 9 January 1652 he
was allowed the liberty of the Tower for the benefit of his
health,” and on 11 March 1653 he had the liberty of the
city and ten miles round, on security to appear on Summons,
not to go beyond his limits, and not to act to the prejudice
of Government.® For his maintenance the sum of £2 per
week was allowed to him, chargeable against the public
revenues of Scotland.” In the meantime, so far back as
August 1651 his estates had been pillaged and his house
assaulted by the Cromwellian troops under Monek, who found
there a number of important people, including ‘the Lady

! General Assembly Commission Records, ii. 183, Scottish History
Society. 2 Ibid., ii.462. This seems to be the minister of St. Vigean’s,
and afterwards of Aberdeen. 3 Nicoll’'s Diary, 58. * State Papers, Dom-

estic, 1651, 432 ; 1654, 273.  ° Ibid., 1652, 95. ¢ Ibid., 1633, 210. 7 Ibid.,
1655, 128.
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Spynee.’! Along with many others of the Scots nobility he
was expressly excepted from Cromwell’s Ordinance of
Pardon and Grace,” and solemnly declared to be forfeited
by proclamation at the Edinburgh Market Cross on 5 May
1654.° His estates were vested in trustees.' Their annual
value is given as £462, 0s. 4d., and the debts affecting them
are stated to amount to £12,382, 9s. 2d.° This debt seems
to have been largely due to his expenditure on behalf of the
Royal cause, and it also seems from the family papers to
have been increased by the raising of money paid to secure
the removal of the forfeiture.* On the Restoration Lord
Spynie was one of those whose losses during the usurpation
were remitted to a commission of inquiry.” He sat in Par-
liament in 1663.* On 8 November 1666 he was served as
nearest and lawful heir-male of David, twelith Iarl of
Crawford.® On the death of Ludovic, sixteenth Earl of
Crawford (see that title), Lord Spynie became the head of
the family of Lindsay. The earldom of Crawiord, it may be
remembered, had been diverted by means of a resignation
and regrant to a remote cadet, viz. Lindsay of the Byres,
but the older title, Lord Lindsay, which had somehow been
omitted from the transaction, passed to Lord Spynie as the
heir-male.”” He sat in Parliament again in 1669," and for
the last time on 3 July 1670.” He died in the beginning of
next year, and was buried in Holyrood on 21 January 1671.%
He seems to have been in embarrassed circumstances, as
Lady Jean Carnegie, widow of his elder brother, and now
wife of John Lindsay of Edzell, was decerned executrix-
dative qua creditor. The title of Lord Lindsay passed to the
heir-male of the Lindsay family, whoever he may have been.
As to this there may be some difficulty. The existence of
Sir James Lindsay of Pitroddie, immediate younger brother
of Alexander, first Lord Spynie, was apparently not known
in 1848, when the Earl of Balcarres obtained from the

1 Scotland under the Commonwealth, Scot. Hist. Soc., 11. This seems
2 mistake, as Lord Spynie was not married, and his mother was dead.
¢ Acta Parl. Scot., vi. ii. 818. 3 Lamont’s Diary, 70; Nicoll's Diary, 125.
4 Acta Parl, Scot., viii. 821. 5 State Papers, Domestic, 1656, 362. ¢ Acta
Parl. Scot., App. 87; see also Reg. Mag. Sig., 1652-59. 7 Acta Parl. Scot.,
vii. 204, 468. 8 Ibid., 446. ° Retours. 10 Cf, vol. iii. 35. 1! Acta Parl.
Seot., vii. 548. 12 Ibid., viii. 4. The report of the Lords of Session to the

House of Lords seems inaccurate on this point ; see Robertson’s Proceed-
ings. '3 Canongate Reg. ! Supra, iii. 30.
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Committee of Privileges a recognition of his right to the
titles of Earl Crawford and Lord Lindsay.® He is said’ to
have been ‘ beyond seas 1597, and it is of course possible
that he died without issue. But any male descendant of
his would necessarily have been heir-male of George, Lord
Spynie, and head of the house of Lindsay. The title of
Spynie, on the other hand, as will be shown below, passed
to Lord Spynie’s heir-general, viz. his elder sister.

MARGARET, eldest daughter of Alexander, second Lord
Spynie, was baptized on 19 August 1623. She was mar-
ried on or before 31 May 1648, to William Fullarton of
Fullarton, from whom, on that date, she received a charter
of the Mains of Meigle in implement of a contract of
marriage agreed on between them,® and to whom she brought
a tocher of 13,000 merks. The ancient family of Fullarton
of that Ilk is believed to be descended from Galfridus
de Foullertoun and Agnes his wife, on whom King Robert 1.
conferred the lands of Fullarton and the hereditary office of
King’s Fowler within the shire of Forfar.® Having parted
with their original lands and acquired others on the border
of Perthshire, they transferred the name and had their new
possessions erected into the barony of Fullarton. On her
brother’s death in 1671 she became entitled to, but did not
assume, the Peerage of Spynie. And as his estates were
embarrassed, neither she nor her sister Ann took up the
succession to him. By William Fullarton she had three
children, WiLLIAM, Margaret, and Elizabeth.® She and her
husband were living on 10 August 1687, when, under
reservation of certain liferent rights to them, their son
William obtained a charter of the barony of Fullarton.’

‘WILLIAM FULLARTON died before 12 November 1746 ;° he
married, prior to 1681, Susanna, second daughter of Colonel
John Fullarton of Dudwick, by his wife. Dame Elizabeth
Preston,’ and by her had issue :—

1. JoHN.

! Vide Case for the Earl of Balcarres. 2 Supra, iii. 80. 3 Original
charter in Spynie Charter-chest. * Postnuptial contract of marriage in
Spynie Charter-chest. °® Haddington mss. in Adv. Bib., ii. 66. ¢ Ratifica-
tion and renunciation of 28 April and 17 May 1673 in Spynie Charter-chest.

7 Reg. Mag. Sig. ® Dunkeld Tests. ? Bond of tailzie dated 20 July 1681
in Spynie Charter-chest.
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2. Elizabeth, married to David Ogilvy of Clunie, with a
tocher of 9000 merks (contract 8 February 17051).
She died 8 November 1754, aged seventy-three.*

JouN FULLARTON, married, first (contract 17 March and
7 September 1702), Margaret, daughter of John Carnegie * of
Boysack;*and secondly, prior to 12 November 1735, Rebecea,
daughter of Sir Thomas Nairne of Dunsinnan.® He died 13
October 1737,* having had issue by his first wife :—

1. WILLIAM.

2. Jean, married, 22 October 1724, to Sir John Wedder-
burn of Blackness, who was out in the 45, and was
executed by the Hanoverians at Kennington on 28
November 1746.7

3. Susannah, died, unmarried, 14 December 1761.%

VII. WiLLiAM FuLLARTON. He married, about 26 Sep-
tember 1730, Susanna, second daughter of David Ogilvy of
Clunie.® He was served heir to his father on 30 July 1740,
and to his grand-aunts Elizabeth and Margaret (supra), on
27 June 1746." He died 7 June 1771," having had issue by
his wife, who survived till 1789 :—

1. WiLrLiam.

2. Margaret, married to Walter Ogilvy of Clova, but for

attainder sixth Earl of Airlie (sec that title), and died
without issue 3 June 1780.

WiLLiaM FuLLARTON. He was for some time in the
Portuguese Army, in which he attained to the rank of lieu-
tenant-colonel. He was served heir-general of George,
Lord Spynie, designed as his ‘pater abavunculi,” on 21
August 1783." In 1784 he formally claimed the title of
Lord Spynie, but on 18 April 1785 it was reported to the
House of Lords that the Committee of Privileges had
come to the following resolution: ¢That it is the opinion
of this committee that although the original creation of
the title, honour, dignity and Peerage of Spynie has not

! Bond of tailzie dated 20 July 1681 in Spynie Charter-chest. 2 Scots
Mag. 3 Cf. confirmation of his father's test., Dunkeld Tests. * Bond by
Boysack of that date, ibid. ® Postnuptial marriage-contract of that date,
ibid. © Test.recorded 29 April 1742, Dunkeld Comm. Reg. 7 Hist.of Car-
negies, lxxxv; Wedderburn Book, i. 284. 8 Scots Mag. ? Postnuptial
marriage-contract dated 7and 9 February 1736 in Spynie Charter-chest.

10 Decennial Indexes of Services. M Scofs Mag. 12 Retour in Spynie
Charter-chest.
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been shown, yet it sufficiently appears from the Act of
Ratification 1592, the charter 1593, and the charter 1621,
that the descent was limited to the heirs-male of Alexander,
Lord Spynie, consequently that the claimant has no right
to the said Peerage.’' This resolution has been generally
regarded as erroneous,’ and Mr. Riddell assails both the
resolution itself and Lord Mansfield, who seems to have
been responsible for it, with more than his usual vigour.
The following statement of the late Earl of Crawford also
deserves attention. ‘Convinced, however, that on recon-
sideration of the case the House would now pronounce
a judgment favourable to the heir-female, the HEarl of
Balcarres did not include the barony of Spynie among the
ancient honours of the Crawford family recently claimed
by him before the House of Lords.”* The grounds of the
Committee’s decision seem to have been these. 1In the
Cassillis case it had been laid down * that where no instru-
ment of creation or limitation of the honours appears the
presumption of law is in favour of the heir-male ’—though
it was open to the heir-female, as in the Sutherland case,
to displace this presumption by evidence to the contrary.
In Lord Mansfield’s view, the Spynie Peerage had been
created by the ceremony of 4 November 1590 without any
writing to indicate the descent, and therefore the pre-
sumption in favour of the heir-male applied. In Mr.
Riddell’s view the Peerage was created by the charter of
6 May 1590, and the ceremony of 4 November was only
equivalent to investiture or infeftment, and he presses his
argument so far as to maintain that no Peerage was ever
created merely by belting. So far the facts seem rather
against him and in favour of Lord Mansfield. But in the
result he seems clearly right and Lord Mansfield as clearly
wrong. Even if it be assumed (1) that the charter of 6 May
1590 did not confer the Peerage; and (2) that it was con-
ferred by belting; it seems clear either that the Ratifica-
tion of 1592 and the charter of 17 April 1593 must be accepted
ag authoritatively declaring the destination of the original
Peerage, or that this charter contained a new grant of

! Robertson’s Peerage Proceedings, 429 ; see also Mr. Maidment’s Report
of the Spynie Claim. 2 See, e.g., Hewlett, Dormant, etc., Peerages.
3 Peerage Law, ii. 654, 707. * Lives of the Lindsays, ii. 255 note,

—
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Peerage to Lord Spynie and the heirs therein prescribed.
In the first case, the presumption on which Lord Mansfield
reliedisdisplaced; in the other,Colonel Fullarton was plainly
entitled to a Peerage created by the charter of 17 April
1593. There is nothing anomalous in such a double grant.
Lord Mansfield himself was Earl of Mansfield by two
separate creations with different limitations; and the
original earldom of Oxford is believed to have been for
centuries held along with another earldom of Oxford limited
to heirs-male and now extinct. In these circumstances,
and in view of the fact that a resolution of the Committee
of Privileges has not the effect of finally deciding the
matter dealt with, it seems proper to continue the pedigree
of the heirs of line who but for that resolution would have
succeeded to the dignity.

Colonel Fullarton, who assumed the name and designation
of Lindsay of Spynie, died on 23 February 1813, having
married, first, Stewart, only child of James Carnegie of
Boysack, who died in 1764; and, secondly, on 5 November
1765, Margaret, daughter of James Blair of Ardblair. By
his first wife he had issue an only son,

JAMES FULLARTON LINDSAY CARNEGIE, born in February
1764. 1In terms of an entail made by his grandfather, to
whom he was served heir on 17 April 1771, he succeeded
to the estate of Boysack in 1768, and assumed the name of
(Carnegie. He became a member of the Faculty of Advocates
on 10 August 1784 ; and married, in 1786, Mary Elizabeth,
daughter of James Strachan of Mincing Lane, London.! He
died vita patris 7 April 1805, leaving issue by his wife, who
survived him until 12 September 1816,

1. JAMES LINDSAY CARNEGIE.

2. WILLIAM FULLARTON LINDSAY CARNEGIE.

3. Alexander Lindsay, born 28 April 1789, captain of the

H.E.I.C. ship Kelly Castle. He died at sea 25 July
1822, leaving issue by his wife Amy, only daughter
of Alexander Cruickshank of Stracathro, whom he
married 31 October 1820, an only son,

(1) Alexander, born 1 November 1821. Sometime captain in the
8th Hussars, He married, in 1850, his cousin, Jane Lindsay
Carnegie (infra), and by her had issue.

1 Contract, dated 31 May 1786, in Spynie Charter-chest.
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4. John Mackenzie Lindsay, born 15 March 1792. Writer
to the Signet 1814; Principal Clerk of Session 26
February 1847 ; Director of Chancery 25 June 1858.
He died 4 August 1873, having had by his wife
Florence, daughter of Rev. Charles Brown, Rector
of Whitestone, Devon, whom he married 22 July 1835,
an only daughter, Emily Rose, married, 8 September
1864, to Colonel Duncan Stewart of the 92nd High-
landers, with issue Ian Charles Lindsay, Ronald
Robert, Archibald Alan William John.

5. Donald Lindsay, born 1794. He became a Chartered
Accountant in Edinburgh, and acquired the estate of
Ardargie, in Perthshire. He died, unmarried, on 17
December 1876.

6. Susan, born 26 May 1790. Married, 15 March 1814, to
Thomas Tod, Advocate, afterwards Judge of the
Oommissary Court, and died 5 July 1815, having had
one daughter, Susan Mary KElizabeth, married, 1836,
to Robert Oliphant of Rossie, with issue.

7. Mary Stuart, born 7 April 1791, died young.

8. Margaret Northesk, died, unmarried, 23 February
1818.

JAMES LINDSAY CARNEGIE, born 6 March 1787, succeeded
his father in Boysack 7 April 1805. He entered the Royal
Navy, and rose rapidly to the rank of commander. He
died at sea 5 October 1814, unmarried, and was succeeded
by his brother,

WiLLiaM FULLARTON LINDSAY CARNEGIE. He was born
13 May 1788, and for some time had a commission in the
Royal Artillery. He was served heir to his brother 20
March 1815. He married, 27 December 1820, Lady Jane
Ohristian Oarnegie, daughter of William, seventh Harl of
Northesk (see that title), who died 1 October 1840, and
died 13 March 1860, having had issue :—

1. James Jervis Ogilvy, born 1821, died 1831.

2. William, born 1825, died 1846.

3. Johmn, born 1833, died 1857.

4. Charles Edward, died young.

5. HENRY ALEXANDER.

6. DONALD CHRISTIAN STRACHAN.
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7. Mary Elizabeth, married, 1845, to Major George
Gordon of the Indian Army, with issue.
8. Jane, married, 1850, to her cousin Captain Alexander
Lindsay (supra), with issue.
9. Susan, married, 1855, to Robert Ramsay, with issue.
She died 17 February 1906.
10. Helen.

HENRY ALEXANDER LINDSAY CARNEGIE, born 5 July 1836,
succeeded his father in 1860, and was for some time in
the Bengal Engineers. He married, 1862, Agnes, eldest
daughter of James Rait of Anniston, by his wife Lady
Clementina Ogilvy (see title Airlie), and died without issue
1908, when he was succeeded by his brother,

DoNALD OHRISTIAN STRACHAN LINDSAY CARNEGIE, born
9 July 1840, sometime major in the Bengal Cavalry.

OrEATION.—Lord Spynie, 1590, or at latest 17 April 1593.

ARNMS (not recorded in Lyon Register but given in Peers’
Arms MS.).—Quarterly: 1st and 4th, gules, a fess chequy
argent and azure, for Lindsay; 2nd and 3rd, or, a lion
rampant gules debruised by a ribbon sable, for Abernethy ;
in the centre of the quarters a crescent argent for differ-
ence.

OREST.—An ostrich’s head and neck erased azure, holding
in its beak a horse-shoe proper.

SurPORTERS.—Two lions sejant gules.
MotT10.—Toujours Loyal.

[5. R. N, M.]

1 Pont’s Ms. omits the crescent, and differences the 1st and 4th quarters
with a label argent, and puts the same difference on the necks of the
crest and supporters. The Seton Armorial, compiled early seventeenth
century, differences the first and fourth quarters alone by a label.

VOL. VIII. H



DALRYMPLE, EARL OF STAIR

ALRYMPLE as a surname
is local, and is derived
from the barony of that
name in Ayrshire. Sir
Herbert Maxwell de-
rives it from the Gaelic
dal chriwm puill, land
of the curved pool. Dur-
ing the reign of King
David 11. the barony
existed in a state of

N B division into two equal
“ parts, which were sepa-

‘, : rately held by two Dal-
‘3 - rymples, who were pro-

SO ¥es T A5 bably derived from a

common progenitor.! In

May 1371, John Kennedy obtained a charter from Robert i1.

of one half of the barony of Dalrimpill ¢in Ayrshire upon

the resignation of Malcolm, the son of Gilchrist, the son of

Adam de Dalrimpill ;* and in December 1377 the same John

Kennedy obtained another charter from King Robert I1. of

the other half of the barony of Dalrimpill upon the resigna-

tion of Hew, the son of Roland de Dalrympill.’* In the
reign of King James 11., James de Dalrymple was witness
to the confirmation, dated 21 November 1450-51, of a charter
of date 27 January 1405, granting] the barony of Dalrymple
to Sir James Kennedy and his spouse, Lady Mary Stuart,
daughter of King Robert 111.*

1 Chalmers's Caledonia. 2 Reg. Mag. Sig., folio vol. 83, 285. 3 Ibid.,
121, 7. 4 Ibid.
114
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Hay of Drumboote, in the dedication to his Vindication of
Elizabeth More (Queen of Robert 11.) and her Children, says
this James Dalrymple left two sons—Robert de Dalrymple
of Oamraggan, Laucht, and Dalbane, in QCarrick, and James
de Dalrymple of Boltoun, Pilmure, Overboltoun, Polbuth,
and Inglesfield, in the Constabulary of Haddington, which
lands he obtained for his services when ambassador to
Philip, Duke of Burgundy, in 1449, and during his negotia-
tions elsewhere, as the charter, dated at Edinburgh 12
August 1459 purports. Robert Dalrymple of Camraggan
was succeeded by his son John upon his own resignation
10 August 1440.' John de Dalrymple of Camraggan, grand-
son of Robert, had a charter by King James 1v. to him and
Elizabeth Dalrymple, his spouse, of the £5 land of Cam-
raggane, 18 June 1498.’

From these charters being in the Stair charter-chest,
it seems likely that William Dalrymple, who married Agnes
Kennedy, heiress of Stair, and from whom the Stair family
is descended, was connected with these Dalrymples of
Laucht and Camraggane.

WiLuiAM DALRYMPLE, ancestor of the Karls of Stair,
married Agnes Kennedy, heiress of the estate of Stair
Montgomery in Ayrshire,® for which marriage a bull was
granted by Pope Nicolas, they being in the third and fourth
degrees of affinity, which bull was directed to James
Kennedy, Bishop of St. Andrews, dated 3 February 1451-
52. They had issue :—

1. WiLLiaM.

WiLLiAM DALRYMPLE of Stair married Marion, daughter
of Sir John Chalmers of Gadgirth. He had a charter of a
six merkland of the lands of Stair with his spouse, Marion
Chalmers, 20 October 1481,° and sasine of Stair as heir to
Agnes Kennedy, his mother, 11 April 1491.* Marion, Lady
Stair, was one of the Lollards of Kyle, and was summoned
before the King’s Council in 1494 on account of her heretical

1 Reg. Mag. Sig., folio vol. 121,7. Original in Stair Charter.chest
2 Ibid. 3 Copy ‘Inventar of the old evidentis of the Stair.’ ¢ Copy of
that Inventar and Father Hay's Ms. in Advocates’ Library, 35,4.17. 5 Stair
Charters. ¢ Stair Charter-chest.
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opinions. The magnanimity of James 1v. treated the
charges with contempt, and the accused persons were dis-
missed.! William Dalrymple and Marion Chalmers had
issue :—

1. John,’ who appears to have married twice, first, in
1506-7, Christina Crawfurd : they had a dispensation
as in the third degree of consanguinity 29 March
1507 ;° secondly, Elizabeth ——. He died vitd patris
before February 1530, at which date he is mentioned
as deceased in a notarial instrument by his father.!
He left issue :—

(1) WiLLIAM, who succeeded his grandfather.

2. Robert.s

WiLLiaM DALRYMPLE. He had, with Margaret Wallace,
his spouse, a charter of the lands of Stair, dated 12 Feb-
ruary 1530, in which he is designed grandson and heir-
apparent to William Dalrymple of Stair, the granter, who
reserved his own liferent and terce to Marion Chalmers,
his spouse.! He had sasine of the lands 2 March 1530.]
He was dead before 1548.° He married Margaret Wallace,
to whom he was related in the third degree of consan-
guinity. This appears from the dispensation for their mar-
riage, granted by Pope Olement viI., under date 10 July
1523.° By her he had:—

1. JAMES, who succeeded him.

2. Alexander, who, on 30 April 1555, had sasine of the
fee of the forty shilling lands of Balkissock. Mar-
garet Wallace, his mother, had sasine of the life-
rent.”

3. William, called ‘my brother’ by James Dalrymple of
Stair, in a charter granted by the latter on 9 July

1 Pinkerton’s History of Scotland, ii. 418. 2 Called Williamn by Douglas,
and in the Stair ‘Inventar.’ 3 Roman Transcripts, vol. xxxi., Record
Office, London, Extracts relating to marriage dispensations. This is
probably the true origin of the tradition solong maintained of a marriage
between a Dalrymple and a daughter of Crawfurd of Leifnorris. ¢ Pro-
tocol Book of Gavin Ros, Scottish Record Society, No. 1114. 5 Stair
Charters. ® Reg. Mag. Sig. 7 Protocol Book of Gavin Ros, ut sup., No.
1136. 8 Protocol Book of Henry Preston, 1547-51, H.M. Gen. Reg. House,
£.12. 9 Stair Charter-chest. 1° Original Sasine in Stair Charter-chest.
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1563 ;' and styled ‘son of the deceast William Dal-
rymple of Stair’in a discharge granted by him to
his brother James, dated 27 October 1573.°

JAMES DALRYMPLE of Stair signed the Confession of
Faith and entered into the association for the defence of
the ‘ True Reformed religion.”* In December 1552 he re-
ceived a remission for his treason in supporting Lennox,
Angus, and their accomplices at the time they were at
Leith against the Governor in open rebellion.* With the
Duke of Chatelherault and others he opposed Queen Mary’s
marriage with Lord Darnley on account of the danger that
might thereby arise to religion; but the Duke being un-
successful in his attempt to seize Darnley and send him to
England, his adherents were obliged to take remissions for
it, and that of the Laird of Stair is dated 1566.° He was
one of those who entered into the association for the
defence of King James VvI1., 1567.° James Dalrymple died
3 August 1586, having married, 1563, Isabel, daughter of
Thomas Kennedy of Bargany,® and by her, who survived
him, had issue :—

1. JorN, who succeeded.

2. JAMES of Drummurchie, of whom later.

3. Thomas.®

JoEN DALRYMPLE of Stair, eldest son, married, on or
shortly after 4 February 1582-83,° Margaret, daughter of
William Dunbar of Blantyre, and by her, who was married,
secondly, in June 1614, to Alexander Cuninghame of Pow-
ton," had issue :—

1. JAMES.

JAMES DALRYMPLE of Stair, married (contract 15 April
1613*) Marjory, daughter of Allan Cathcart of Water-
side. This James Dalrymple made over the lands of Stair
to his uncle, James Dalrymple of Drummurchie, by con-
tract dated 12 October 1620.° They had issue :—

1. James.

1 Stair Charter-chest. 2 Ibid. 3 Knox's History. * Reg. Sec. Sig., vol.
Xxxv., 1542-55. & Ibid. © Writs and Records from the year 1567 to 1572,
7 Edin. Tests. 8 Stair Charter-chest. ? P. C. Reg., xiv. 393. 10 Mason’s,

Protocol Book, Ayrand Galloway Arch, Ass,, vi.172. 11 Gen. Reg. Inhibs.,
22 September and 30 October 1620. !? Stair Charter-chest. 13 Ibid,
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JAMES DALRYMPLE of Drummurchie, who thus became
possessed of the lands of Stair, was second son of James
Dalrymple of Stair and Isabel Kennedy. In May 1606
he was accused of shooting with a pistol at David Dunbar,
near Newton-on-Ayr.! He died in January 1625, having
married (contract 9 September 1617) Janet Kennedy,
daughter of Fergus Kennedy of Knockdaw,’and by her, who
married, secondly, Hugh Campbell of Balloch,* and died in
1663, had issue :—

1. JAMES.

I. JAMES DALRYMPLE of Stair, the only child, was born
at Drummurchie, in the parish of Barr, Ayrshire, in May
1619.) Educated at Mauchline Grammar School,® he
was entered at the age of fourteen at the University of
Glasgow, where he took the degree of Master of Arts,
1637." Later he had a company of Foot in the regiment
of William, Karl of Glencairn, afterwards Chancellor. At
the solicitation of some of the Professors in the University
of Glasgow, he stood a candidate in buff and scarlet at
a competitive trial for a Chair of Philosophy then vacant,
in which he was successful.® On 17 February 1648 he was
admitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates, Edin-
burgh ;® and was secretary to the commissions for treating
with Oharles 11., 1649 and 1650. Appointed a Judge of the
Court of Session, he took his seat—not without reluctance,
as he gave up an extensive practice—1 July 1657. The day
before General Monck marched into England at the time of
the Restoration, he had a private conference with James
Dalrymple, desiring his candid opinion what was best to be
done for settling the three nations, to which he replied
that the wisest and fairest way was to procure a meeting
of a full and free Parliament.® At the Restoration he went
to London to wait on Charles 11., who knighted him, and
re-appointed him one of the Lords of Session 1 June 1661.
After the establishment of Episcopacy in Scotland, a
declaration against the Covenant was appointed to be

L P. C. Reg., xiv, 436. 2 Glasgow Tests. 3 Stair Charter-chest. 4 Ibid.
5 Crawfurd’s Peerage. ©Forbes's Journal ofthe Session. 7 Munim. Univ,
Glasguen., iii. 22. 8 Forbes's Journal. 2 Books of Sederunt. 1° Forbes's
Journal.
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taken by all persons in public trust. Sir James Dalrymple
would not sign the declaration, and resigned his judgeship.
He was, however, ultimately prevailed on to sign it, under
the qualification that he only declared against whatever was
opposite to His Majesty’s just rights and prerogative, and
he was reinstated in office. Charles 11I. created him a
Baronet 2 June 1664,' with remainder to heirs-male of his
body. Appointed President of the Session 7 January 1671,
and a Privy Oouncillor; M.P. for Wigtownshire 1672, and
again in 1673° and 1681. Sir James declined to take the
Test Act in 1681, and was deprived of his judgeship. He
retired to Holland in 1682, and resided for a time at Leyden.
On 2 December, Mackenzie, as Lord Advocate, was ordered
to charge Stair, Lord Melville, Sir John Cochrane of Ochil-
tree, and several others, with treason, for accession to the
rebellion of 1679, the Rye-House Plot, and the Expedition
of Argyll. The proceedings against Stair were continued
by successive adjournments till 1687, when they were
dropped, and on 28 March a remission was recorded in
favour of Stair and his family.* Stair refused to accept
the remission, and remained in Holland. He returned to
England with William of Orange in 1688, and the following
year was again appointed President of the Session. King
William created him a Peer of Scotland, with the title of
VISCOUNT OF STAIR AND LORD GLENLUCE AND
STRANRAER, with remainder to the heirs-male of his
body, by Patent dated 21 April 1690.° Besides being a dis-
tinguished lawyer, Lord Stair was also an author, and pub-
lished Institutions of the Laiww of Scotland, Physiologia Nova
Experimentalis, Vindication of the Divine Perfections.
He died at his house in Edinburgh 25 November 1695, and
was buried in the Church of St. Giles, where a tablet has
recently (1906) been erected to his memory. Lord Stair
married (contract 20 September 1643¢) Margaret Ross,
relict of Fergus Kennedy of Knockdaw, and daughter of
James Ross of Balneil, and by her, who died 1692, and was
buried at Kirkliston,” had issue :(—

! Stair Charter-chest. 2 Books of Sederunt. 3 Members of Parlia-
ment for Scotland, Foster. 4 Dict. Nat. Biog. % Diploma, Stair Charter-
chest. % Stair Charter-chest. 7 Memotrs of John, Earl of Stair, by an
Impartial Hand.
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1. JouN DALRYMPLE, styled till his father’s death Master
of Stair, of whom later.

2. Sir James Dalrymple of Borthwick, Bart., was born
1650 ; admitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates
25 June 1675;* a Commissioner of Supply for Ayr
1686,> and again in 1689-90.° He was made a burgess
of Musselburgh 27 June 1691,* and of Irvine 21 Sep-
tember 1692 ;° appointed one of the Commissaries of
Edinburgh and one of the Principal Clerks of Session
30 November 1693,° and a Commissioner of Supply for
Edinburgh 1695;’ created a Baronet 28 April 1697,
ag Sir James Dalrymple of Kelloch, with remainder
to the heirs-male of his body and their heirs-male
for ever.® He was presented with the freedom
of the Burgh of Canongate 6 September 1701.° Sir
James was an author and eminent antiquary, and
published Collections concerning Scottish History,
which was dedicated to.Queen Anne, and an edition
of Camden’s Scotland. He died at Borthwick Castle,
Mid-Lothian, 1719, and was buried in Borthwick
Church." He married, first (contract 2 January
1679 ), Catherine, daughter of Sir James Dundas of
Arniston, and by her had issue :—

(1) James, born 6 November 1680,!3 died November 1687.14

(2) Sir John Dalrymple, second Baronet, born about 1682;
admitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates 25 January
1704;1% Principal Clerk of Session 1709,'° on his father's
resignation of that post. He was a keen agriculturist, and
wrote An Essay on the Husbandry of Scotland, with a pro-
posal for the further improvement thereof, published in
1745. He died 24 May 1743, having been twice married:
first (contract 7 August 1702), to Elizabeth, daughter of

William Fletcher of New Cranstoun, advocate, by Esther
Cunningham, his wife,!® and by her had issue:—

i. James, born 2 June 1703;1° died young.

ii. Sir William Dalrymple, third Baronet of Kelloch and
Cousland, born 23 September 1704 ; admitted a mem-
ber of the Faculty of Advocates 27 January 1730.2°

! Books of Sederunt. 2 Acfa Parl. Scot., viii. 58%a. 3 Ibid. ¢ Oxen-
foord Papers. 5Ibid. ©Ibid. 7 Acta Parl. Scot.,ix.374. 8 Reg. Mag. Sig.
9 Oxenfoord Papers. !0 Scots Courant, 11-13 May 1719. ! Letter of Sir
John Dalrymple, fourth Baronet. 2 Arniston Memoirs, 39. * Edin.
Reg. Y Retour of Service of John Dalrymple, Services of Heirs, 1700-
1749. 15 Books of Sederunt. 6 Ibid. Y7 Scots Mag. '3 Oxenfoord
Papers. 12 Edin. Reg. 2° Books of Sederunt.
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He died at Cranstoun 26 February 1771,! and was
buried, 2 March 1771, in the Greyfriars Churchyard,
Edinburgh.?2 He married, first, before 1726, Agnes,
daughter of William Crawford, Glasgow, and by
her, who died 13 September 1755,% had issue :(—

(i) Sir John Dalrymple, fourth Baronet of Cous-
land, born 1726 ; admitted advocate 20 Decem-
ber 1748 ;* Baron of Exchequer 11 May 1776-
1807; 5 was author of various works, including
Memotirs of Great Britain and Ireland. He
died at Oxenfoord Castle, Mid-Lothian, 26
February 1810, and was buried at Cranstoun.
He married, 7 October 1760, without her
father’s consent, his cousin, Elizabeth, only
surviving child and heiress of Thomas Hamil-
ton Makgill of Fala and Oxenfoord (which
surname he took in addition to his own), by
Elizabeth Dalrymple, his wife, and by her,
who was baptized 28 November 1737,% and
who died 4 May 1829,° and was buried at
Cranstoun, had issue:—

a. Thomas, died at Edinburgh 2 February
1770.10

b. William, born 1764, a midshipman in the
Royal Navy, killed in the action off the
coast of Virginia, between the Santa
Margarita and the Amazone, a French
ship, 29 July 1782.1! There is & monu-
ment to him in Westminster Abbey.

¢. Hew, died young.

d. JOHN, succeeded as eighth Ear] of Stair.

e. James,a midshipman in the Royal Navy.
Died of yellow fever, on board the Thetis
frigate, 17 October 1796.12

f. NorTH, born 1776, succeeded as ninth
Earl of Stair : of him later.

g. Robert, born 1780,13 served in the Army
in the 3rd Guards; ensign 21 December
1799 ; lieutenant and captain 24 March
1803. Accompanied the Guards to the
Peninsula, and wrote a narrative of the
campaign of 1809 up to the battle of
Talavera, where he was killed, 28 July
1809.14

h. Elizabeth, born 1761, married at Edin-
burgh, 20 February 1790,)% to Myles
Sandys of Graithwaite Hall, co. Lan-
caster, and had issue. She died 1834.

1 Scots Mag. 2 Epitaphs and Monumental Inscriptions of Greyfriars
Churchyard. 2 Caledonian Mercury. ¢ Books of Sederunt. % Scots
Mag. © Ibid. 7 Stair Papers, Lochinch. 8 Fala Register. ° Black-
wood’s Mag. ° Scots Mag. 1! M. I, Westminster Abbey. 2 Scots Mag.
13 Oxenfoord Papers. ¢ Scots Mag. 15 Annual Register.
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1. Agnes, died, unmarried, in Edinburgh,
30 December 1840.!

Jj. Helen, died young.

k. Christian, died young.

l. Jane, married at Madras, 15 March 1806,
to William Horsman,? and had issue.
She died, 12 November 1833.3

m. Martha, married in India, 4 November
1809, to Lieutenant Thomas Sampson
of 1st Battalion 59th Regiment. He was
killed at the capture of Java, Septem-
ber 1811.5 They had no issue, and she
died in 1863.

(ii) William, born probably 1748, an officer in the
army; captain-commandant of the regiment
of Royal Irish Volunteers, raised by him in
the year 1776;¢ he distinguished himself at
the capture of Fort Omoa, on the Spanish
Main, where he and Commander Luttrell of
the Royal Navy commanded the forces, 1779.7
He succeeded to hisuncle’s estates of Cleland,
in Lanarkshire, and Fordel, in Mid-Lothian,
and died 3 March 1794,8 having married
Diana, daughter of Mr. Molyneux of Preston,
co. Lancaster, and by her, who died at Lan-
caster 27 April 1817, had issue:—

a. Marton Dalrymple of Fordel; married,
at London, May 1798,19 Frances Ingram
Spence of Hanover Square, by whom
he had issue. He died 21 November
1809.1! His widow +was married,
secondly, at Cleland House, 6 December
1314, to the Rev. John Thomson,
minister of Duddingston, the celebrated
painter.1?

b. John, major 40th Regiment of Foot;
killed at Monte Video 3 February
1807.13

¢. Hew, lieutenant Royal Navy; died 1810.

d. Elizabeth.

e. Wilhelmina.

f. Frances Ellen, married to Rev, George
Roberts, residing at Grotton, North-
amptonshire.

g. Caroline, married at Madras, December
1815, to James Morgan Strahan.!4

h. Diana,

1 Diary of eighth Earl of Stair, Oxenfoord Castle. 3 Marriages at Fort
George, Madras, Genealogist, xxii. 200. 3 Lodge’s Peerage. * Diary of
ninth Earl of Stair, at Lochinch. & Memoir of the Conquest of Java, by
Major William Thorn, 68. ¢ Bargany Tree. 7 Caledonian Mercury.
8 Scots Mag. ° Ibid. 1° Ibid. ! M.L., Bothwell Church. 2 Scots Mag.
13 Ibid. Y Gentleman’s Mag.
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(iit) Agnes, born 31 August 1728.!

(iv) Elizabeth, born 1733, married to William Hamil-
ton of Bangour, who died 1754, and was in-
terred in the Chapel Royal, Holyrood House,on
23 August.? She died 5 September, and was
buried 8 September 1779, in the grave of her
husband in Chapel Royal, Holyrood House.3

Sir William Dalrymple married, secondly, Ann
Philp, and by her, who died at Wexham 11 Sep-
tember 1814,4 had issue :—

(v) James, a lieutenant-colonel in the Army, dis-
tinguished himself In India, and died at
Hyderabad 9 December 1800, where there is a
monument to his memory.?

(vi) Samuel, born 1760, lientenant Royal Irish Regi-
ment February 1776 ; captain, 20 August 1778 ;
served in the expedition to St. Juan 1779;
ensign 3rd Foot Guards 2 January 1782,
lieutenant 24 October 1788, captain 20 March
1794, brevet of colonel 1 January 1800; served
in the expedition to Egypt 1800-1; brigadier-
general West India Staff March 1804 ; major-
general 1 January 1805; governor of Berbice
1810, lieutenant-general 4 June 1811 ; general
4 March 1825. Died at Lorient, in Brittany,®
2 October 1832,7 and was buried there, the
French giving him a military funeral. He
married, first, 5 October 1791, Hannah,
daughter of John Tweddell of Unthank Hall;
she died 6 May 1829, leaving issue ; secondly,
10 May 1831, Mary Amelia, eldest daughter
of Roper Head, Esq. of Ashfield, but by her
he had no issue.

(vil) Simon, lieutenant-colonel 1st Battalion 14th
Regiment, died at Seringapatam, in India,
1 January 1804,° buried in Garrison Cemetery.

(viil) Hew.

(ix) Matthew Martin.10

(x) Anne.

(xi) Jane, marrled to Major-General Roberts. She
died 3 March 1826.

(xii) Wemyss, married to the Hon. Leveson Gran-
ville Keith Murray, fifth son of fourth Earl of
Dunmore. He dled 4 January 1835 ; she died
in India 28 December 1804,

(xiil) Christian, married, 15 (contract 12) Novem-
ber 1805,12 to Hugh Stewart, younger son of Sir
John Stewart of Allanbank, Bart. He died
11 January 1837, and she died 1 July 1806.13

(xiv) Romney Beckford.

! Edin, Reg. ?Holyrood Burial Reg. 3 Ibid. * Scots Mag. °M.L,and
Diary of ninth Earl of Stair at Lochinch. ¢ French newspaper. 7 Scofs
Mag. 8 Ibid. ? Ibid. 10 Oxenfoord Papers. !! Scofs Mag. 2 Paper
at Lochinch. 13 Ibid.
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iii. Elizabeth, born 12 August 1709 ;1 married, 17352 to
Thomas Hamilton Makgill of Fala and Oxfurd, and
had issue a daughter, Elizabeth, who was married
to her cousin, Sir John Dalrymple, fourth Baronet
of Cousland. Thomas Hamilton Makgill died 18
October 1779,3 and was buried in Fala Church.?

iv. Jean, born 14 June 1714;5 married to George Reid,
Esq., a cadet of the family of Barra, and had issue.’

Sir John Dalrymple, second Baronet, married secondly
Sidney, daughter of John Sinclair of Ulbster, and by her,
who died 20 October 1759,” had issue :—

v. James, who died s.p.
vi. Gustavus, an officerin the Army; died unmarried.?
vii. Hew, of Fordel, married, at Bargany, 25 April 1754,°
Helen Wemyss, born 11 April 1729, youngest
daughter of the fourth Earl of Wemyss. He died s.p.
in Edinburgh 11 December 178411 and Lady Helen
died at Edinburgh 1 October 1812.12
viii. Sidney, married to Lester, Esq., and had issue.
ix. Catherine, married to Captain Hugh Moodie, an
officer in the Army, and had issue.!3
x. Christian, died unmarried.!
xi. Margaret, married to John Sinclair, younger of Fres-
wick, and had issue.l®
(3) Robert of Kelloch, born 25 July 1685 ;16 Writer to the Signet
28 March 1707, died in London 25 December 1765.17 He
married, 5 September 1711,18 Elizabeth, daughter of William
Boick, merchant burgess,!? and had issue :—

i. James, born 7 October 1712.20
ii. John, admiral in the Royal Navy, married, at London,
25 November 1765,2! Elenore, daughter of Sir Charles
Howard, Knight of the Bath.22 He died 10 October
1798,2 and she died February 1821;2 they left
issue.
iii. Robert, born 22 April 1716.%5
iv. William, born 28 October 1720.26
v. Hew. 2
vi. Anne, born 21 March 1714 ; 28 married to Thomas Prit-
chard, of London, and had issue.?®
vii. Jean, born 22 September 1717; 30 married to Andrew
Colly, Esq., London, without issue.3!
viii. Charlotte.
ix. Elizabeth.
x. Katherine, died unmarried.3?

1 Edin. Reg. 2 Oxenfoord Papers. 3 Caledonian Mercury. * Ms,
Account of Hamiltons of Fala at Oxenfoord Castle., 5 Edin. Reg.
¢ Bargany Tree. 7 Edin. Chronicle. 8 Bargany Tree. ¢ Caledonian
Mercury. ° Fraser's Family of Wenyss. 1 Caledonian Mercury.
12 Annual Register. '3 Bargany Tree. 4 Ibid. % Ibid. ¢ Edin. Reg.
Y History of Writers to Her Majesty's Signet. '8 Edin. Reg. 19 Ibid.
20 Edin. Reg. 2! Scots Mag. 22 Bargany Tree. 23 Scots Mag. 2% Annual
Register. % Edin, Reg. 2 Ibid. 2 Bargany Tree. 28 Edin. Reg. 2 Bar-
gany Tree. % Edin. Reg 3! Bargany Tree. 32 Ibid.
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(4) Jean.! In Bargany Tree Jean is entered ashaving married
George Gray, but the evidence of the marriage-contract
indicates Elizabeth.

(3) Margaret, born 10 December 1679;2 married to Adam Hep-
burn, younger of Humbie, and had issue. She died 1702,
and was buried, in April, in the Greyfriars.3

(6) Christian, born 29 July 1684.%

(7) Elizabeth, born 29 December 1686, married, as his second
wife, to George Gray (contract dated 8 January 17196). She
died September 1728.7

Sir James Dalrymple, first Baronet, married,
secondly ® (contract 15 September 1691°), Esther,
daughter of John Cunninghame of Enterkine, W.S.,
widow of William Fletcher of New Cranstoun, and
by her, who died 1700, and was buried, 7 April, in
Greyfriars Churchyard, Edinburgh,” had issue :—

(8) James Dalrymple of Harvieston, Mid-Lothian, born 10 July
1692 ; 1! married Martha Crawford, and by her, who died 20
September 1766,!2 had issue. He died at Harvieston, probably
1760.13

i. James; his sister Esther was served heir to him 29
March 1756.
i, Martha, baptized 19 December 1722; 4 died 1776.15
{ii. Esther; married to William Campbell of Stobs.¢

(9) Hew, born 7 May 1693.17
(10) William, born 30 April 1694.18
(11) Thomas, born 3 June 1695.19
(12) Dawid, born 10 July 1698.20
(13) Esther, born 7 June 1696 ; #! died young.
(14) Esther, born 9 April 1700.22

Sir James Dalrymple, first Baronet, married, thirdly,
7 September 1701,” Jean Halket, widow of Sir Adam
Gordon of Dalpholly. She survived him, and died in
Edinburgh May 1734.*

3. Sir Hew Dalrymple, Bart., of North Berwick, born
1652 ; became a member of the Faculty of Advocates
25 February 1677;* Commissary of Edinburgh;®
Dean of Faculty of Advocates 11 January 1695;%

! Bargany Tree. 3 Edin. Reg. 2 Funeral Entry Lyon Office, * Edin.
Reg. 5 Ibid. © Reg. of Sasines, Inverness. 7 Tombstone at St. Gilbert’s
Cathedral, Dornoch. 8 Edin. Reg. ? Oxenfoord Papers. 1°Greyfriars Burial
Register, Scottish Record Society. !! Edin. Reg. 2 Scots Mag. 3 Edin.
Tests. ! Edin. Reg. !® Edin. Tests. 18 Ibid. Y Edin. Reg. ! Ibid.
1 Ibid. 0 Ibid. 2 Ibid. 22 Ibid. 23 Ibid. 2! Edin. Tests. 2> Books of
Sederunt. 20 Dict, Nat. Biog. 77 Books of Sederunt.
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created a Baronet 29 April 1698, with remainder to
heirs-male of his body,and their heirs-male for ever ;'
Oommissioner for the Articles of Union between
England and Scotland 1702 and 1703 ; M.P. for New
Galloway 1696-1702, North Berwick 1702-1707;*
Lord President of the Court of Session 1698. He
died on Tuesday, 1 February 1737, in the eighty-fifth
year of his age,® and was buried at North Berwick.*
He married, first, 12 March 1682, Marion, daughter
of Sir Robert Hamilton of Presmennan, a Senator of
the College of Justice,® and by her had issue :—

(1) James, born 18 September 1684, and died young.

(2) Sir Robert Dalrymple of Castleton, Knight; admitted a
memberof the Faculty of Advocates 18 February 1714.7 He
died at Tongue, the seat of Lord Reay, 31 August 1734.! He
married, first, 20 March 1707,° Joanna Hamilton, only child
of John, Master of Bargany, eldest son of second Lord
Bargany, and by her, who died 1719, had issue :—

i. Sir Hew Dalrymple, second Baronet, born 12 March
1712 ;1! Advocate 1730, King’s Remembrancer 1768,
M.P. for Haddington Burghs 1741-47 and 1761-68,
for County of Haddington 1747-61. Died 30 Novem-
ber 1790.)2 He married, first (contract5 July 174313),
Margaret, daughter of Peter Sainthill, surgeon, Gar-
lickhill. She died 31 December 1747.4 They had
issue:—

(i) Robert Stair, born 2 July 1744;15 a captain in
the 11th Regiment of Dragoons. He died at
Manchester 11 September 1768.16

(ii) Peter, born 1745; baptized 2 October;1? died
young.

(iii) Sir Hew Hamilton Dalrymple, third Baronet,
born 26 October 1746 ;18 M. P, for Haddington-
shire 1780-86.® Died at Bargany, Ayrshire, to
which estate he had succeeded through his
uncle John, 13 February 1800.22 He married,
at Sundrum, in Ayrshire, 26 October 1770,%
Janet, born 27 October 1746, daughter of
William Duff of Crombie, by Elizabeth Dal-
rymple (see p. 131), and by her, who died at
North Berwick 31 March 1819, had issue :—

! Reg. Mag. Sig. 3% Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster,
3 Edinburgh Evening Courant, * Ibid. © Edin.Reg. ¢ Ibid. 7 Books
of Sederunt. 8 Caledonian Mercury. ° Edin. Reg. 1° Bargany Mss.
11 Bible at Bargany. 12 Scofs Mag. !3 Bargany Papers.  Ayrshire
Families. 1 Scots Mag. ¢ Ibid. 17 North Berwick Reg. ¥ Ibid.
12 Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 2° Dailly Reg. 2! Bible
at Bargany. 2 Ayr Reg. 3 Gentleman’s Mag,
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a. Hew, born at Ayr 19 May 1772; died
young.

b. Str Hew Dalrymple Hamilton, fourth
Baronet, born at North Berwick 3
January 1774;! served in the Grena-
dier Guards, and in 1803 was a lieu-
tenant-colonel in the Ayrshire Militia ;2
M.P. for Haddingtonshire 1795 to
1800 ; Ayrshire, 1803-6; Haddington
Burghs 1820-26.* He died at Bargany
23 February 1834,* and was buried 3
March, at Old Dailly, Ayrshire.5 He
married, at London, 19 May 1800,°
Jaue, born 30 March 1779,7 eldest
daughter of Adam, first Viscount
Duncan of Camperdown, and by her,
who died in Paris 7 March 1852, and
was buried at Old Dailly,® had
issue:—

(a) Henrietta Dundas, born in
Edinburgh 8 November 1801 ;?
married, 15 June 182210 to
Augustin Louis Joseph Casimir
Gustave de Franquetot, third
Duo de Coigny, in the Peerage
of France; a general in the
French Army. He died 2 May
1865, anud she died 19 December
1869. They are both buried at
Montmartre Cemetery, Paris,i!
They had issue :—

a. Louis Robert Henri Fran-
¢ots, born 22 April; died
16 May 1836.12

B. Louisa Jane Henrietta
Emily,born in Edinburgh
1 March 1824 ;13 married,
at Bargany, 9 December
1846, to John Hamilton
Dalrymple, tenth Earl of
Stair, K.T., and had issue
—of them later.

v. Georgine Elizabeth Fanny,
born 4 August 1826;14 died
28 July 1910 ; married, 15
Junel852, to Sydney, third
Ear! Manvers, who died
16 January 1900, and had
issue.

1 Bible at Bargany. 2 Bargany Papers. 3 Members of Parliament
for Scotland, Foster. * Diary of Sir John Dalrymple at Oxenfoord.
5 M. I., Old Dailly. ¢ Scots Mag. 7 M. L., Old Dailly. ® Ibid. ° North
Berwick Reg. 10 Scots Mag. ! M. I, Montmartre Cemetery. !2 M. I,
Chapel Chiteau de Coigny. 13 Blackwood's Mag. !* Bible at Bargany.
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8. Evelyn, born 14 April 1838;
died 10 January 1857, and
is buried at Mont-
martre.!

e. Marie, born 11 July 1839;
died 23 August 1838, and
is buried at Montmartre.?

¢. Robert, born at North Berwick 23 Sep-
tember 1775.%

d. William, born 26 April 1778.4

e. Sir John Dalrymple, of North Berwick,
fifth Baronet, born 2 December 1780 ;5
served in the Army, and became a
major-general ; M.P. for Haddington
Burghs 1805-6 ; ¢ succeeded his brother
as fifth Baronet 1834; and died at
Bruntsfield House, Edinburgh, 26 May
1835, and was buried, 3 June, at
North Berwick.? He married, 31 July
1806 Charlotte, daughter of Sir Peter
Warrender, Bart. of Lochend, and by
her, who died 14 April 1871, and was
buried at North Berwick, had issue :—

(a) Sir Hew Dalrymple, sixth
Baronet of North Berwick, born
in the island of Mauritius 26
November 1814 ;10 served in the
Army in the 71st Foot. He died
27 April 1887, and was buried at
North Berwick., He married,
27 July 1852, Frances Elizabeth,
only daughter of Robert Ark-
wright of Sutton Scarsdale, but
had no issue. She died 28 Feb-
ruary 18%4.

(b) Sir John Warrender Dalrymple,
seventh Baronet of North Ber-
wick, born 28 May 1824 ;1! was
in Bengal Civil Service; suc-
ceeded his brother Hew as
seventh Baronet, 1887; and,
dying 28 December 1888, was
buried at North Berwick. He
married, 7 June 1847,!2 Sophia,
younger daughter of James
Pattle, B.C.S., and by her, who
survived him, had issue :(—

a. Hew, born 21 April 1848;
died January 1868.

1 M. I, Montmartre. % Ibid. 3 Bible at Bargany. * North Berwick
Reg. 8 Ibid. © Membersof Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 7 Annual
Register. 8 North Berwick Reg. 9 Ibid. 10 Ibid. 1 Ibid. '? Annual
Register.



DALRYMPLE, EARL OF STAIR 129

B. Sir Walter Hamilton
Dalrymple, eighth Baro-
net, of North Berwick,
born 6 January 1854;
married, 7 November 1882,
Alice Mary, daughter of
Major-General the Hon.
Sir Henry  Clifford,
K.C.M.G., C.B., V.C,
and has issue :(—

(a) Hew Clifford, born
11 August 1888.

(8) John, born 24 Oc-
tober 1889,

(y) Agnes Mary, born
6 July 1884,

(®) Marjorie, born 19
December 1885.

(e) Sybil, born 21
March 1887.

v. Virginia Julian, born 15
June 1850 ; married, 12
September1876,to Fran-
cis Henry Champneys,
M.D., and has issue.

(c) Helen Jane, born at Lochend 17
September 1807;! married, 14
February 1833, to Alexander
M‘Lean, Esq., of Ardgour, and
had issue. He died 28 Novem-
ber 1872, and she died 4 January
1882, and was buried at
Ardgour,

(d) Georgina Hacking, born 23
January 1810;2 married, at St.
George’s Cathedral, Madras,
1831, to Lieutenant-General Sir
‘W. H. Sewell, K.C.B., and died
at Richmond 1 May 1872; was
buried at Florence. Her hus-
band died at Florence 13 March
1862, and was buried there,

(¢) Charlotte Sophia, born 9 Decem-
ber 1816 ;3 married, 15 December
1836, to Major-General John
Clark, K.H., who died 22 March
1865. She died 1864.

(f) Janet Jemima, born 4 September
1818;4 married, 20 April 1847, to
the Rev. James George Fussell,

1 Scots Mag. 2 North Berwick Reg. 3 Ibid, * Ibid,
VOL. V1II, I
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M.A., who died 1883, and had
issue.
(9) Patricia, born 18 June 1826.!

f. James, born 4 March 1782;2 commander
of an East Indiaman. He wasdrowned
in the loss of the Cabalva, 1818, off the
island of Cargados. He remained with
the ship till the last, and then, with
twelve men, got into a small boat,
which unfortunately upset, and all
perished.? He married, at Edinburgh,
May 1815, Mary, third daughter of Sir
James Naesmyth, Bart., of Posso, and
had issue. She was married, secondly,
20 March 1821, to Fitzherbert Macqueen,
Esq.4

g. Peter, born 19 February 1786.5

h. Robert Stair, born 28 September 1789 ;¢
commander of Hon. East India Com-
pany’s ship Vansittart; he died Jan-
uary 1820.7

1. Elizabeth Warrender, born 12 December
1776.8 .

j. Margaret Martha, born 24 August
1779;9 died 8 October 1849. Married,
at North Berwick, 12 July 1809,!° to
Captain W, F. Brown, 6th Regiment of
Dragoons. He was buried at North
Berwick.

k. Janet, born 19 May 1783;11 died 17
May 1867. Married, 8 January 1805,12
to Robert, second Viscount Duncan
and first Earl of Camperdown, and had
issue. He died 22 December 1859.

1. Anne, born 1 August 1784;13 died 22
June 1820.!* Married (proclamation 6
June 1819!%) to Alexander Oswald,
advocate, who died 12 April 1821.

Sir Hew Dalrymple, second Baronet, married,
secondly, at London, 17 August 1756, Martha,
daughter of Charles Edwin, Barrister-at-law, but

F without issue. She died at London 12, and was
buried 18, September 1782, at Islesworth.

ii. John, born 4 February 1715;16 died s.p. 12 February
1796.17 He took the name and arms of Hamilton of
Bargany on succeeding to that estate through his

I North Berwick Reg. 2 Ibid. ° Lady Dalrymple Hamilton’s Diary.
4 Scots Mag. ° North Berwick Reg. ¢ Ibid. 7 Lady Dalrymple Hamil-
ton’s Diary. & North Berwick Reg. ¢ Ibid. 10 Scots Mag. M Bible at
Bargany. !2 North Berwick Reg. 13 Ibid. 4 Lady Dalrymple Hamil-
ton’s Diary. 1% North Berwick Reg. 16 Bible at Bargany. 17 Dailly Reg.
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mother (see that title). He was admitted advocate
19 February 1735 ;1 M.P. for Wigtown Burghs 1754 to
1761, for Wigtownshire 1761-2, and again for the Wig-
town Burghs 1762-8.2 He married, first (contract 25
April 1746 3), Lady Anne Wemyss, third daughter of
the fourth Earl of Wemyss; and, secondly (contract
4 July 1769%), Margaret, daughter of Alexander
Montgomery of Coylsfield, and sister of the twelfth
Earl of Eglinton. She died at Trochraig, 25 October
1798.5 He had no issue by either marriage.

iil. Robert, born 30 July 1716 ;% doctor in London, died
1745. He married, 22 July 1745, Jean Barclay,
daughter and heiress of Sir Alexander Barclay of
Towey Barclay. She died abroad 1746.8 They had
issue a son, who died an infant.

iv. James, born December 1717;? died young.

v. Marion,born 6 March 1708;1° died December 1740; mar-
ried (contract 23 August 173211) to Donald (Mackay),
fourth Lord Reay, and had issue.

vi. Jean, born 1 June 1709 ;12 died three years there-
after.!3

vii, Elizabeth, born 3 May 1713;1* died at Ayr, 24 April
1781,15 having married William Duff of Crombie,
Sheriff Depute of co. Ayr, who died 8 January 1781,1¢
They had issue. (See ante, p.126.)

Sir Robert Dalrymple of Castleton, Knight, married,
secondly, in June 1725, Anne, eldest daughter of Sir William
Cunninghame of Caprington, Bart.,!7 and by her, who was
born 13 October 1704, and died 23 January 1776,!% had issue.

viii. William, merchant In Cadiz, died at Blackheath
2 March 1782,19
ix. James, born 10 November 1731;2 a captain of
Dragoons ; married, 10 December 1761,2! Cordelia, only
daughter and heiress of John Appsley of Appsley, in
Sussex,?? with issue.

X. Charles, married, first, at London, 29 September 1758,23
Elizabeth, only daughter and heiress of John Edwin,
and by her had one daughter, Elizabeth, who was
married, 1 June 1780,2 to sixth Earl of Balcarres,
and had issue. He married, secondly, at Sevenoaks,
23 December 1769,2% Margaret, daughter of John
Douglas of St. Christopher’s, widow of Colonel Camp-
bell Dalrymple (see p. 137), but without issue.
Charles died 14 April 1799, and she died three days
after.?

! Books of Sederunt. % Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster.
3 Memorials of the Family of Wemyss, by Sir W. Fraser. ¢ Memorials
of the Montgomeries, by Sir W. Fraser. 5 Caledonian Mercury. © Bible
at Bargany. 7 Scots Mag. 8 Edin. Tests. ° Bible at Bargany. ! Ibid.
! Laing Charters. 12 Edin. Reg. 13 Bible at Bargany. 4 Ibid. 15M. L.,
Ayr, 8 Ibid, ¥ Curiosities of a Scots Charter-Chest,78. 18 Scots Mag.
19 Tbid. 20 Edin. Reg. 2 Scots Mag. ?2* Family Tree at Bargany.
38 Scots Mag., % Ibid. » Ibid. 20 Caledonian Mercury.
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xi. Stair, settled in East Indies, where he died, un-
married, 1756.1
xii. Janet, born 27 February 1726 ;2 died young.
xiii. Anne, born 14 December 1727;3 died 29 November
1820;* married, at Balcarres, 13 October 17495
James, fifth Earl of Balcarres, and had issue.

(3) Hew, of Drummore, baptized 30 November 1690;¢ admitted
a member of the Faculty of Advocates 21 November 1710;7
appointed a Lord of Session, 29 December 1726, and of
Justiciary, 13 June 17458 He is described as having been
an acute and sound lawyer, and possessed of a ready and
forcible, though not a polished elocution.? He died at
Drummore, East Lothian, 18 June 1755, and was buried,
24 June, at North Berwick.l® He married, 26 February
1711, Anne, daughter and heiress of John Horn of Horn,
advocate, and by her, who died 13 February 1731,'2 had
issue :—

i. John, born 4 December 1714;13 admitted advocate 10
July 1735,'* and died, unmarried, at Naples, 3 May
1737.

ii. Hew, born 28 December 1716;15 died 26 July 1746; 16
married (contract dated 9 and 20 November 1742 17)
Ann, fifth daughter of Sir John Inglis of Cramond,
second Baronet. They had no issue, and she died at
Edinburgh, 2 October 1756.18

iii. Robert, of Horn and Logie Elphinstone, born 1 March
1718;19 a lieut.-general in the Army; colonel of the
53rd Regiment of Foot; died 20, and was buried 24
April, 1794,20at Restalrig.? He assumed the name of
Horn on succeeding to the estates of that name on
the death of his grandfather. He married, 9 July
1754,22 Mary, daughter and heiress of Sir James
Elphinstone, Bart.,, of Logie Elphinstone, and
assumed the additionalname of Elphinstone, and by
her, who died 3 March 1774, at Balmerinoch House,
Leith, and was buried in the vault at Restalrig, 6
March 1774,23 bad issue :—

(i) James, born 24 March 1762;% died 21 April
1798, on his passage home from Lisbon.? He
married, 28 March 1790, Margaret, only child
and heiress of James Davidson of Midmar,
co. Aberdeen, but by her, who died 1841,26 had
no issue.

(ii) Hew, born 4 October 1759 ; ¥ died young,

1 Family Treeat Bargany. 2 Edin. Reg. 3 Ibid. * Lives of the Lind-
says, ii. 878. & Kilconquhar Reg. ¢ Edin. Reg. 7 Books of Sederunt.
8 Senators of the College of Justice. ? Tytler's Life of Lord Kames,i. 36.
19 Scots Mag. ! North Berwick Reg. 12 Caledonian Mercury. 3 Edin.
Reg. 1% Books of Sederunt. %5 Edin. Reg. 16 Scofs Mag. 17 Private Act
51 George IIL, cap. 63, re Entail of Estate of Logie, and Caledonian Mer-
cury, 22 November 1742, 18 Ibid. !° Edin. Reg. 20 ScotsMag. 2! Restal-
rig Burial Reg. 22 Logie Bible. 23 Restalrig Burial Reg. 2! Burke.
2 M. I, Logie Durno. * Ibid. % Logie Bible.
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(iii) Robert, born 27 February 1766;! served in the

Army; cornet in 2Ist Regiment of Light
Dragoons 13 March 1782,2 and in the 3rd
Regiment of Foot Guards 9 August 1782;3
lieut.-colonel Scots Fusilier Guards; created
a Baronet 16 January 1828; ¢ he died at Logie
Elphinstone 11 October 1848, and was buried
at Logie.> Sir Robert married, 21 May 1800,%
Graeme, daughter of Lieut.-Colonel David
Hepburn, and by her, who was born 10 May
1782,7 and died at Logie 28 January 1870,
and is buried there, had issue :3—

a. Robert, born 22 September 1802;9 died
1819.

b. David Riccart, born 14 February 1804 ; 10
died 1841.

c. Sir James, second Baronet, born 20
November 1805;1! M.P. for Ports-
mouth ; one of the Junior Lords of the
Treasury 1874-80 ; died 26 December
1886, and was buried at Logie.l? He
married, 27 April 1836, Mary, fourth
daughter of Lieut.-General Sir John
Heron Maxwell, Bart., of Springkell,
and by her, who died 16 November
1876 and was buried at Logie,!® had
issue :—

(a) Robert, born 17 October 1837;
died 10 March 1839,11

(b) John  Maxwell, commander,
Royal Navy, born 30 March
1839 ; died 7 July 1873.

(¢) Robert, who succeeded as third
Baronet 1886, born 12 September
1841; served in the Army in the
60th Rifles ; died, without issue,
11 February 1887, having mar-
ried, 17 November 1875, Nina,
only child of John Balfour,
London.

(d) Graeme, twin with Robert, who
succeeded as fourth Baronet,
born 12 September 1841 ; died, in
the Straits Settlements, May
1900. He married, 5 January
1875, Margaret Anne Alice,
daughter of James Ogilvie
Fairlie of Coodham, and by her
had issue two danghters.

1 South Leith Reg. ? Logie Papers.

3 Ibid. 4 Ivid. 5 M. L., Logie.

8 Edin. Mag. 7 Aberlady Reg. 8 M. I.,Logie. ? Chapel of Garioch Reg.

10 T ogie Bible. 1! Chapel of Garioch Reg.

14 Ibid.

12 M. I., Logie Durno. I3 Ibid.
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(¢) James Edward, born 3 April1849;
died 5 May 1830.!

(f) Mary Heron, born 5 April 1846;
died 23 March 1850.2

(9) Margaret Burnett, born 17 July
1847 ; married, 11 September 1873,
to the Rev. John Maturin
Warren, M.A., Rector of Baw-
drip, Somerset, and has issue.

d. Hew Drummond, born 29 July 1807;

died 28 April 1893. He married, 6
November 1838, Helenora Catherine,
youngest daughter of Sir John Heron
Maxwell, Bart., and by her, who died
2 November 1889, had issue :—

(@) Sir Robert, who succeeded as
fifth Baronet in 1900, born 17
January 1844; colonel Indian
Staff Corps. Married, 27 April
1871, Flora Loudoun, daughter
of James Macleod of Rasay
branch of Macleod. Sir Robert
died 16 April 1908, leaving with
other issue :—

a. Str Edward Arthur, sixth
Baronet, captain 117th
Mahrattas, Indian In-
fantry Regiment; born 3
October 1877, Married, 3
September 1909, at St.
Andrew’s Church, Dub-
lin, Jane Muriel, elder
daughter of John Gibbons
Hawkes, Bank House,
Dunlavin, co. Wicklow.3

e. Prancis Anstruther, born 18 August

1813 ;¢4 died 5 July 1885. Was in Ben-
gal Civil Service ; married Mary Anne
(third daughter of Major-General
Bowen, C.B.), who died 1904, leaving
issue,

/. Stair, born 290 May 1815;% died, on

his passage home from Bombay, 7 July
1840.6

g. Charles, born 23 March 1817;7 died July

1891, and was buried at Logie. He
married, first, at Ellon, 12 September
1849,% Harriet Albinia Louisa, eldest

1 M. I,Logie Durno.
4 Chapel of Garioch Reg.

2 Ibid. 3 Irish Times, Dublin, 9 September 1909.
5 Logie Bible, ¢ Annual Register. 7 Chapel

of Garioch Reg. & Annual Register.
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daughter of Alexander Gordon, of
Ellon, Aberdeen, and by her, who died
13 February 1854, and was buried at
Logie, had issue :—

(a) William Robert, who died v. p.
7 December 1890.

CharlesElphinstone married, secondly,
24 April 1860, Christian, eldest daughter
of William Gordon Cuming Skene
of Pitlurg, Aberdeenshire, and had
issue:—

(b) Anne Alexandrina, born 27 June
1861.

h. John Hamilton, born 6 January 1819 ;!
died 28 June 1888, buried at Chailey,
Sussex. Ensign Scots Fusilier Guards
10 November 1837; lieutenant 31 De-
cember 1844 ; captain 25 March 1853;
served in the Crimea. Commanded
the second battalion of his regiment
in the New Brunswick expedition
1861-62; lieutenant-colonel 10 July 1863,
major-general 28 October 1866, lieu-
tenant-general 23 September 1874;
colonel 108th (Madras Infantry) Regi-
ment 20 November 1875; C.B. 2 June
1877, general 1 October 1877; colonel
of the first Battalion of 71st Regiment
(Highland Light Infantry) 28 January
1880. Married, 23 April 1851, Georgina
Anne, eldest daughter of William
Brigstock, M.P., of Birdcombe Court,
and widow of ¥F. Garden Campbell of
Troup and Glenlyon. She died 15 April
1887, and was buried at Chailey. They
had no issue.

i, Ernest George Beck,born27 August 1820 ;%
died 4 November 18443

J. George Augustus Frederick, born 6 May
1826 ; died 22 January 1876.

k. Elizabeth Magdalene, born 10 May 1801 ;4
died 1831,

l. Mary Frances, born 19 December 1808 ;5
died at Ayr 15 September 1880, and was
buried at Dundonald. She was married,
17 August 1830,° to Patrick Boyle, advo-
cate, afterwards of Shewalton, who
died 4 September 1874, son of the
Right Honble. David Boyle, Lord
Justice-General, and had issue.

I Inveresk Reg. 2 Logie Bible. 3 Lodge. * Logie Bible. & Chapel
of Garioch Reg. ¢ Ibid.
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m. Ann Greme, born 9 June 1810,! buried
at Restalrig 27 June 1823.2

n. Loutsa Sarah, born 9 February 1812;3
died 24 November 1835.4

0. Henrietta Marion, born 21 October
1824 ;5 died 23 February 1903, and was
buried at Logie. She was married, 29
April 1857, to Thomas Coats Leslie, of
Warthill family, who died 18 April
1862.6

(iv) Jean, born 11 September 1757;7 married to
Captain Alexander Davidson of Newton, and
had issue.

(v) Ann, born 7 October 1758.8

(vi) Mary, born 13 February 1761;° died 3 July
1812. She was married to Ernest Gordon of
Park, who died 5 October 1800. They had
issue.

(vii) Marion, born 23 May 1763;10 died 23 October
1824.11 She was married, 21 November 1785, to
James Mansfield of Midmar, banker in Edin-
burgh.!? He died at Midmar 17 December
1823.13 They had issue.

(viii) Margaret, born 1 September 1764;!* died 18
March 1849 ; 15 married, at Logie Elphinstone,
16 September 1788, to Sir Robert Burnett of
Leys, Baronet.® He was born 1755, and died
3 January 1837. They had issue,

(ix) Eleonora, born 26 August 1768; {7 died 5 Decem-
ber 1835. Married at Edinburgh, 21 or 22
October 1790,18 to William Wemyss of Cuttle-
hill, co. Fife. They had issue.

(x) Elizabeth, born 19 October 1773;1? died August
1838. Married, at Edinburgh, 5 June 1803, to
George Leith of Overhall, who died 1815.

iv. David, born 27 August 1719;% admitted advocate
8 January 1743;2! appointed Sheriff-Depute of Aber-
deen in 174822 He was raised to the Bench and
became a Lord of Session, with the title of l.ord
Westhall, 10 July 1777.22 He died 26 April 1784,
having married at Edinburgh, 21 March 1761, Jean,
daughter of Alexander Aberdein of Cairnbulg,? and
by her, who died at Edinburgh, 23 April 1780,26 had
issue :—

1 Logie Bible., 2 Restalrig Burial Reg. 3 Chapel of Garioch Reg.
4 Newhailes Papers. © Logie Bible. 6 M. I, Rayne. 7 Logie Bible.
8 Ibid. ° Ibid. 1 Ibid. ') Blackwood's Mag. 2 Caledonian Mercury.
13 Secots Mag. ** Logie Bible. 15 Family of Burnet of Leys, New Spald-
ing Club. 18 Gentleman's Mag. 7 Logie Bible. 18 Edin. Reg. !? Logie
Bible. 2 Edin,Reg. 2! BooksofSederunt. 22 Scots Magazine. 23 Sena-
tors of the College of Justice. 2 Scots Mag. 2 Family Bible of Lord
Westhall. 26 Scots Mag.
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(i) Hew, born 2 March 1762;! was a law student.?
He died at Edinburgh 16 July 1783.3

(ii) Alexander, born 7 May 17653, and died 29
December 1780.5

(iii) David, born 24 June 1769,® and died 23 March
1770.7

(iv) Robert, born 10 September 1771; died at Bar-
badoes 27 May 1808.8

(v) William, born 26 August 1774; died at Sheer-
ness, on the 4 November 1791, on board the
Iphigenia frigate.?

(vi) Charles, born 22 March 1776; was assistant
surgeon in the 4th (or Royal Irish) Regiment
of Dragoon Guards, ranking in that appoint-
ment from 2¢ November 1803.1 He died at
Warrington 27 April 1807.

(vii) John, born 11 November 1778; joined the 40th
Foot as junior lieutenant, commission
dated 30 April 1792. He seems to have
exchanged to the 80th Foot, where he ap-
pears as lieutenant, his commission in the
regiment dating from 2 April 1794; captain
25 June 1803; major 16 October 1815. He
was transferred to the 30th Foot as second
major, ranking in that regiment from 25
December 1817, and was promoted to second
lieut.-colonel 18 October 1827. He died in
1829, at Madras, his successor’s rank dating
from 24 September in that year.!!

(viii) Jean, born 12 March 1763 ;1 died, at Porto-
bello, 9 December 1831,!3 having been married,
at Edinburgh, 13 March 1783,'4 to John Ander-
son of Winterfield, and had issue.

(ix) Ann, born 17 May 1766.15

(x) Marion, born 15 October 1772; she died 23

August 1802.16
v. Thomas, born 12 June 1721 ;17 died young.18

vi. James, born 14 March 1724,

vii. Campbell of Carriden, born 27 August 1725;1? lieut.-

colonel of the 3rd Regiment of Dragoons 2¢ April

, 1753 ; author of a book on Drill ; Governor of Guade-

loupe 1760;2° died 21 April 1767.28 He married, at

East Barnet, Middlesex, 4 September 1753,22 Mar-

garet, daughter of General John Douglas,® and by

her, who was married, secondly, 23 December 1769,

at Bellevue, near Sevenoaks, to Charles Dalrymple,

son of Sir Robert Dalrymple of Castleton, and died

17 April 1799,% had issue :—

1 Lord Westhall’s Bible. 2 Stair Papers, Lochinch. 3 Scofs Mag.
4 Lord Westhall’s Bible. 5 Ibid. ¢ Ibid. 7 Ibid. B8 Ibid. 9 Ibid.
10 Army List. 1! Ibid. !* Lord Westhall's Bible, 13 Ibid. !4 North
Berwick Reg. !® Lord Westhall's Bible. 16 Ibid. 17 Edin. Reg. !5 Family
Tree at Bargany. !° Edin. Reg. 2° Stair Papers, Lochinch. 2! Scots
Mag. 2 Ibid. 2 Bargany Papers. % Caledonian Mercury.
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(i) James, born at Sherburne 16 May 1754;! a
captain in the Army; died June 1831.2 He
married, at Petersburg, 27 February 1796,
Anne, daughter of Sir Charles Gascoigne, and
widow of Thomas, seventh Earlof Haddington,
but without issue. She died 21 June 1840.3

(ii) George, born at Brecknol 13 November 1757 ;*
ensign in the 42nd Highlanders 1773 ; colonel
in the Army; died at North Berwick 19
January 18045 Married, at Mount Denison,
in Nova Scotia, 1785, Martha Willet Miller,
and by her, who died at North Berwick 26
January 1855, had issue :—

a. Alexander Duncan, born 8 June 1789;7
an officer in the Army.

b. William Henry Clarence, captainin the
East India Company’s Service. He died
2 September 1838, having married, in
1830, Margaret, born in 18132 daughter
of Lieut.-Colonel Oswald Werge, and
by her, who died in 1885, had issue :—

(@) Mary Martha, born 14 October
1835; married, 1 March 1855, to
Thomas Eustace Smith.

(b) Ellen Arbuthnot,born8June 1838;
died 1904, having been married,
21 October 1857, to Captain Ed-
ward Jackson Bruce, R.A., and
had issue.

¢. Margaret, married, first, 16 February
1808,° to Captain Burn, R.N., and
secondly, to James Wardrop, M.D.,
and had issue.

d. Martha Willet, born 3 May 1760;1° mar-
ried, 1831, as his second wife, to North
Dalrymple, afterwards ninth Earl of
Stair, and had issue. (See p. 160.)

e. Charlotte Douglas, proclaimed 23 Feb-
ruary;!! married, 22 March 1841,!%
to William Gordon, of Campbeltown,
Parish of Tongland, Kirkcudbright.

Jf. Mary Minchin, married, 13 March 1832,13

to Captain Henry Bruce, R.N., son of’

Sir Henry Bruce of Downhill, co.
Londonderry, and had issue. She died

at Rockville 7 January 183414
(iil) Hew, born at St. Andrews 19 June 1760;1%
major in the Army; served in the 49th

1 Bargany Papers. 2 Lodge. 3 Gentleman's Mag. % Bargany Papers.
5 Gentleman’s Mag. © Monthly Chronicle for year1786. 7 North Berwick
Reg. 8 Information given me by J. C. Wardrop. ? North Berwick Reg.
30 Ibrd. 1 Ibid. 12 Scots Mag. ™ North Berwick Reg. ¥ M. 1., North
Berwick Churchyard. 1% Paper at Bargany.
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Regiment ; A.D.C. to the Lord-Lieutenant of
Ireland. He married Marianne, only child
of James Straker, barrister-at-law, and had
issue :—

a. Campbell James, Commissioner for the
suppression of the slave-trade at the
Havana; died 17 July 1847; married
Rosina, third daughter of John Walton,
and had issue :—

(a) James Pilgrim, lieut.-colonel,
died at the Havana 17 July
1847.

(b) John Henry Manners Rutland.

(¢) Harriet Fane.

(d) Elizabeth Rosina, married to
J. D. Cral.

(e) Anne Walton.

b. Hew Manners, served in the Army in
the 1st Foot ; was killed in Spain. He
married, at Tobago, August 18281
Agnes Macrae, only daughter of George
Elliot, of His Majesty’s Commissariot
Department, and had issue.

¢. George Haddington, served in the Army
in the 1st Royals, and was appointed
paymaster of the 91st Regiment in
1840, He died at the Pireeus May
1856.2

d. Margaret, married to M¢Alpin.

e. Elizabeth Pilgrim, married to Captain
Colin Buchanan, 62nd Foot.

(iv) Margaret, born at Chichester; married, at
Leith, 7 January 1781,3 to Alexander Dun-
can of St. Fort, formerly a captain in the
service of the East India Company.

viii. Anne, born 6 June 1712 ;4 died young.?

ix. Marion, born 23 November 1713 ;% died 28 December
1779 ; married, 29 March 1732, to Archibald Hamilton
of Dalzell. He died 28 December 1774.7 They bad
issue.

x. Elizabeth, born 28 September 1722;8 died 1742 ;? mar-
ried (contract dated 4 November 17371%) to George
Broun of Colstoun, a Lord of Session, who died 6
November 1776,!! and had issue.

xi. Anne, born 27 January 1727; 12 died young.!?

xli. Eleanora Jean, born 17 May 1729 ;14 died 12 February

1 Blackwood s Mag. 2 Mercury Newspaper. 3 Caledonian Mercury.
4 Edin. Reg. & Family Tree at Bargany. ¢ Edin. Reg. 7 Family Tree
at Bargany. 8 Edin, Reg. ? Stair Papers at Oxenfoord. ! Colstoun
;;Vrits. 11 Seots Mag. !2 Edin.Reg. !3 FamilyTree at Bargany.  Edin.
eg.
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1782 ;! married, at Leith, 29 October 1763,2 to James
Rannie, wine merchant, without issue.

(4) John, born 17 April 1692;3 served in the Army, and was a
captain in the Enniskillen Regiment of Dragoons ; died at
Ayr 19 April 1753, and was buried in Ayr Old Church-
yard.® He married, first, Jean, daughter of Sir John White-
foord, Bart. She died s.p. 1743.° He married, secondly,
Mary, daughter of Alexander Ross of Balkail, in Wigtown-
shire, and by her, who married, secondly, Sir James A.
Oughton, K.B., had issue :—

i. Hew Whitefoord of High Mark, Wigtownshire, born
at Ayr 22 November 1750;7 served in the Army;
lieutenant 1766; major 77th Regiment, 1777;%
knighted 5 May 1779,° when he was proxy for his
stepfather at the Installation of Knights of the Bath;
colonel 1790; Lieutenant-Governor of Guernsey
1796-1801; Commander of the Gibraltar Garrison
1806-8; signed the Convention of Cintra 1808; general
1812; created a Baronet 1815;!° and Governor of
Blackness Castle 1818.1! He died 9 April 1830, and
was buried at Aldenham, Herts,!* having married,
16 May 1783,13 Frances, youngest daughter and co-
heir of General Francis Leighton, and by her, who
died 16 February 1835, and was buried at Aldenham,
Herts,!* had issue:—

(i) Adolphus John, second Baronet of High Mark,
born 3 February 1784 ; died at Delrow House,
Hertfordshire, 3 March 1866 ;!> served in the
Army, and became lieut.-general in Novem-
ber 1851 ; general in the Army 1860 ; A.D.C.
to the King; was M.P, for -Weymouth 1817 ;
for Appleby 1819 and 1820 ;16 and was returned
for Brighton in 1837. He married, 23 Decem-
ber 1812,17 Anne, daughter of the Right Hon.
Sir James Graham, Bart., of Kirkstall. She
died s.p. 10 May 1858.18

(ii) Leighton Cathcart, born 3 May 1785 ; died at
Delrow House, Herts, 6 June 1820.° He
served in the Army; lieut.-colonel of the 15th
Hussars, at the head of which regiment he
distinguished himselfat the Battle of Waterloo,
having three horseskilled under him, and after
receiving two contusions, towards the close of
the day hisleft leg was carried off by a cannon
ball; C.B. He was buried at Aldenham.?

(iii) Charlotte Elizabeth, born 24 July 1787; died

1 Caledonian Mercury. 2 Scots Mag. S Edin. Reg. * Scots Mag.
SM. I, Ayr. © Scots Mag. 7 AyrReg. 8 Dict. Nat. Biog. ° The Knights
of England, ii. 1° Annual Register. 1 Dict. of Nat. Biog. 2 M. L.,
Aldenham. 13 Scots Mag. M M. 1., Aldenham. !5 Ibid. ¢ Members
of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 17 Gentleman's Mag. ¥ M. 1.,
Aldenham. 9 Ibid. 20 Ibid.
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9 July 1830.! She was married, as his second
wife, 15 December 1816,%2 to Vice-Admiral Sir
John Chambers White, K.C.B., who died 4
April 1845—they are both buried at Aldenham 3
—and had issue.
(iv) Frances Mary, born 3 March 1790 ; died 16 June
1865.4 She was married, 15 June 1811,% to
Lieut.-General Edward Fanshaw, C.B.,colonel-
commandant Royal Engineers, who died 22
November 1858, and had issue. They are both
buried at Aldenham.®
(v) Arabella Boyd, born 22 July 1792; died 11 April
1828, and was buried at Tetbury.” She was
married, 1810, to Captain Dacres, R.N.8
(3) William, born 19 October 1693;°? a captain in the Army;
married Elizabeth, daughter of —— Hamilton.!? She was
murdered in her own house in Cavendish Square, London,
25 March 1746,!! by her foot-boy, Matthe w Henderson,!?
(6) Alexander, born 12 June 1690.13
(7) James of Nunraw, born 27 January 1698; !¢ died 8 November
1766.)% He married Margaret Cunningham, and by her, who
died 10 October 1757,1¢ had issue :—

i. Hew of Nunraw, born 22 February 1740; 17 died 11 Sep-
tember 1791, and was buried at St. Andrews.!®* He
married, first, 1759, Susanna, daughter of Captain
Robert Cunningham of Cagan, in the Island of St.
Christophers,!® and by her, who died at Nunraw,
1 February 1762,2° had issue two sons, who died
young.?

He married, secondly, Dorothea,daughter of Samuel
MacCormick, General Examiner of Excise,? and by
her, who was born 1750 and died 24 August 1802,%
had issue :—

(iif) Jamics, born 27 April 1769.2¢

(iv) Kirby, born 24 May 1770;% died at Edinburgh

20 April 1853.%6 Served in the Army, and be-
came a captain in the 74th Regiment.?” He
married, at Madras, 12 August 1805, Ann,
daughter of the Rev. Joseph M‘Cormick, D.D.,
Principal of the United Colleges of St.
Andrews,? and had issue.

(v) Samuel, lieut.-colonel Madras Artillery, C.B.,

born 5 June 1771;% died at Madras 12 May
1821,% Buried St. George's Cathedral Ceme-

1 M. I, Aldenham, 2 Gentleman’s Mag. 3 M.I., Aldenham. * Ibid.
5 Gentleman’s Mag. © M.1., Aldenham. 7 Cassan’s History of Hertford-
shire, 8 Gentleman’s Mag. ° Edin. Reg. 10 Family Tree at Bargany.
11 Scots Mag. 2 Annals of Newgate. '3 Edin. Reg. 1! Ibid. 1% Scots
Mag. ¢ Ibid. ! Family Tree at Bargany. 18 M. I., St. Andrews.
19 Family Tree at Bargany. 20 Scots Mag. 2! Family Tree at Bargany.
2 Jbid. B M. I., St. Andrews. % Family Tree at Bargany. 2 Ibid.
26 M. I., North Berwick. 27 Eler's Memoirs, 139. 28 Marriages at Fort
St. George, Madras, Genealogist, vol. xxi. 199, 2° Family Tree at Bar-
gany. ¥ M, I., The Mount, Madras.
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tery. He married Margaret, daughter of
General Kenneth Mackenzie, and had issue
four daughters.

(vi) Hew, born 4 July 1772;! died 11 September
1846.2 Served in the Army in the 19th Regi-
ment.3

(vii) John Hamilton, Collector of the Customs at
Montego Bay; died, at Jamaica, 7 August
1804.4

(viii) Helena, born 1768 ; died 28 August 1836.5

(ix) Margaret, born 1774; died, at Bath, 2 April
1853, and was buried at Widcombe Cemetery.5

(x) Dorothea, born 1775 ; married, 24 February 1794,
to William Grant of Congalton,” and died
19 May 1814,% leaving issue.

(xi) Elizabeth, married to Major-General Sir Jeffrey
Prendergast, Auditor-General of the Madras
Army, and had issue.

(8) Margaret, born 8 February 1683;° died 8 October 1757;1°
married, at Edinburgh, 15 March 1700,!! to Sir John Shaw
of Greenock, Bart., who died 5 April 1752,!2 and had
issue.

(9) Marion, born 6 July 1686.13

(10) Anne, born 27 November 1687;! died 1736;'> married, 9
March 1705, to Sir James Steuart of Goodtrees, first
Baronet, Solicitor-General for Scotland,!® and had issue.

(11) Elizabeth, born 3 February 1695;17 died March 1739;8 married,
at Edinburgh, 12 January 1715, to Sir James Suttie, Bart.,
of Balgone, co. Haddington.!?® They had issue.

(12) Eleanor, baptized 26 June 1700 ;% married, as his first wife,
26 August 1724, to Sir Thomas Hay of Alderston, Bart.?? He
died at Alderston, 26 November 1767.

Sir Hew Dalrymple, Lord President of the Session,
married, secondly, at Edinburgh, 6 April 1711,” Eliza-
beth, daughter, and eventually heiress, of John
Hamilton of Bangour, and relict of James Hamilton,
advocate, of Hedderwick, and by her, who died at
Edinburgh 21 March 1742,2 had issue :—

(13) Marion, born 1 May 1712; % died 17 January 1735; % buried

in the Chapel Royal, Holyrood House.?® She was married,
at Edinburgh, 6 July 1727, as his first wife, to Ludovick

! Family Tree at Bargany. 2 M. I., North Berwick. 3 Eler’s Memoirs.
4 Scots Mag. and M. 1., St. Andrews. & M. I., North Berwick. ¢ Ibid.
7 Scots Mag. 8 North Berwick Reg. ? Edin. Reg. 10 Scots Mag.
11 North Berwick Reg. 12 Scofs Mag. 13 Edin. Reg. 4 Ibid. ' Colt-
ness Papers. 16 North Berwick Reg. 17 Edin. Reg. 8 Scots Mag.
19 North Berwick Reg. . 2 Edin. Reg. 2! North Berwick Reg. 22 Ibid.
23 Scots Mag. 2 Edin. Reg. 2 Caledonian Mercury. 2¢ Reg.of Burials,
Chapel Royal, Holyrood House.
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Colquhoun of Luss, afterwards Sir Ludovick Grant,! and
bad issue.

(14) Johanna, born 21 February 1714.2

4. Thomas, M.D.; baptized 15 October 1663 ;° First
Physician to the King in Scotland ; died, unmarried,
at HEdinburgh 23 July 1725, and was buried in the
New Church Aisle, Edinburgh.®

5. Sir David Dalrymple, Bart., of Hailes, in the county
of Haddington ; admitted a member of the Faculty
of Advocates 3 November 1688;° created a Baronet
8 May 1701;" Solicitor-General to Queen Anne;
M.P. for Culross 1707-8, Haddington Burghs 1708-10,
1710-13, 1713-15, 1715-22;* Lord Advocate 1700-11
and 1714-20; and Auditor to the Scotch Exchequer
1720.° He died 3 December 1721,” and was buried at
Morham, in East Lothian." He married, 4 April
1691, Janet, daughter of Sir James Rochead of Inver-
leith, and widow of Alexander Murray of Melgund,
and by her, who was born 25 April 1662, died 26
December 1726, and was buried at Morham, in East
Lothian," had issue :—

(1) Sir James, second Baronet, born 24 July 1692;15 died 24
February 1751, and was buried at Morham, East Lothian ;
M.P. for Haddington Burghs, 1722, 1722-27, 1727-34 ;17 Auditor
of Exchequer. He married (contract 17 December 172518)
Christian Hamilton, youngest daughter of Thomas, sixth
Earl of Haddington, and by her, who died 30 June 1770,9
and was buried at Morham,?® had issue :—

i. Sir David, third Baronet ; born 28 October 1726;2! ad-
mitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates 24
February 1748.2 He was elevated to the Bench, and
took his seat 6 March 1766,% as Lord Hailes, and was
appointed a Lord of Justiciary 3 May 1776.% He
was a distinguished scholar and antiquary; was the
author of many books, one of the best known being
his Annalsof Scotland. Lord Woodhouselee says of

L Cf. vol. vii. 484. 2 Edin. Reg. ? Ochiltree Reg. * Historical Reg.
8 Family Tree at Bargany. ¢ Books of Sederunt. 7 Reg. Mag. Sig.
8 Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. ? Dict. Nat. Biog.
10 Historical Reg. 1! Statistical Aecount of Scotland. '? Edin Reg.
13 Historical Reg. Y Coffin-plate there. 15 Burke’s Peerage. ® Scots
Mag. Y7 Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 1° Haddington
Charter-chest; Memorials of Earls of Haddington, by Sir W. Fraser.
19 Scots Mag. % Lord Hailes's Journal. 2! Dict. Nat. Biog. * Books
of Sederunt. 23 Senatorsof the College of Justice. %% Ibid.
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him: ‘He was an honour to the station which he
filled, and to the age in which he lived.” He died 29
November 1792, and was buried at Morham, East
Lothian. Lord Hailes was twice married, first, 12
November 1763,! to Anne, daughter of George Broun
of Coalstoun, a Lord of Session and Justiciary, and
by her, who died at Edinburgh 18 May 1768,> had
issue an only daughter:—

(i) Christian, of Hailes; born 30 December 1765.%
She died, unmarried, 9 January 18384 and
was buried at Morham, East Lothian.5

Lord Hailes married, secondly, 20 March 1770,°
Helen, daughter of Sir James Fergusson of Kil-
kerran, Bart., a Lord of Session and Justiciary, and
by her, who was born in 1741,7 and died 10 November
1810,8 had issue :—

(ii) Jean, born 1778; died 6 May 1803.° Married,
at Newhailes, 8 November 1799,1¢ to James
Fergusson, afterwards Sir James Fergusson,
Bart., of Kilkerran, and had issue :—

a. Sir Charles Dalrymple Fergusson, Bart.,
born 26 August 1800;!! died 18 March
1849. He married, at Edinburgh, 1
June 1829, Helen, daughter of the Right
Hon. David Boyle, Lord Justice-Clerk,
and by her, who was born 24 October
1808, and who died at Newhailes 26
June, and was buried at Dailly, co. Ayr,
2 July 1869,'% had issue :—

(a) Sir James Fergusson, Bart., of
Kilkerran, G.C.S.1.,, K.C.M.G.,
born 18 March 1832; died 14
January 1907, having married
and had issue.

(b) David, born 1836; died 1841.

(c) Sir Charles Dalrymple, Bart.,
of Newhailes, born 15 October
1839 ; succeeded to Newhailes
on his father’s death, 18 March
1849, and assumed the name of
Dalrymple in lieu of his own;
M.P. for Bute 1868-85, and for
Ipswich 1886-1906; Junior Lord
of the Treasury 1885-86; served

1 Annual Register. % Scots Mag. 3 Miss Dalrymple’s Notes at New-
hailes. 4 Diary of Sir John Dalrymple, Bart., at Oxenfoord. 5 Informa-
tion given by Sir Charles Dalrymple, Bart. ¢ Annual Register. 7 Clan
Fergusson, 340, & Scots Mag. 9 Clan Fergusson. ° Miss Dalrymple’s
Notes at Newhailes. 1! Ibid. 12 The Boyles of Kelburne, by Colonel
Hon. R. Boyle,




DALRYMPLE, EARL OF STAIR 145

for a time in the Ayrshire
Militia ; created a Baronet 1887;
Privy Councillor 1905, He mar-
ried, 7 April 1874, Alice Mary,
second daughter of Sir Edward
Hunter Blair, Bart., of Blair-
quhan, and by her, who died 2
September 1834, and was buried
at Inveresk, has issue :—

a. David Charles Herbert,
lieutenant Royal Navy;
born 29 March 1879 ; mar-
ried, in London, 3 April
1906, Margaret Anna, fifth
daughter of Sir Mark
MacTaggart Stewart of
Southwick and Ardwell,
Baronet.

B. Christian Elizabeth Louisa,
born 9 July 1875 ; married
to Commander John Sau-
marez Dumaresq, R.N.,
18 September 1907, and
has issue.

y. Alice Mary, born 31 August
1884.

ii. Thomas, born 7 October 1728.1

iii. James, born 3 August 1720;2 died at Inveresk 21
November 1791,3 and was buried in Inveresk Church-
yard.! He served in the Army, and was lieutenant-
colonel of 1st Battalion 1st Royal Scots; was authér
also of some poems, which were printed by his
brother Alexander in 1796. He married, 28 Septem-
ber 1773, Elizabeth, daughter of Charles St. Clair of
Herdmanstoun,® who was born 11 January 1738;
died, without issue, at Edinburgh 13 November 1811,
and was buried at Inveresk.®

iv. Hew, born 12 September 1731;7 served in the Royal
Navy, and was captain of H.M.S. Canada ; he died
at sea 1779.8

v. Charles, born 5 September 1732;? a student of medl-
cine ; he died at Newhailes 12 January 1750,1°

vi. John,born October 1734; 1! died in Edinburgh 8 August
1779,!2 and was buried In the Greyfriars Churchyard
there.!> He was a merchant and Lord Provost of
Edinburgh, and married, at Hermiston, 28 June
1774,"* Ann Young, daughter of Walter Pringle of
St. Christophers, and by her had issue :—

1 NewhailesPapers. 3 Ibid. 3Scots Mag. *M.]I., Inveresk. &Family
Tree at Bargany. © M. I, Inveresk. 7 Newhailes Papers. ® Miss Dal-
rymple’s Notes. ? Newhailes Papers. 10 Scots Mag., !' Newhalles
Papers. !2 Scots Mag. '3 Epitaphs and Monumental I mmptwns, Grey-
Jriars Churchyard. * Scots Mag.

VOL. VIII, K
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(i) James, who became Sir James Dalrymple,
fourth Baronet; born 4 January 1777;! he
succeeded his uncle, Lord Hailes, in the
Baronetcy 1792, and was drowned in the
wreck of the Earl Talbot, October 1800.

(ii) John Pringle, born 28 February 1778;? died
1829.3 He was a colonel in the Army, and
succeeded his brother as fifth Baronet in 1800.
He married, at Freshwater Church, Isle of
Wight, 28 December 1807, Mary, second
daughter of Edward Rushworth of Farring-
don Hill, in the Isle of Wight, by the Hon.
Catherine Holmes, daughter of Lord
Holmes.?

(iii) Eleonora.

vii, Alexander,born 24 July 1737;¢ died, unmarried, 19 June
1808.7 He was Hydrographer to the Board of Ad-
miralty, F.R.S., and A.S., and was author of various
Wworks.

viii. Thomas, born 26 March 1739 ;8 died in infancy.

ix. William, born 9 April 1740;° died at Madras 26 May
1777.10

x. Stair, born 29 July 1743 ;1! died in infancy.

xi. Helen, born 26 September 1727 ;12 died young.

xii. Janet, born July 1730;13 died, unmarried, 28 August
178414

xiii. Margaret, born 29 September 1733 ; 1> died an infant.

xiv. Rachel, born 6 February 1736 ;16 died, unmarried, 1801.

xv. Magdalen, born 14 July 1741 or 1742;17 died, unmar-
ried, at Knaresborough, 6 December 1763.18

xvi. Grizell, born 1746;9 died in infancy.

(2) John, born 7 August 1694 ; 20 died young.

(3) Hew, admitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates 25
February 1718; succeeded in 1736 to the estates of Melgund
and Kynnynmond,?! and was afterwards designed Hew
Dalrymple Murray Kynnynmond. Died 23 December 1741.22
He married, 10 August 1730,23 Isabella, second daughter of
Hugh Somerville of Invertiel, W.S.,%4 second son of James
Somerville of Corehouse, and by her, who survived him and
was married, secondly, to Charles Murray, a brother of
Sir Alexander Murray of Stanhope,? had issue :(—

i. Agnes, born 11 September 1731;% died at Bath 28
December 1778.% Married, 15 December 1746, at
Edinburgh,? to Gilbert Elliot, afterwards the Right.
Hon. Sir Gilbert Elliot of Minto, and had issue.

1 Edin. Reg. 2 Ibid. 2 Sharpe's Peerage. * Gentlemaw's Mag.
5 Ibid. © Newhailes Papers. 7 Scots Mag. & Newhailes Papers. 9 Ibid.
10 Scots Mag. ! Newhailes Papers. 12 Ibid. 13 Ibid. ¢ Caledonian
Mercury. 5 Newhailes Papers. 16 Ibid. 17 Ibid. '® Scots Mag.
19 Newhailes Papers. 2 Edin. Reg. 2 Index Service of Heirs in Scot-
land. 22 Scots Mag. 2 Caledonian Mercury. 2 Border Elliots and
Family of Minto. 2 Ibid. 3 Edin. Reg. 27 Border Elliots and Family
of Minto. 2 Scots Mag. .
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(4) Magdalen, born 24 June 1693;1 died in infancy.

(5) Margaret, born 15 July 1695 ;% died in infancy.

(6) Magdalen, born 20 September 1696 ; died young.

(7) Janet, born 3 March 1690 ;3 died 8 January 1766. Married,
first, in March 1715, to Sir John Baird of Newbyth, Bart.,
whodied at Berwick-on-Tweed 30 September 1745 ;° secondly,
to General the Honble. James St. Clair of Dysart, M.P.,
second son of Henry, tenth Lord Sinclair ; he died 30 Nov-
ember 1762. She had no issue by either.

6. Janet, who was married (contract 29 May 16697) to
David Dunbar, son and heir-apparent of Sir David
Dunbar of Baldoon, co. Wigtown, Bart. It was on
the sad story of this lady that Sir Walter Scott
founded his novel The Bride of Lammermoor.
According to the Rev. Andrew Symson, minister of
Kirkinner from 1663 to 1686, who wrote a poem on
the subject, she was married 12 August, taken home
24 August, died 12 September, and was buried
30 September 1669.° Her husband died in the life-
time of his father, who seems to have died in 1680.

7. Elizabeth, baptized 9 October 1653 ;° died 21 March
1733, having been married (contract 12 October 1672")
to Alan, seventh Lord Cathcart, who died 19 October
1732. They had issue.

8. Sarah, baptized 19 November 1654 ; married (contract
dated 23 October and 17 December 1679") to Charles,
Lord Orichton, eldest son of William, second Earl of
Dumfries, and had issue.

9. Margaret, born 30 January 1659 ;! died before 1698,
having been married to Sir David Cunninghame of
Milnceraig, in the co. of Ayr, Baronet, M.P., and had
issue.”

10. Isobel, baptized 14 August 1666.*

II. JouN DALRYMPLE, second Viscount of Stair, was
born 1648; knighted 1667; admitted a member of the
Faculty of Advocates 28 February 1672. He acted as

! Edin. Reg. ? Ibid. 3 Ibid. * Stair Papers. & Family Bible at
Newbyth. ¢ Cf. vol. vii. 589. 7 Charter-chest, St. Mary’s Isle. & Appen-
dix of Symson’s large Description of Galloway, printed in 1823. ? Ochil-
tree Reg. 19 Deeds, Durie, 18 June 1678, ! Stair Charter-chest.
12 Edin. Reg. 13 Family Tree at Bargany. !¥ Ochiltree Reg. 1° Books
of Sederunt.
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junior counsel for the Earl of Argyll at his trial for treason
in 1681. For some years after his father’s retirement to
Holland in 1682 he was subjected to considerable persecu-
tion, and at the close of the year he came into conflict with
Graham of Claverhouse, who complained that he had acted
in violent obstruction and contempt of his authority, and
had exacted merely nominal fines from his own and his
father’s tenants who had been convicted of having attended
conventicles. He was committed by the Privy Council
prisoner in the Castle of Edinburgh, and only obtained his
liberty in February 1683, after being deprived of his juris-
diction in Glenluce, paying a fine of £500, and making a
humble apology.® In September of the year following he
was again arrested during the night in his own house of
Newliston, and his papers seized and examined. No evi-
dence was discovered against him, but as he declined to
give any information regarding the late Chancellor, Lord
Aberdeen, then under suspicion, he was imprisoned in the
Tolbooth of Edinburgh, and was only liberated, 11 Dec-
ember, on giving security for £5000. In December 1685 he
went to London, and the following February returned to
Edinburgh as King’s Advocate,” and became Lord Justice-
Clerk, as successor to Sir James Foulis of Colinton, in
January 1688, and also an ordinary Lord, taking his seat as
a judge of the Court of Session on 28 February 1688.° He
entered heartily into the Revolution, and was a member of
the Convention Parliament; M.P. for Stranraer 1689,
Convention 1689-90.* Sir John again became Lord Advocate
1690, and was one of the three commissioners sent by the
Oonvention to offer the Crown of Scotland to William and
Mary in London.* In 1691 Sir John Dalrymple, now Master
of Stair, became Joint-Secretary of State for Scotland
along with Lord Melville, and he accompanied King William
on his visit to Holland that year. He was implicated in
the massacre of the Macdonalds at Glencoe 1692; and was
accused by Parliament of exceeding instructions 1695, and
he resigned office that year. He succeeded his father as
second Viscount of Stair in November 1695, but did not

! Dict. Nat. Biog. % Ibid. 3 Senators of the College of Justice.
4 Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 6 Stair Annals, by
Murray Graham.
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take his seat in Parliament. He received at the close of
the year a remission freeing him from all the consequences
of his participation in the slaughter of Glencoe, on the
ground that he had no knowledge of, nor accession to, the
method of that execution. Notwithstanding this remission,
however, a proposal for Stair to take his seat in Parliament
in 1698 raised so much opposition that he desisted from
carrying out his intention till February 1700. On the
accession of Queen Anne he was made a Privy Councillor
1702. He was created EARL OF STAIR, VISCOUNT
DALRYMPLE, LORD NEWLISTON, GLENLUCE, AND
STRANRAER by Queen Anne, by patent dated 8 April
1703, and read in Parliament 6 July 1704.' A great sup-
porter of the Act of Union, he took a leading part in the
long debates. On the 7 January 1707 Lord Stair was in the
House, and made an extraordinary speech on the debate on
the twenty-second article, went home, and was found dead
“in his bed in the morning.? He was buried, 11 January, at
Kirkliston.* He married (contract 17 and 19 January 1669 *)
Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of Sir James Dundas of
Newliston, by Agnes Gray, and by her, who survived him
and died at Edinburgh, 25 May 1731,° and was buried 31
May, at Kirkliston,® had issue :—
1. James, born 19 February 1670,” was accidentally shot
by his brother in April 1682.°
2. JonN, who succeeded as second Earl, of whom later.
3. James, born 24 June 1676 ;°* died young.
4. Charles, baptized 9 September 1677 ; ** died young.
5. William, baptized 11 October 1678 ;" served in the 3rd
Guards (Scots) and became a colonel in the Army;
M.P. for Ayrshire 1702-7, and in the first Parliament
for Great Britain 1707-8; for Clackmannanshire
1708-10 ; Wigtown Burghs 1722-27 ; Wigtownshire and
Wigtown Burghs 1734-41.* He was made a burgess
of Edinburgh 10 September 1708."* He died 30 Novem-
ber 1744.* He married, 26 February 1698,* his cousin

1 Acta Parl. Scot. ? Fourth Rep. Hist. MSS. Com., Portland Mss.
3 Funeral Entry, Lyon Office. * Stair Charter-chest. © Caledonian
Mercury. ¢ Ibid., and Funeral Entry at Lyon Office. 7 Edin. Reg.
8 Hereditary Shem_ﬂ”s of Galloway, by Sir A. Agnew, Bart. ? Edin. Reg.
10 Kirkliston Reg. !! Ibid. 2 Members of Parliament for Scotland,
Foster. 13 Laing Charters, No. 3044, M Scots Mag. ® Kirkliston Reg.
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Penelope, daughter of Charles Crichton, styled Lord
Crichton, second but eldest surviving son of William,
second Earl of Dumfries, and Countess of Dumfries
in her own right, and by her, who died 6 March 1742
and was buried at Cumnock, Ayrshire,’ had issue :—

(1) WiLLiaM, Earl of Dumfries and Stair : of him later.

(2) John, a captain in the Inniskilling Dragoons ; M.P. for Wig-
town Burghs 1728-34;2 died, unmarried, at Newliston,
‘West Lothian, 23 February 1742.3

(3) JamEs, who succeeded as third Earl of Stair, of him later.

(4) Charles, died, unmarried, 1729.4

(3) Hugh, a cornet in Lord Cadogan’s Dragoons; died, un-
married, 24 September 1737,5 at Castle M‘Douall, and was
buried at Stoneykirk, Wigtownshire.8

(6) George, at school at Dunfermline 1729; ensign in Colonel
Handysyd’s Regiment 25 June 1735; was at Colchester
1741;7 died, unmarried, before 1760.

(7) Elizabeth, married to John M‘Douall of Freuch, and had
issue.

(8) Pencelope Crichton, died, unmarried, 11 February 1785.%

6. George, of Dalmahoy, baptized 10 March 1680;° ad-

mitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates 13
January 1703 ;' appointed Assistant Solicitor of the
Customs and Excise 27 September 1707;" M.P. for
Stranraer 1703-7 ;* a Baron of Exchequer in Scot-
land 25 Mdy 1709.® He died at Moffat 29 July 1745,"
and was buried at Kirkliston."* He married (marriage-
contract 23 April 1720 *) Euphame, second daughter
of Sir Andrew Myreton of Gogar, Bart., by Jean
Murray, his wife, and by her, who died 8 July 1761,"
and was buried in the Greyfriars Churchyard, Edin-
burgh,” had issue :—

(1) Jonx, who succeeded as fifth Earl of Stair: of him later.

(2) William, born 1735, died at London 16 February 1807.1°
He served in the Army; became colonel 29 August 1777;
major-general 20 November 1782; appointed colonel of 47th
Regiment 19 May 1794 ; general 1793; lieutenant-governor

of Chelsea Hospital March 1798 ; M.P. for Wigtown Burghs
1784-90. He married, at London, 16 September 1783,2! Mari-

1 Sta

ir Letters. 2 Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster.

3 Scots Mag. * Dumfries House Papers. & Ibid. 6 Ibid. 7 Ibid. ® Cale-

donian
Papers.

Mercury. ° Kirkliston Reg. 10 Books of Sederunt. !! Stair
12 Members of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 13 Stair

Charter-chest. ! Scots Mag. !5 Session Records of Kirkliston. 16 Stair
Charter-chest. 17 Stair Papers. 1 Ibid. ! Gentleman’'s Mag. 2° Mem-
bers of Parliament for Scotland, Foster. 2! Annual Register.
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anne Dorothy, second daughter of Sir Robert Harland of
Sproughton Hall, co. Suffolk, and by her, who was born
1759, and died at Streatham 28 October 1785,! had issue :—

i, JoHN WiILLIAM HENRY, who succeeded as seventh
Earl of Stair: of him later.

(3) Argyle, served in the army ; was appointed cornet 1st King's
Dragoon Guards 1 December 1758; promoted to lieutenant
14 March 1765 ;2 transferred, as captain, to the 68th Foot,
commission dated 11 June 1765.3 He joined that regiment,
then stationed at Antigua, about the end of the year, and
died 14 June 1766.*

(4) Elizabeth, born 31 January 1721;° died at Isleworth 14 Octo-
ber 1816. She was married, at Edinburgh, 12 January 1755,°
to Lieutenant-General Humphrey Bland, then Commander-
in-chief of the Forces in Scotland, who died in London
8 May 1763.7

(5) Eleanor, who was married, at her mother’s house in Edin-
burgh, 8 January 1751,8 to James Fergusson of Craigdarroch,
who died 1771,° and had issue. She died 12 December 1788.1¢

(6) Euphemia, born4 November 1734 ; died, unmarried, at Edin-
burgh, 8 September 1770.1!

(7) Margaret, died, unmarried, at Edinburgh, 10 April 1766.'%

7. Elizabeth,born 11 April 1671."

8. Agnes, baptized 3 May 1675.*

9. Margaret, baptized 25 August 1684 ;" died at Sorn
QOastle, Ayrshire, 3 April 1779." She was married,
at Kirkliston, 6 April 1700, to Hugh, third Earl of
Loudoun,” and had issue. He died 18 November
1731.%

10. Elizabeth, baptized 31 August 1687."

II1. JoHN, second Earl of Stair, baptized 2 August 1673 ;
studied at Leyden, and also in the University of Edinburgh.*
He served as a Volunteer with the Earl of Angus’s regi-
ment at the Battle of Steinkirk 8 August 1692. In 1700 he
accompanied Lord Lexington on his embassy to Vienna,
after which he made a tour in Italy and Germany, returning
to England 1701.” On 12 May 1702 he was appointed second

1 Gentleman’s Mag. ? Monthly Returns, 1st K.D.G., Record Office.
3 Commission Book, tbid. * Monthly Returns, 6Sth Foot, tbid. 5 Edin.
Reg. © Scots Mag. 7 Ibid. 8 Clan Fergusson, 397. ° Ibid. ' Stair
Papers, Lochinch. ! Scots Mag. and Edin. Tests. 2 Scots Mag. ¥ Edin.
Reg. !t Kirkliston Reg. 18 Ibid. 18 Caledonian Mercury. 7 Kirk-
liston Reg. 18 Caledonian Mercury; cf. vol.v, 504, where she is said to
have been born 4 February 1677, and to have lived to one hundred.
1 Kirkliston Reg. 2 Edin. Reg. 2! Crawfurd’s Peerage. 2* Ibid.
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lieut.-colonel in the Scottish Foot Guards, and in August
of the same year he was fighting as a Volunteer in the war
against France.! A.D.C. to the Duke of Marlborough
1703. He served for a time in the Scots Brigade in Hol-
land,’ and had a commission as colonel of a regiment in
the service of the States. In November 1703 he applied
through the Earl of Mar, then Secretary for Scotland, for
a colonelcy in the Guards.* In January 1706 he was allowed
to exchange his Dutch commission for the colonelcy of the
Cameronians, and was present at the Battle of Ramilies
23 May of that year; on 24 August following he was ap-
pointed colonel of the Scots Greys. The following year,
1707, he was elected a Scottish Representative Peer to the
first Union Parliament.! He commanded a Brigade at the
Battle of Oudenarde 11 July 1708, and was sent home with
the Duke of Marlborough’s despatches; he was also present
at the siege and taking of Lille," August to October 1708.
He was promoted major-general in 1709, and in the winter
of that year was sent as Envoy-Extraordinary to the Court
of Poland. He was lieut.-general 1 January 1710, and got
leave to return to the Army, and on 26 May of that year,
at the camp before Douay, he was invested by the Duke of
Marlborough with the Order of the Thistle, by virtue of a
special commission from Her Majesty Queen Anne to the
Duke for that purpose.®

The preliminaries of peace with France were signed 27
September 1711; and before the year closed the Duke of
Marlborough was dismissed from his employments, and the
Earl of Stair, among others, was deprived of his command,
and had to make over his regiment, the Greys, at a fixed
price to the Earl of Portmore. In 1714 Queen Anne died;
and in October of that year Lord Stair was appointed a
Gentleman of the Bedchamber to King George 1., and on
the 29 of the same month was sworn of His Majesty’s Privy
Council. On 4 March 1715 he was appointed colonel of the
6th (Inniskilling) Dragoons, and in September he was sent as
Ambassador-Extraordinary to the King of France.® He

1 Hist. MSS. Com., Earl of Mar and Kellie. 2 Scofs Brigade in
Holland, ii., Scottish History Society. 3 Mar Charter-chest. ¢ Adcta
Parl. Scot. ® Mar Charter-chest. ¢ Hist. MSS. Com. Rep., Mss. of

C. S. Drummond Moray. 7 Hist. Reg. ® Commission in Stair Charter-
chest.’
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was recalled in 1720, when he retired to his seats in Scot-
land, and devoted himself to agriculture, and, in the West,
to landscape gardening, the laying out of Castle Kennedy
grounds being carried out during his retirement from public
life. He was made Vice-Admiral of Scotland 1729 ; but
joining the Opposition to Walpole, was in April 1734 de-
prived of this office, and also of his Regiment of Dragoons
and Lord-Lieutenancy of Galloway." He had been a Repre-
sentative Peer for Scotland in the Parliaments of 1714, 1722,
and 1727; but at the General Election of 1734 was not
elected, against which he protested. In 1742, on the dis-
solution of the Walpole Administration, Lord Stair was
called from his retirement, and on the 18 March he was
appointed Field-Marshal of all the Forces;* Governor of
Minorca 14 April 1742,> and colonel of the Inniskillings
25 April 1714, He was sent as Ambassador Extraordinary
and Plenipotentiary to the States of Holland, having re-
ceived the appointment of Commander-in-chief of the
Allied Army in Flanders. He came thence to London, 28
August 1742, waited on the King, assisted at a Council,
and set out, on 3 September, on his return to The Hague.
Lord Stair commanded the Forces, under King George II.,
at the Battle of Dettingen, on 16 June 1743; but being
disgusted with the preference shown to the Hanoverians,
and finding himself reduced to a cypher, he resigned his
command in the Army, giving in a memorial to His Majesty,
which finishes with ‘I hope Your Majesty will give me
leave to return to my plough without any mark of your
displeasure.’ ®

The Opposition took up the matter of the King's partiality
for his native troops. Lord Sandwich in the House of
Lords, on 9 December 1743, paid a handsome tribute to
Stair, stating that in him England was ‘deprived at once
of the counsels of her most penetrating statesman, and the
Army of her most experienced and bravest warrior.” There
being an appearance of France attempting an invasion of
Great Britain, Lord Stair and others offered their services,
which were accepted, and in 1744 he was appointed Com-
mander-in-chief of the Forces in Great Britain, and on the

1 Hist. Reg. * Stair Papers. 3 Ibid. * Ibid. © Stair Annals, by
Murray Graham.
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death of his brother-in-law, General the Honourable Sir
James Campbell, who was killed at the battle of Fontenoy,
11 May 1745, Lord Stair succeeded him on 28 May 1745in the
coloneley of the Scots Greys.! He was still Commander-in-
chief at the time of the Rebellion that year. Appointed
General of Marines 10 June 1746, he died the year follow-
ing at Queensberry House, Edinburgh, 9 May 1747,° and
was buried, 23 May, at Kirkliston.* Lord Stair married, in
March 1707-8,° Lady Eleanor Campbell, youngest daughter of
James, second Earl of Loudoun, and widow of James, first
Viscount Primrose,® but had no issue. Lady Stair resided
in Edinburgh after his death and was an important person
in Edinburgh Society. She died there, 21 November 1759,’
and was buried, 24 November, at Kirkliston.®

The second Earl of Stair, seeing that his next brother,
William, had married the Countess of Dumfries, a Peeress
in her own right, resigned his honours into the hands of
Queen Anne, and obtained a novodamus to himself and the
heirs-male of his body; which failing, to such person or
persons being descended of the first Viscount of Stair, as
he should nominate or appoint by writing under his hand in
his lifetime ; and failing such nomination or the persons so
nominated, to William Dalrymple, his immediate younger
brother, and his second son and his heirs-male ; which fail-
ing, to the third, fourth, and any younger sons of that mar-
riage, according to seniority, and to their heirs-male, with
divers remainder over; so as when any heir-male, who by
virtue of the entail and destination might have right to
both the estate and dignity of Dumfries, and the estate and
dignity of Stair, should happen to have two sons, the suc-
cession to the said estates and honours should always
divide, and the estate and dignity of the family of Stair
should fall to the second or youngest son, and the heirs-
male of his body.” This was confirmed by an Act of the
Scottish Parliament 21 March 1707.° Lord Stair accordingly,

! Stair Papers, Oxenfoord. 2 Ibid. 3 Scots Mag. * Kirkliston Session
Records, and Funeral Entry at Lyon Office. # Stair Papers. ¢ In the old
Register of St. Peter’s-upon-Cornhill there is the following entry:—
¢ March 1707, John Dalrimple, of the Parish of St. James’-in-the-Fields,
co. Middlesex, and Eleanor Campbell of St. Margaret’s, Westminster, in
the same county. In the licence she is described as widow. 7 Edin.
Chronicle. & Stair Papers, Lochinch. ? Reg. Mag. Sig., 271 February
1707. 19 Acta Parl. Scot., xi. 472, App. 134 a b.
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on 31 March 1747, nominated Captain John Dalrymple,
eldest son of his younger brother George, to succeed him in
his title and estates. This settlement as regarded the
estates was not impeached, but as regards the title was
challenged by James, second surviving son of Colonel
William Dalrymple and the Countess of Dumfries. The
above James, his elder brother William, Earl of Dumfries,
and John Dalrymple, who had been nominated by his uncle
to succeed him, all three presented to the King petitions
claiming the title, which were referred by His Majesty to
the House of Lords, who decided, on 4 May 1748, that the
nomination, though valid as to the estates, was invalid
as regarded the Peerage dignities, and that James Dal-
rymple, the younger surviving brother of the second Earl,
was entitled to the honours.

IV. JAMES DALRYMPLE, second surviving son of Colonel
the Hon. William Dalrymple and the Countess of Dumfries,
by this decision of the House of Lords, succeeded to the
title, and became third Earl of Stair. He was admitted a
member of the Faculty of Advocates 2 July 1728. He
died, unmarried, at Castle M‘Douall, in the county of Wig-
town, 13 November 1760,° and was most probably buried at
Stonykirk, Wigtownshire, when, in accordance with the
remainders in the patent, the title of Stair devolved on his
elder brother, William, Earl of Dumfries, all the younger
brothers having predeceased without issue.

© V., WILLIAM DALRYMPLE, fourth Earl of Stair, K.T., and
fourth Earl of Dumfries, born 1699,° succeeded his brother
as fourth Earl of Stair, 13 November 1760. He served in
the Army; was in his uncle the Earl of Stair’s Regiment
of Dragoons; and served in that Regiment and in the 3rd
FFoot Guards twenty-six years. He acted as aide-de-camp
to his uncle the Earl of Stair at the Battle of Dettingen,
27 June 1743 ; was appointed captain-lieutenant in the 3rd
Regiment of Foot Guards; and invested with the Order of
the Thistle, at St. James’s, 11 March 1752.® On his mether’s
death, in March 1742, he succeeded to the title of Dumfries ;

! Herald and Genealogist, iii. 527. 2 Books of Sederunt. 3 Scots Mag.
4 Dumfries House Papers. © Stair Papers. ¢ The Knights of England, i.
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and he invested the Duke of Hamilton,at Holyrood Palace,
3 April 1755, with the Order of the Thistle.! Lord Dumfries
built Dumfries House, near Cumnock, Ayrshire, and dying
there, 27 July 1768, was buried at Cumnock.? He married,
first, 2 April 1731, Lady Anne Gordon, daughter of William,
second Earl of Aberdeen, and by her, who died at Edin-
burgh 15 April 1755, and was buried at Cumnock,' he had
issue :—

1. William, styled Lord Crichton, born 12 December 1734 ;

died at Marylebone School 9 September 1744.°

He married, secondly, 19 June 1762,° Anne, eldest
daughter of William Duff of Crombie, by Elizabeth, daughter
of Sir Robert Dalrymple of Castleton; but by her, who was
born about 1738, he had no issue. She survived him, and
married, secondly, 19 June 1769,” the Hon. Alexander
Gordon, a Lord of Session as Lord Rockville, fourth son of
William, second Harl of Aberdeen,and had issue. She died
at Brandsbury, near London, 21 August 1811, aged
seventy-three years.

VI. JouN DALRYMPLE, fifth Harl of Stair, was eldest son
of the Hon. George Dalrymple, youngest son of John, first
Earl of Stair, and was named by his uncle, the second Earl,
to succeed him in his title and estates. As hasbeen shown,
his right to the title was contested, and by judgment of
the House of Lords awarded to his cousin. He was ad-
mitted a member of the Faculty of Advocates 8 December
1741 ;° later he entered the Army and was promoted to
captain. He succeeded to the title of Stair 27 July 1768,
on the death of his first cousin, the fourth Earl, and was
chosen one of the Representative Peers of Scotland 1771."
Lord Stair was strongly opposed to hostilities with America,
and never failed to show his disapprobation of them. He
took a rather gloomy view of the national credit and re-
sources, and was the author of various pamphlets, on our
national finance, of much merit, though he was called the
Cassandra of the State for his gloomy predictions."” Lord

1 Scots Mag. ?% Information given me by the late C. G. Shaw, Esq.
3 Scots Mag. * Funeral Entry at Lyon Office. 5 Scots Mag. ¢ Ibid.
7 Annual Register. 8 Ibid. ® Books of Sederunt. 1°© Robertson’s Pro-

ceedings relating to Peerage of Scotland. W Lord Orford's Royal and
Noble Authors, by Thomas Park, v,
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Stair sold the estate of Newliston in West Lothian, which
had been left him by his uncle, to Roger Hog, Esq. He
died at Culhorn, his seat in Wigtownshire, 13 October 1789.!
He married, in May 1748,> Margaret, daughter of George
Middleton of Erroll, Banker in London, by Mary Campbell,
his wife,*and by her, who survived him, and died at Qulhora
3 February 1798,* had issue :—

1. JomN, styled Viscount Dalrymple.

2. Mary, baptized 3 June 1754,° died young.

VII. JouN DALRYMPLE, sixth Earl of Stair, was born at
Edinburgh 24 September 1749,* and educated at Eton’ and
Edinburgh University. He entered the Army, and became
a captain in October 1779° in the 87th Regiment of Foot.
He served in the American War, and was present at the
successful attack on New London and Fort Griswold made
in September 1781 by General Arnold, and was mentioned
in despatches.® Shortly afterwards, on 5 January 1782,
Lord Dalrymple was appointed His Majesty’s Minister
Plenipotentiary to the King and Republic of Poland,” and
on 5 August 1785 he was appointed Envoy Bxtraordinary
and Minister Plenipotentiary to the Court of Berlin. - Dur-
ing his stay there he was sent as First Commissioner to
confer the Garter on the Landgrave of Hesse-Cassel.” He
succeeded his father as sixth Earl 13 October 1789, and
was elected a Representative Peer for Scotland in 1790,
and also in 1796, 1802, 1806, 1820. He died, unmarried, at
his house in Spring Gardens, London, 1 June 1821, and was
buried in the vault at Inch, co. Wigtown."

VIII. JouN WiLLiAM HENRY DALRYMPLE, first cousin of
the sixth Harl, was the only son of General William Dal-
rymple (brother of the fifth Earl) by Marianne Dorothy,
daughter of Admiral Sir Robert Harland, Bart. He was
born 16 November 1784, was educated at Eton," entered
the Army and served for a time in the 5th Dragoon Guards.
He married, irregularly, 28 May 1804, Johanna, daughter

1 Scots Mag. ? Stair Papers, Lochinch. 3 Ibid. ¢ Annual Register,
5 Inch Reg. © Scots Mag. 7 Stair Papers. 8 Caledonian Mercury.
® London Gazette, November 3-6, 1781. 10 Ibid., January 1-5, 1782.
11 Stair Papers. !2 Scots Mag. 13 M.IL., Inch. ! Dalrymple v. Dalrymple.
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of Charles Gordon of Clunie ; but not considering that mar-
riage to be valid, he married, 2 June 1808, in the Parish
Church of Marylebone,! Laura, youngest daughter of John
Manners of Grantham Grange, co. Lincoln, by Louisa, after-
wards Countess of Dysart. This marriage was, however,
set aside in consequence of a decision of the Ecclesiastical
Oourt, 16 July 1811, that the previous one was good. But
the latter was itself annulled by the divorce of the lady
six years later, in June 1820.> Lord Stair, who for some
years had been confined to his bed, speechless and almost
unconscious, died, 20 March 1840, at his house in the Rue
de Clichy, Paris.® Johanna Gordon, who survived him,
continued to style herself the Dowager Countess of Stair,
and died at Edinburgh 16 February 1847, and is buried at
St. Cuthbert’s Churchyard, Edinburgh.*

IX. SiR JoHN HAMILTON DALRYMPLE, Bart., eighth Earl
of Stair, was the eldest surviving son of Sir John Dalrymple
Hamilton Makgill, of Cousland and Oxenfoord, Bart., by
Elizabeth Hamilton Makgill, his wife, heiress of Fala and
Ozxenfoord. He was great-great-grandson of the Hon. Sir
James Dalrymple, Bart., of Borthwick, second son of James,
first Viscount of Stair. Born at Edinburgh 15 June 1771,
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